METHOD SELECTION AND ESTIMATING DENSITIES FOR GRASSLAND BUTTERFLIES IN THE

MIXED-GRASS PRAIRIE

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Katherine Claire-Ann Kral

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> Major Program: Range Science

> > March 2018

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

METHOD SELECTION AND ESTIMATING DENSITIES FOR GRASSLAND BUTTERFLIES IN THE MIXED-GRASS PRAIRIE

By

Katherine Claire-Ann Kral

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this disquisition complies with North

Dakota State University's regulations and meets the accepted standards for the

degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Ryan Limb

Co-Chair

Torre Hovick

Co-Chair

Jason Harmon

Erin Gillam

Approved:

3/28/2018 Date Francis Casey

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Grassland butterflies contribute to the larger group of pollinating insects that are vital for continued plant production and food security in agroecosystems. However, grassland butterflies, along with overall biodiversity, are experiencing widespread declines due to global change factors such as landscape fragmentation, climate change, and agricultural intensification. Research and conservation efforts have therefore increased to mitigate dramatic declines of grassland butterflies. Yet, a large amount of baseline information in unknown for butterflies in the mixed-grass prairie region of the Northern Great Plains, especially for obligate species that wholly depend on grasslands to complete their life cycle. We initiated a study to increase the baseline knowledge and availability of rigorous data to inform conservation by investigating 1) butterfly survey methodology, 2) local and landscape influences on butterfly density, 3) invasive plant species impacts on butterfly communities, and 4) butterfly behavior responses to vegetation. We found that visual encounter surveys (VES) and line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) were complementary methods that should be used in butterfly research to improve the availability of quantifiable data. Even though VES were more efficient at detecting individual butterflies, LTDS provided a rapid way to estimate true density estimates for butterflies. Using LTDS density estimates to model species responses to local and landscape variables, we determined that maintaining large grasslands at the landscape level and promoting heterogeneous plant communities and structure at the local level would help conserve obligate grassland butterflies. One way to promote heterogeneous plant communities is to reduce the cover of invasive plant species. Otherwise, flowering forb and plant species richness decline and butterfly communities shift to fewer obligate butterflies. We can better understand butterfly species' declines by incorporating behavioral surveys at the site level. In doing so, we found that monarch behaviors associated with utilizing a site (e.g., nectaring, ovipositing) did not increase as milkweed (obligate host plant) cover increased because nectar resource availability decline. Overall, maintaining large, heterogeneous grasslands and identifying management strategies like fire and grazing to increase host and nectar resource availability will benefit the largest number of grassland butterflies.

iii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thank you to the members of my committee, Drs. Ryan Limb, Torre Hovick, Jason Harmon, and Erin Gillam for guiding me through this process. Their efforts were integral in my development as a researchers, writer, scholar, and mentor. I truly appreciate everything they have taught me, along with all their helpful work and life advice. They, along with the other faculty, staff, and graduate students in the School of Natural Resource Sciences, have made my time at NDSU enjoyable and life altering.

This project would not be possible without the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), especially the impressive work of Cami Dixon. The efforts of USFWS biologists, refuge managers, and staff streamlined the process of site selection, conducting surveys, and traveling across the region. Others that deserve recognition for supporting our project are the North Dakota Game and Fish, Prairie Biotic Research Grants, and the Cross Ranch Fellowship. I would also like to extend my gratitude to The Nature Conservancy, Minnesota Department of Natural Resources Scientific and Natural Areas, and a private landowner (NB) for allowing us to conduct additional surveys on their properties.

No acknowledgment section would be complete without thanking my friends and family for supporting me from afar. Their outpouring of encouragement and love make completing this project and dissertation possible, especially my nephew Leo who makes everything better. Lastly, to the person that keeps me together, all my thanks and love to Peter (and Darbie).

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES	xii
LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES	xiii
CHAPTER 1. COMPARING TWO STATISTICALLY-BASED BUTTERFLY SURVEY METHODS TO IMPROVE BUTTERFLY CONSERVATION EFFORTS	1
Abstract	1
Introduction	1
Methods	5
Study area	5
Butterfly surveys	6
Analysis	7
Results	8
Discussion	13
Conclusions	17
References	17
CHAPTER 2. MULTI-SCALE CONSIDERATIONS FOR GRASSLAND BUTTERFLY CONSERVATION IN AGROECOSYSTEMS	24
Abstract	24
Introduction	24
Methods	27
Study area and site selection	27
Butterfly surveys	27
Landscape and local variables	29
Density estimates	30
Analysis	31

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I	Results	33
	Landscape variables	34
	Local variables	35
	Density models for species of conservation concern	37
I	Discussion	37
(Conclusions	41
I	References	42
СНА	PTER 3. BUTTERFLY COMMUNITY RESPONSES TO KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS INVASIONS	51
,	Abstract	51
I	Introduction	51
ſ	Methods	54
	Study area	54
	Survey sites	54
	Butterfly surveys	55
	Vegetation surveys	56
	Landscape cover	56
	Analysis	56
I	Results	58
	Butterfly community responses to bluegrass	58
	Univariate responses to bluegrass	60
I	Discussion	62
(Conclusions	65
I	References	65
CHA BEH	PTER 4. IMPROVING MONARCH CONSERVATION EFFORTS BY INCORPORATING FIELD AVIORS	74
1	Abstract	74
I	Introduction	74
I	Methods	77

	Behavioral field observation surveys	77
	Vegetation and landscape variables	78
	Analysis	78
F	Results	80
	Activity budgets	80
	Local and landscape influences on activity budgets	83
	Behavioral transitional matrices	83
[Discussion	
(Conclusions	
F	References	90
APP	PENDIX	98

LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table</u>	Page
1.	Response variables, logistical features, and statistical features of commonly used butterfly survey and sampling methods: checklist (CK), Pollard walks (PW), line-transect distance sampling (LTDS), and visual encounter surveys (VES). Table adapted from Kral et al. (2018)4
2.	Totals across all sites for butterfly species richness, detections, detection rate, and number of unique species in visual encounter survey (VES) and line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) methods used from North Dakota and South Dakota in 2015-2016. We used the effort (in minutes) for each method in both years with the detections to calculate the detection rate across all sites
3.	Density estimates (individuals \cdot ha ⁻¹) for 12 butterfly species in North Dakota and South Dakota from 2015-2016. Line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) density that accounts for imperfect detection using Program Distance. Visual encounter survey (VES) density was calculated using the raw counts for each species divided by the total area searched (4 ha) to produce individuals \cdot ha ⁻¹ . Densities are compared using the relative percent decrease ([N _{LTDS} -N _{VES}]/N _{LTDS}) from LTDS to VES, as VES consistently underestimated density
4.	Summary statistics and descriptions for landscape and local variables used in density models for butterflies detected in the Northern Great Plains from 2015-2017
5.	Scientific and common names for species detected at least 30 times using line-transect distance sampling in the Northern Great Plains from 2015-2017. Habitat associations (obligate or facultative) are included for each species and based on habitat descriptions from Glassberg (2001) and Royer (2003)
6.	Results from generalized linear modeling for ten facultuative and five obligate grassland butterfly species in the Northern Great Plains from 2015-2017 using statistically signficant (p \leq 0.05) landscape (2,500-m and 1,000-m scale) and local variables. Species are separated by broad groups of facultative and obligate grassland species. Variables that were influential at the landscape scale include LDI and wetland cover (WET), while influential local variables included forb richness (FR), invasive species cover (IGC, IFC), and disturbance management (DIS)
7.	Species list, six-letter codes, classification (obligate or facultative), and total detections for each year, and cumulative three-year total for all butterflies detected at least twice in butterfly surveys conducted in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2015-2017. Classifications are based on species' dependence on grasslands using descriptions from Glassberg (2001) and Royer (2003)
8.	Description for each <i>a priori</i> behavior used for wild monarch field observations from 2016- 2017 in North Dakota, South Dakota, and Minnesota, USA. Behaviors and descriptions modified from Pliske (1975) and McCord and Davis (2010)

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u>		<u>Page</u>
1.	Graphical explanation of visual encounter survey (VES) and line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) methods to visually detect butterflies. Observers walk in a zigzag pattern througout 4 ha VES plots for 30 min, but they are restricted within the search area. In LTDS plots, observers are only allowed to walk the 100 m transect for approximately 10 min. The area covered in LTDS is variable because detectability differs between species. Using the same butterfly community for each method, observers exclude indivudals that fall outside the survyeing area (X). Individuals are counted in the VES plot, whereas distances between butterflies and the line are estimated in LTDS.	1 7
2.	Comparisons between line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) and visual encounter survey (VES) methods for butterfly A) average detections per site and B) average detection rate pe site separated by year. Butterfly surveys were conducted across North Dakota and South Dakota in 2015-2016. Differing letters denote statistically significant differences between methods within each year at an $\alpha \leq 0.05$. The VES method consistently produced higher numbers in both categories compared to LTDS, even when accounting for effort	r 10
3.	Species accumulation curves for line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) and visual encounter survey (VES) methods used throughout North Dakota and South Dakota in 2015 and 2016. Rarefaction curves are shown for LTDS (dotted lines) and VES (solid lines) with 95% confidence intervals. Additionally, we included the species richness predicted by poolin across survey sites. Generally, the rate of detecting new species did not change between methods, but with more effort allocated to the VES method, more species were found overally.	g II11
4.	Multidimensional scaling ordination for the butterfly community data collected across North Dakota and South Dakota from 2015-2016 using visual encounter survey (VES) and line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) methods. Site scores are grouped by year (dashed or solid lines) and method (blue or gold lines). The first two axes explained 72% of the variation observed in the data. Year ($R^2 = 0.67$) and method ($R^2 = 0.10$) were both significantly correlated with the ordination, however communities in each year were more closely related to each other than similar methods between years.	ח 12
5.	Relative community composition (percent) for 12 butterfly species from surveys conducted across North Dakota and South Dakota in 2015 and 2016. Community composition is presented for line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) or visual encounter survey (VES) methods. Raw detections are used for the VES community, but raw and corrected estimates are both used for LTDS community composition. Species are ranked by their relative abundance from the LTDS raw group. Relative community composition is similar between raw LTDS and VES communities. However, the relative composition of lower abundance species increases with corrected LTDS estimates.	14
6.	Location of butterfly surveys conducted from 2015-2017 in Minnesota, North Dakota, and South Dakota, USA. In total, we surveyed 35 sites, visiting each site three times in the year(it was surveyed.	s) 28
7.	Species density estimates (± 95% CI) and effective strip width (ESW) in meters for 15 species in the Northern Great Plains. Estimates were calculated using Program Distance for any species that had over 30 detections from 2015-2017. Species are categorized as Facultative (a) or Obligate (b) grasslands species based on Glassberg (2001)	34

- 10. Non-metric multidimensional scaling ordination for the butterfly community detected from 2015-2017 in the Northern Great Plains, USA. Six-letter codes for obligate grassland species (red) and facultative grassland species (black) are shown (see Table 1 for full scientific names) along with site scores (gray circles). Species nearest to sites represent which species were more prominent at those sites. We then used envifit to determine if vegetation vectors were correlated site butterfly communities. Flowering forb richness (Forb richness), plant species diversity (Plant diversity), and Kentucky bluegrass canopy cover (*P. pratensis* cover) were statistically significant ($p \le 0.05$) vegetation vectors for the community. Additionally, the percent cover of wetlands (Wetland cover) was also a statistically significant landscape vector ($p \le 0.05$). The plant community and nectar resources became more homogenized as Kentucky bluegrass cover increased. The butterfly community correspondingly went from more obligate grassland species to more facultative grassland species as bluegrass cover increased.

- 14. Multidimensional scaling ordination using Bray-Curtis distance for monarch behaviors observed during the breeding season from 2016-2017 in the Northern Great Plains, USA. The first two axes explained 78% of the variation. Site scores are represented with red circles. We used envifit to determine that sites with higher milkweed (*Asclepias* cover) and smooth brome (BROINE cover) cover were associated with monarchs that spent more time basking and resting. As site plant diversity increased, individuals spent more of their time nectaring.

LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES

Table Page A1. Averaged counts (±SE) for each butterfly species detected in North Dakota and South Dakota. Columns give a per site average for species surveyed using either line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) or visual encounter surveys (VES) completed in either 2015 and 2016. In 2015 20 sites were sampled using both methods, and in 2016 there were 25 sites. In both years each site was surveyed using VES for three times the effort that it was surveyed A2. Model outputs for 15 butterfly species found in the Northern Great Plains between 2015-2017 that met minimum detection thresholds for density estimation. AIC scores, ΔAIC_{c} , model weight, and the number of parameters (k) are included for the top model and the null model at each level. Best-ranked models and competitive model ($\leq 2 \Delta AIC_c$) are included for each level. If additional variables at each level did not improve AIC_c scores, they were not included A3. Summary statistics and descriptions for butterfly and vegetation variables utilized in multivariate and generalized linear modeling analyses for surveys conducted in the Northern A4. Site values for mean flowering milkweed (Asclepias spp.) density (per 500 m²), mean milkweed canopy cover (%), mean smooth brome (Bromus inermis) canopy cover (%), plant species diversity using Simpson's index ($D = 1 - \sum_{i}^{s} p_{i}^{2}$), number of completed behavioral observation surveys, and management strategy broadly categorized as burned,

LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES

<u>Figure</u>		Page
A1.	Butterfly abundance responses to Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis) cover from butterfly surveys completed in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2015-2017. Kentucky bluegrass cover did not significantly reduced total butterfly abundance (A) or facultative species abundance (B). Generalized linear model results are included, along with 95% confidence bands (blue lines). Kentucky bluegrass cover was not correlated with total butterfly abundance or facultative grassland species abundance.	104
A2.	Boxplot and results from an analysis of variance to determine how management strategy impacts the canopy cover of Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis) from vegetation surveys completed in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2015-2017. No significant differences ($F_{40} = 2.08$, $p = 0.11$) were detected, but sample sizes for some of the management strategies are very small, influencing our results. The total number of sites with each strategy are listed in parentheses under each management types. We did not impose management strategies on the 35 sites where we collected data. On average, sites that were burned or burned and grazed had lower Kentucky bluegrass cover.	105
A3.	The average percent of time in each month (A) and time of day (B) for behaviors observed during monarch behavioral observation surveys from 2016-2017 in Northern Great Plains, USA. The number of observation surveys are listed in parentheses above each category. No significant differences were observed based on the month or time of day. However, more monarchs were observed during August in the morning, and mating was only observed during the afternoon, providing guidance for future surveys.	, 107
A4.	Proportion of time spent ovipositing for monarchs observed in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2016-2017. Black circles represent sites. Activity budgets included more ovipositing at moderate amounts of milkweed and higher plant species diversity. Adults need nectar resources, but areas with a higher cover of milkweed, which may be more desirable for ovipositing, do not have available nectar resources. Monarchs appear to be optimizing available oviposition sites and available nectar resources.	I 108

CHAPTER 1. COMPARING TWO STATISTICALLY-BASED BUTTERFLY SURVEY METHODS TO IMPROVE BUTTERFLY CONSERVATION EFFORTS

Abstract

Declines in pollinators are increasing the need for research that investigates pollinator responses to conservation and management actions. Many methods exist to examine butterfly communities, but methods must produce statistically defendable and rigorous data that can be used for conservation planning and policy. Moreover, researchers are often constrained by study logistical features (i.e., time and money). Choosing methods that maximize data quality while minimizing effort will improve our ability to conduct quality butterfly research. To address this issue, we conducted butterfly surveys with two novel and statistically rigorous methods, visual encounter surveys (VES) and line-transect distance sampling (LTDS), at 31 sites over two years to compare differences in butterfly species richness, detections, detection rates, species accumulation curves, and community composition. Our goal was to guide recommendations for researchers and land managers using methods capable of providing detection functions, important in conservation planning. We found higher species richness and detections with VES compared to LTDS when investigating raw data. Standardizing for time-based effort, VES had 30% higher detection rates than LTDS, however rarefaction curves suggest methods detected new species at similar rates. Butterfly communities were statistically different between methods in multivariate ordinations, but community differences between years was stronger than between methods. When accounting for imperfect detection, true density estimates calculated with LTDS were consistently higher than raw density estimates. We recommend LTDS surveys to produce accurate density estimates for butterfly species, but our data indicates VES methods may be more efficient at detecting butterflies. While VES and LTDS are complementary methods, increasing effort with LTDS may be a viable option if only one method is selected. Regardless of objectives, VES and LTDS should be used in butterfly research because they improve upon previously used methods and incorporate detection functions, allowing them to provide quantifiable data for policy decisions.

Introduction

Grasslands continue to decline and pressures on remaining grasslands continue to increase due to anthropogenic forces (Samson et al. 2004). Consequently, grassland-dependent wildlife are declining,

including most butterfly species (Lalibrete and Ripple 2004, Brennan and Kuvlesky 2005, Hardersen and Corezzola 2014). Conservation plans are vital for protecting populations of butterflies because they are important for pollination (Davis et al. 2008), provide food sources for higher trophic levels (Guppy and Shepard 2001), and act as indicator species for biodiversity and environmental alterations (Blair 1999, Potts et al. 2010, Roy et al. 2015). Climate change and continuing grassland declines have sparked increased interests in rigorous butterfly research (Hellmann et al. 2008, Roth et al. 2014), and several methods are currently used to survey and monitor butterflies (Kral et al. 2018). However, older survey methods commonly only produce population indices, lack statistical rigor (Nowicki et al. 2008), and cannot produce population estimates needed for conservation plans and policies (New et al. 1995, Haddadd et al. 2008, Hamm 2013, Henry et al. 2015). Therefore, more insight into utilizing novel methods for butterfly research (i.e., method strengths and weaknesses) are needed.

Generally, butterfly abundance is estimated with transect-based survey methods. Traditionally, the Pollard walk (PW) method was used to conduct surveys with systematically placed transects to count butterflies in limited, fixed-width transects (Pollard 1977, Pollard and Yates 1993). Because transects are placed in areas with higher probabilities of butterfly detection and rely on raw counts, PW transects are biased, only produce abundance indices, cannot produce accurate population estimates, and fail to account for imperfect detection (Brown and Boyce 1998). For these reasons, most population estimates from PW surveys are inaccurate (Anderson 2001) and can only be used for the same site after many years of surveying, making data difficult to compare across studies (van Swaay 2003). Furthermore, PW surveys are not good at detecting species that occur in low abundances or are not easily observed due to species behavior or vegetation characteristics.

Presence-absence data for species with low abundance or cryptic behavior are commonly determined with area-based search methods. Historically, checklist surveys were used to search an entire area for butterflies, giving preference to areas where butterflies are more likely to be found (Royer et al. 1998). However, checklist surveys are also biased, fail to account for imperfect detection, and can only produce population indices when used for long-term monitoring (Hamm 2013). Despite drawbacks of both PW and checklist surveys, they are still commonly used in butterfly research (Roy and Sparks 2000, Zaman et al. 2015, Kral et al. 2018). However, conservation plans need methods with increased statistical

rigor and detection functions to improve comparability across studies and provide defendable population estimates that can be used in policy formation (Nowicki et al. 2008, Henry and Anderson 2016).

Line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) is an alternative method to PW transects that is more effective at producing true estimates of abundance (Table 1), but it is not yet widely implemented for butterflies (Kral et al. 2018). LTDS has been used to quickly and accurately estimate density and true population abundances for birds (Royle et al. 2004), mammals (Margues and Buckland 2003), and invertebrates (Hamm 2013), while accounting for imperfect detection—an individual is present but not detected (Kellner and Swihart 2014). Observers search along randomly-placed transects and estimate the perpendicular distance of all detected individuals from the transect (Buckland et al. 1993). Distances are used to model detection functions—the probability of detecting an individual from a given distance (Buckland et al. 2001)—and achieve better population estimates by accounting for imperfect detection, as the detection of individuals decreases with increased distance from an observer (Brown and Boyce 1998). Additionally, detection functions can incorporate other site variables that affect detection, such as observer, weather, and plant structure improving abundance estimates (Pocewicz et al. 2009). Moreover, accounting for imperfect detection for all species is important because raw counts and indices generally underestimate true population abundances (Kery and Plattner 2007), and individual species may have differing detection rates (Isaac et al. 2011), especially species that are cryptic or sedentary (Kadlec et al. 2012). Randomly-placed transects and incorporation of detection functions that account for imperfect detection allow LTDS surveys to provide estimates of true abundance, an improvement from traditional PW surveys that are more biased and only provide relative abundances (Brown and Boyce 1998, Haddad et al. 2008, Kral et al. 2018).

Visual encounter surveys (VES) incorporate site variables and multiple site visits in a single season to produce occupancy rates—the probability of a site being occupied by a particular species—for species that are hard to detect (MacKenzie et al. 2005). Unlike checklist surveys that provide presence-absence or relative abundance, VES are a powerful method used to systematically search standardized areas to determine occupancy, along with other data (Table 1; MacKenzie et al. 2006, Kadlec et al. 2012). Although this method was originally developed for herpetofauna (Flint and Harris 2005), benefits associated with VES can easily be applied to grassland butterflies that are hard to detect or occur at low

abundances (Bried and Pellet 2012). Additionally, VES data can be used with detection functions to model occupancy rates (MacKenzie et al. 2002). VES methods improve upon checklist surveys that do not account for imperfect detection, potentially report false absences instead of non-detections, and are unable to estimate probability of occupancy.

Table 1. Response variables, logistical features, and statistical features of commonly used butterfly survey and sampling methods: checklist (CK), Pollard walks (PW), line-transect distance sampling (LTDS), and visual encounter surveys (VES). Table adapted from Kral et al. (2018).

	CK	PW	LTDS	VES
Response Variables				
Occupancy	Х	Х	Х	Х
Population indices (relative abundance or density)	Х	Х	Х	Х
Presence-absence	X	Х	Х	Х
True population estimates (abundance or density)			Х	Х
Logistical and Statistical Features	СК	PW	LTDS	VES
Detection functions			Х	Х
Inferential strength		Х*	Х	Х
Low input/effort	X	Х	Х	Х
Randomization	X*	Х*	Х	Х
Replication	X*	Х*	Х	Х
Standardized effort		Х*	Х	Х

*Depending on how the method is designed and conducted

Increasing the use of rigorous methods that incorporate detection functions create more opportunities for controlled experiments to answer species-specific questions for evidenced-based conservation and planning, while limiting extraneous effort that strain logistical resources (Sutherland et al. 2004, Curtis et al. 2015). Such methods can help improve conservation and preventative planning that can reduce species crisis management when individual butterfly species become too rare to study (New et al. 1995). Therefore, our study objective was to improve our understanding of novel butterfly survey methods by comparing two statistically rigorous surveys, VES and LTDS, which are better suited to produce unbiased, scientifically defendable data for butterfly conservation and policy. By comparing species richness, total detections, detection rates, species accumulation curves, and community composition, we can identify the suitable survey methods for land managers with varying objectives and logistical constraints. These comparisons are focused on methodological features that influence survey efficiency and potential biases, with a smaller emphasis on post-hoc analyses that account for imperfect detection, as methods do this in different ways. By making comparisons in this way, we can elucidate how

methods that produce accurate estimates of density or occupancy can be used separately or complimentary to improve butterfly research and conservation. Furthermore, identifying the benefits of using VES or LTDS methods will help improve standardization in butterfly data collection, an important aspect in local monitoring programs and cross study comparisons (Royer et al. 1998).

Methods

Study area

We conducted our research in North Dakota, South Dakota, and Minnesota, USA. Across the region, temperatures vary throughout the year ranging from -17 to 23 °C, averaging 5.5 °C (USDA-NRCS 2015). The warmest temperatures occur in South Dakota in July where the average frost-free period is 136 days; the coldest temperatures occur in central North Dakota in January where the average frost-free period is 122 days. Precipitation falls mostly during the growing season and follows a strong gradient east to west, decreasing from 69 cm to 36 cm. Historically, the plant community in the Dakotas was a gradient of tallgrass prairie in the east to a mixed-grass prairie in the west. The tallgrass prairie was composed mostly of native, warm-season grasses including big bluestem (*Andropogon gerardii* Vitman) and little bluestem (*Schizachyrium scoparium* (Michx.) Nash). Moving west, the mixed-grass prairie was dominated by native, cool-season grasses like green needlegrass (*Nassella viridula* (Trin.) Barkworth) and western wheatgrass (*Pascopyrum smithii* (Rydb.) Á. Löve). Recently, invasive, cool-season grasses, mostly smooth brome (*Bromus inermis* Leyss.) and Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.), have become dominant in many grasslands, inhibiting native plants (Murphy and Grant 2005). The forb community is similar in both areas, being dominated by asters (*Aster spp.*) and goldenrods (*Solidago spp.*; USDA-NRCS 2015).

We selected sites from U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) refuges throughout the Northern Great Plains. We systematically eliminated sites that did not have enough room to conduct surveys (≤ 20 ha, see survey description below) or were composed entirely of open-water habitats. From the remaining USFWS sites, we randomly selected 20 sites to survey in 2015. After the 2015 field season, we eliminated six sites that lacked butterfly diversity and were highly invaded by exotic plants (>50% canopy cover). Additionally, we expanded our survey efforts to include some privately-owned or non-governmental organization sites in North Dakota, South Dakota, and Minnesota. In 2016, we surveyed 25

sites, and over two years, we surveyed 31 unique sites that ranged in size from 25-350 ha. Regardless of management unit size, we randomly placed two 100 m transects for LTDS and two 200 m × 200 m blocks for VES within each site that were all at least 100 m apart. We adjusted points if necessary (e.g., random point was too close to open water or edge to fit survey area).

Butterfly surveys

We surveyed each site between June and early August, making three site visits per year. Each year, we rotated the time of day and order of surveys to reduce temporal bias. Furthermore, we conducted surveys during optimal field conditions for butterflies: between 0900 and 1800 hours (CDT), when air temperatures were between 21 - 35 °C, winds were under 25 km · hr⁻¹, and cloud cover was less than 50% (Royer et al. 1998). For each site, we surveyed two 100 m transects (LTDS method) and two 4 ha plots (VES method). At each study site, surveys were split between two observers, with each observer surveying only one LTDS and one VES. Observers rotated on subsequent visits to reduce observer bias. There were two observers each field season with KK being the primary observer both years.

Observers used LTDS to determine butterfly species richness, total detections, and detection rates. We conducted LTDS surveys by walking 100 m transects marked with a measuring tape at a rate of approximately $10 \text{ m} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ (Moranz et al. 2012; Figure 1). Observers recorded all butterfly species detected ahead or to either side of the line, with no constraints on the distance observers could record butterflies. However, special attention was given to detect all individuals on the transect (Buckland et al. 2001). During surveys, observers estimated the perpendicular distance from each individual butterfly to the transect.

Observers used VES to determine butterfly species richness, total detections, and detection rates (Harms et al. 2014; Figure 1). Locating the edges with a GPS unit, observers walked at a rate of approximately 25 m · min⁻¹ throughout VES plots for 30 min in a zigzag pattern (Hardersen and Corezzola 2014). Our VES blocks were large enough to enclose three 100 m transects with approximately 50 m on each site to create the basis for the zigzag pattern. VES plots are meant to be larger in order to search the site thoroughly and identity as many species as possible. Therefore, observers were not restricted to where they spent their time and could search longer in areas with higher floral resources (Royer et al. 1998). As observers searched, they recorded all butterflies seen within the plot, noting the species and

number. For both LTDS and VES, observers recorded their own data. Additionally, if a butterfly could not be identified, observers suspended the survey, took a picture or attempted to capture the butterfly with a net, and then resumed the survey at the stopped point.



Figure 1. Graphical explanation of visual encounter survey (VES) and line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) methods to visually detect butterflies. Observers walk in a zigzag pattern througout 4 ha VES plots for 30 min, but they are restricted within the search area. In LTDS plots, observers are only allowed to walk the 100 m transect for approximately 10 min. The area covered in LTDS is variable because detectability differs between species. Using the same butterfly community for each method, observers exclude indivudals that fall outside the survyeing area (X). Individuals are counted in the VES plot, whereas distances between butterflies and the line are estimated in LTDS.

Analysis

We first provide a qualitative analysis of our results across all study sites in each year. For each method, we determined the total species richness as the number of species detected across all sites, the total detections across all sites, the detection rate, and the number of unique species detected using one method but not the other (Table 2). To calculate detection rates, we took the total number of detections and divided by the total effort to produce detections per minute.

Next, we used generalized linear mixed-effects modeling (GLMM), rarefaction curves, and multivariate ordination to compare the two methods using count data from each site. GLMM allowed us to

compare single variables (detections per site, detection rates, and species richness per site) between methods. Using the *Ime4* package in R, we created GLMMs incorporating site as a random effect to compare single variables between methods at the site level within years (n = 20, 25; Kadlec et al. 2012, Bates et al. 2015, R Development Core Team 2015). To investigate species richness further, we used the "specaccum" function to randomly derive sample-based rarefaction curves based on effort, not on the order of species detection, in the *vegan* package for R (Oksanen 2015). Moreover, we used the "specpool" function in the same package with a bootstrap estimator to pool species richness over sites and more accurately estimate species richness (Oksanen 2015).

Finally, we compared the butterfly community composition using multivariate ordination. We first organized our data by totaling counts for every species at each site based on method and year. To standardize the counts by time-based effort, we divided the total counts obtained with the VES method by three to match the effort in the LTDS method. To use the full potential of LTDS data, we also compared the community using species density while accounting for imperfect detection. We calculated true density estimates (individuals \cdot ha⁻¹) with LTDS data using a combination of key functions and series expansions in Program Distance (Buckland et al. 2001) according to procedures outline by Harms et al. (2014) and Pocewicz et al. (2009). We pooled detections across years and put zeros for species without enough detections to calculate density estimates (< 60). We calculated VES density estimates by totaling the number of raw detections for each species and dividing by the total area (4 ha) to give individuals \cdot ha⁻¹. We then used metric multidimensional scaling (MDS) with the "capscale" function and Bray-Curtis distance measures to create community ordination plots in the *vegan* package for R (Kindt and Coe 2005, Oksanen 2015). We used the function "envfit" within the *vegan* package to test how year and method correlated with the butterfly community (Moranz et al. 2012). For each analysis, we set an $\alpha \le 0.05$ to indicate statistically significant differences between factors.

Results

We made >7,000 butterfly detections and observed 37 different butterfly species over two years of data collection (Table 2; Table A1). In 2015, the total species richness across sites and number of unique species were similar between VES and LTDS, but the number of detections and the detection rate were greater with the VES method. The following year, the number of detections and species observed

across all sites were higher for both methods than in 2015, but similar patterns appeared between methods. We still observed a greater number of species, detections, detection rates and unique species in the VES method, with only one unique species detected using LTDS (Table 2).

Table 2. Totals across all sites for butterfly species richness, detections, detection rate, and number of unique species in visual encounter survey (VES) and line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) methods used from North Dakota and South Dakota in 2015-2016. We used the effort (in minutes) for each method in both years with the detections to calculate the detection rate across all sites.

Totals						
		Species Richness	Detections	Detection Rate (Individuals∙ min⁻¹)	Number of Unique Species	Effort (min)
2015	VES	21	1690	0.47	2	3600
	LTDS	20	320	0.27	1	1200
2016	VES	36	4201	0.93	10	4500
	LTDS	27	1076	0.72	1	1500

The average number of detections per site differed annually (z = 5.35, df = 89, p ≤ 0.001), therefore we compared differences between methods within each year. Detections per site (2015: z=10.7, df =19, p ≤ 0.001; 2016: z =1 1.6, df= 24, p ≤ 0.001) and detection rates (2015: z = 8.66, df = 19, p ≤ 0.001; 2016: z = 4.49, df = 24, p = 0.02; Figure 2) were statistically different between methods. The VES method had four times as many detections compared to LTDS surveys despite having only three times more effort (i.e., time spent surveying). Additionally, when controlling for effort, VES had approximately 30% higher detection rates compared to LTDS.



Figure 2. Comparisons between line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) and visual encounter survey (VES) methods for butterfly A) average detections per site and B) average detection rate per site separated by year. Butterfly surveys were conducted across North Dakota and South Dakota in 2015-2016. Differing letters denote statistically significant differences between methods within each year at an $\alpha \leq 0.05$. The VES method consistently produced higher numbers in both categories compared to LTDS, even when accounting for effort.

Species richness per site also differed by method annually (2015: z = 14.8, df = 19, $p \le 0.001$; 2016: z = 9.00, df = 24, $p \le 0.001$; Table A1). However, we allocated three times as much effort in VES surveys (30 min) compared to LTDS surveys (10 min). Rarefaction curves, which account for effort, showed that the average species accumulation for both methods in each year overlapped (Figure 3; Table A1). Overlapping curves indicate that the two methods appear to have accumulated new species at the same rate, at least over the first 1200 (2015) or 1500 (2016) min of effort where we can compare both methods.



Figure 3. Species accumulation curves for line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) and visual encounter survey (VES) methods used throughout North Dakota and South Dakota in 2015 and 2016. Rarefaction curves are shown for LTDS (dotted lines) and VES (solid lines) with 95% confidence intervals. Additionally, we included the species richness predicted by pooling across survey sites. Generally, the rate of detecting new species did not change between methods, but with more effort allocated to the VES method, more species were found overall.

Ordination results showed a significant difference in the butterfly community between the two methods ($R^2 = 0.10$, p < 0.001) and between years ($R^2 = 0.67$, p < 0.001) using raw counts (Figure 4). However, butterfly communities were more similar within the same year than the same methods across

years. No solution could be reached for the ordination using density estimates. However, species density estimates were consistently underestimated with VES (Table 3). To look at the community in a separate way, we also used the number of raw detections from LTDS, VES, along with corrected density estimates to compare the relative community composition (Figure 5). Raw numbers from LTDS and VES produced similar relative community composition. However, the composition of several species (*Speyeria aphorodite, Phyciodes tharos, Polites mystic*) that made up a small portion of the community using raw numbers made a more substantial contribution with corrected LTDS numbers (Figure 5).



MDS1

Figure 4. Multidimensional scaling ordination for the butterfly community data collected across North Dakota and South Dakota from 2015-2016 using visual encounter survey (VES) and line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) methods. Site scores are grouped by year (dashed or solid lines) and method (blue or gold lines). The first two axes explained 72% of the variation observed in the data. Year ($R^2 = 0.67$) and method ($R^2 = 0.10$) were both significantly correlated with the ordination, however communities in each year were more closely related to each other than similar methods between years.

Table 3. Density estimates (individuals \cdot ha⁻¹) for 12 butterfly species in North Dakota and South Dakota from 2015-2016. Line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) density that accounts for imperfect detection using Program Distance. Visual encounter survey (VES) density was calculated using the raw counts for each species divided by the total area searched (4 ha) to produce individuals \cdot ha⁻¹. Densities are compared using the relative percent decrease ([N_{LTDS}-N_{VES}]/N_{LTDS}) from LTDS to VES, as VES consistently underestimated density.

Species	LTDS Density	VES Density	Percent Difference
Boloria bellona	1.25	0.26	79%
Cercyonis pegala	8.41	0.82	90%
Coenonympha tullia	2.36	0.37	84%
Colias eurytheme	6.40	0.63	90%
Colias philodice	4.55	0.62	86%
Danaus plexippus	1.13	0.17	85%
Phyciodes tharos	6.87	0.25	96%
Pieris rapae	2.42	0.36	85%
Plebejus melissa	2.00	0.19	91%
Polites mystic	3.66	0.20	95%
Speyeria aphrodite	5.16	0.24	95%
Speyeria idalia	0.82	0.16	81%
Total	43.78	4.29	90%

Discussion

Demands for butterfly research are increasing as butterfly populations continue to decline globally (Roth et al. 2014). As these trends persist, research efforts are expanding to try to quantify butterfly populations and to more thoroughly understand their contribution to ecosystem services (Davis et al. 2008, Roy et al. 2015). More frequently, checklist surveys and PW transects are used to collect butterfly data (Pollard and Yates 1993, Droege et al. 1998), but these methods are often biased, fail to account for imperfect detection, and only produce site indices that are inappropriate for creating effective conservation plans (Brown and Boyce 1998, Henry et al. 2015). We compared two novel methods (VES and LTDS) that account for imperfect detection to help guide future research and determine which method matches project objectives and logistics. Moreover, as similar studies have shown, VES had significantly higher detections compared to LTDS surveys (Kadlec et al. 2012). Contrary to expectations, butterfly communities differed between method and year, but annual differences were stronger than method type (Jakubikova and Kadlec 2015), possibly due to annual climatic changes (Oliver et al. 2012). Our original findings were that the VES method produced higher detection rates, even though detection rates were standardized by effort, and the VES and LTDS methods accumulated species at approximately the same rate.



Figure 5. Relative community composition (percent) for 12 butterfly species from surveys conducted across North Dakota and South Dakota in 2015 and 2016. Community composition is presented for line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) or visual encounter survey (VES) methods. Raw detections are used for the VES community, but raw and corrected estimates are both used for LTDS community composition. Species are ranked by their relative abundance from the LTDS raw group. Relative community composition of lower abundance species increases with corrected LTDS estimates.

We observed significant differences in the number of detections and species richness between methods, with both response variables being higher in VES compared to LTDS. This was expected, as other studies comparing area searches to line transects reported similar results (Royer et al. 1998, Kadlec et al. 2012). Accounting for effort did not equalize detections between methods, as detection rates were still higher in the VES method. This also occurred in another study where standardizations were based on counts per hour (Royer et al. 1998). In VES, observers can complete more exhaustive searches by allocating more of their time in areas where butterflies are likely to congregate (Kadlec et al. 2012). Since observers are not permitted to wander off the transect in LTDS surveys, they are limited to the area near the transect, which may or may not be suitable for butterflies. The ability to search portions within the standardized area with a higher likelihood of butterflies increases the total number of detections. However, it was the increase in time, not the ability to search in areas butterflies are more likely to congregate, that increased species richness in the VES method. Consequently, species rarefaction curves that accounted for effort were similar between methods.

Butterfly communities varied between method and year. Typically, two different methods will collect similar community composition when used in the same location (Jakubikova and Kadlec 2015), and other studies that compare area searches to line transects detected both similar species and population trends (Kadlec et al. 2012, Roy et al. 2015). Comparing methods that vary more methodologically (e.g., trapping vs. transect counts) are more likely to result in different butterfly communities (Jakubikova and Kadlec 2015), but we did observe changes between methods, most likely due to species abundance changes between methods. Even when accounting for effort, the VES method had more detections of all species and changed the overall composition compared to LTDS. If we were able to compare the entire butterfly community with density estimates from LTDS, this same trend may not have occurred based on the difference between density estimates for each method and the proportional change in species composition. However, annual community differences were still more pronounced compared to method.

Despite our focus on comparing the two methods, one notable result was the variability in butterfly communities between years. Detections were over two times higher in 2016 compared to 2015. Moreover, we detected 15 new species in 2016 that were not detected in 2015. Annual differences could be attributed to changes in observer (Swengel 1990, Royer et al. 1998, Kadlec et al. 2012) or eliminating less diverse sites, but changes are more likely due to yearly fluctuations in climatic variables (Oliver et al. 2012, Roy et al. 2015), especially since one observer was the same both years, a majority of sites remained the same each year, and the relationship between the methods (i.e. community changes and VES producing higher detection rates) was consistent.

LTDS surveys are slowly increasing in popularity because they are used to quantify accurate estimates of density and abundance (Pocewicz et al. 2009, Moranz et al. 2014), which in turn makes it easy to compare across landscapes and projects. Accounting for detected and undetected individuals can greatly impact species estimates and community composition, as we observed with our own data. Transect counts, like LTDS surveys, are also easy to complete and allow observers to cover large areas (Collier et al. 2008), and they are often recommended for long-term monitoring schemes that need quick, reliable data (Royer et al. 1998, Kadlec et al. 2012). Even though LTDS provides butterfly abundances critical for conservation planning, it requires 60 detections per species to calculate accurate abundances

(Buckland et al. 2001). Therefore, studies specifically investigating hard-to-detect and low abundance species should consider using VES to determine occupancy or adding more effort to LTDS.

In many situations, a combination of methods is preferable to collect site lists efficiently and provide accurate population estimates (Royer et al. 1998, Collier et al. 2008, Haddad et al. 2008, Jakubikova and Kadlec 2015). Often, checklist surveys are used once to obtain a list of resident species, with PW methods being used for long-term monitoring (Royer et al. 1998). Likewise, we determined that LTDS surveys should be utilized for quick data collection, conservation plans, and long-term monitoring, as data can be used to determine unbiased estimates of abundance. However, we suggest, if logistics allow, that VES or more LTDS transects should be used on a yearly basis due to annual changes in rare and hard-to-detect species.

We encountered three difficulties when comparing our methods. First, we were unable to compare the entire community using corrected density estimates for both methods. VES density estimates do not account for imperfect detection, therefore they underestimated species density. But, without more species detections, LTDS could only estimate true density estimates for 12 species. Consequently, the disparity between corrected and uncorrected density estimates and number of species used in community analyses prevented unbiased comparisons, and we were only able to compare buttery surveys based on methodological differences affected species detections and rates rather than how data can be adjusted for imperfect detection and analyzed. Second, it would be interesting to determine how species' detection functions (the probability of detecting an individual from a given distance) differed between methods, but we were unable to compare detection functions because they are calculated in different ways. LTDS detection functions are modeled using counts and distance measurements within various key and series adjustments (Buckland et al. 2001), whereas detection functions for VES are defined and modified in the statistical software (MacKenzie et al. 2002). The third difficulty was the difference in area covered between methods. We chose to standardize methods on time-based effort, but we considered standardizing based on area. However, the area covered by methods varied, especially since LTDS, in practice, covers fluctuating areas due to detectability changes by species (Dennis et al. 2005). Consequently, we found it ineffective to compare methods in this way and chose to standardize by time-based effort.

Conclusions

Researchers and land managers need efficient methods to survey butterflies to meet research objectives, fit logistical constraints, and provide vital information for conservation efforts, as butterflies are experiencing widespread decline (Hardersen and Corezzola 2014). More importantly, researchers and land managers need methods that incorporate detection functions to produce unbiased, quantifiable data (Nowicki et al. 2008). We compared differences in species richness, detections, and detection rates between VES and LTDS, two methods that incorporate detection functions. We found that VES produced higher detections and detection rates compared to LTDS, possibly because the VES method allows observers to search in areas where butterflies are more likely to be found. Although species richness was higher in VES, rarefaction curves showed that species accumulated similarly between methods, but there were still significant differences in the community between method and year. During the two years of data collection, we found major differences in the number of individuals and species detected due to annual climatic variation. From our results, we found LTDS more appropriate for collecting data to calculate accurate estimates of abundance. Alternatively, VES were more efficient for detecting rare species, producing complete site lists, and calculating occupancy rates. LTDS may be better suited for projects answering broad questions about the butterfly community since they are easier and faster to complete. However, projects with a major focus on rare species should either implement VES or increase LTDS effort. If possible, a combination of methods is helpful for most research projects to improve detection efficiency (VES) and accurate density estimates (LTDS). Then, researchers and land managers can use VES and LTDS methods to collect quantifiable data for rare and abundant species, crucial for improving research and conservation efforts for all butterfly species.

References

- Anderson, D.R., 2001. The need to get the basics right in wildlife field studies. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 29, 1294-1297. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3784156
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B. Walker, S., 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1-48.
- Blair, R.B., 1999. Birds and butterflies along an urban gradient: surrogate taxa for assessing biodiversity? Ecol. Appl. 9, 164-170. 10.1890/1051-0761(1999)009[0164:BABAAU]2.0.CO;2

- Brennan, L.A., Kuvlesky, W.P., Jr., 2005. North American grassland birds: an unfolding conservation crisis? J. Wildl. Manage. 69, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.2193/0022-541X(2005)069<0001:NAGBAU>2.0.CO;2
- Bried, J.T., Pellet, J., 2012. Optimal design of butterfly occupancy surveys and testing if occupancy converts to abundance for sparse populations. J. Insect Conserv. 16, 489-499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-011-9435-2
- Brown, J.A., Boyce, M.S., 1998. Line transect sampling of Karner blue butterflies (Lycaeides melissa samuelis). Environ. Ecol. Stat. 5, 81-91.10.1023/A:1009620105039
- Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D.R., Burnham, K.P., 2001. Introduction to distance sampling: estimating abundance of biological populations. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Collier, N., Mackay, D.A., Benkendorff, K., 2008. Is relative abundance a good indicator of population size? Evidence from fragmented populations of a specialist butterfly (Lepidoptera: Lycaenidae). Popul. Ecol. 50, 17-23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10144-007-0056-2
- Curtis, R.J., Brereton, T.M., Dennis, R.L.H., Carbone, C., Isaac, N.J.B., 2015. Butterfly abundance is determined by food availability and is mediated by species traits. J. Appl. Ecol. 52, 1676-1684. 10.1111/1365-2664.12523
- Davis, J.D., Hendrix, S.D., Debinski, D.M., Hemsley, C.J., 2008. Butterfly, bee and forb community composition and cross-taxon incongruence in tallgrass prairie fragments. J. Insect Conserv. 12, 69-79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-006-9063-4
- Droege, S., Cyr, A., Larivee, J., 1998. Checklists: an under-used tool for the inventory and monitoring of plants and animals. Conserv. Biol. 12, 1134-1138. 10.1046/j.1523-1739.1998.96402.x
- ESRI. 2013. ArcGIS 10.2 for Desktop. ESRI Inc. website: http://www. esri.com.
- Flint, W.D., Harris, R.N., 2005. The efficacy of visual encounter surveys for population monitoring of Plethodon punctatus (Caudata: Plethodontidae). J. Herpetol. 39, 578-584. https://doi.org/10.1670/255-04A.1
- Gall, L.F., 1985. Measuring the size of Lepidopteran populations. J. Res. Lepid. 24, 97-116.
- Guppy, C.S., Shepard, J.H., 2001. Butterflies of British Columbia. University of British Columbia Press, Vancouver.

- Haddad, N.M, Hudgens, B., Damiani, C., Gross, D., Kuefler, D., Pollock, K., 2008. Determining optimal population monitoring for rare butterflies. Conserv. Biol. 22, 929-940. 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00932.x
- Hamm, C.A., 2013. Estimating abundance of the federally endangered Mitchell's satyr butterfly using hierarchical distance sampling. Insect Conserv. Divers. 6, 619-626. 10.1111/icad.12017
- Hardersen, S., Corezzola, S., 2014. Plot-based butterfly surveys: statistical and methodological aspects. J. Insect Conserv. 18,1171-1183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9728-3
- Harms, T.M., Dinsmore, S.J., 2012. Density and abundance of secretive marsh birds in Iowa. Waterbirds 35, 208-216. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.035.0203
- Harms, T.M., Kinkead, K.E., Dinsmore, S.J., 2014. Evaluating the effects of landscape configuration on the site occupancy and movement dynamics of odonates in Iowa. J. Insect Conserv. 18:307-315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9638-4
- Hellmann, J.J., Pelini, S.L., Prior, K.M., Dzurisin, J.D.K., 2008. The response of two butterfly species to climatic variation at the edge of their range and the implications for poleward range shifts.
 Oecologia 157, 583-592. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-008-1112-0
- Henry, E.H., Haddad, N.M., Wilson, J., Hughes, P., Gardner, B., 2015. Point-count methods to monitor butterfly populations when traditional methods fail: a case study with Miami blue butterfly. J.
 Insect Conserv. 19, 519-529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-015-9773-6
- Isaac, N.J.B., Cruickshanks, K.L., Weddle, A.M., Rowcliffe, J.M., Brereton, T.M., Dennis, R.L.H, Shuker, D.M., Thomas, C.D., 2011. Distance sampling and the challenge of monitoring butterfly populations. Methods Ecol. Evol. 2, 585-594. 10.1111/j.2041-210X.2011.00109.x
- Kadlec, T., Tropek, R., Konvicka, M., 2012. Timed surveys and transect walks as comparable methods for monitoring butterflies in small plots. J. Insect Conserv. 16, 275-280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-011-9414-7
- Kellner, K.F., Swihart, R.K., 2014. Accounting for imperfect detection in ecology: a quantitative review, PLoS ONE 9, e11436. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111436

- Kery, M., Plattner, M., 2007. Species richness estimation and determinants of species detectability in butterfly monitoring programmes. Ecol. Entomol. 32, 53-61. 10.1111/j.1365-2311.2006.00841.x
- Kindt, R., Coe, R., 2005. Tree diversity analysis: a manual and software for common statistical methods for ecological and biodiversity studies. World Agroforestry Centre, Nairobi.
- Kral, K., Harmon, J., Limb, R., Hovick, T., 2018. Improving our science: the evolution of butterfly sampling and surveying methods over time. J. Insect Conserv., https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-018-0046-z
- Laliberte, A.S., Ripple, W.J., 2004. Range contractions of North American carnivores and ungulates. BioScience 54, 123-138. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2004)054[0123:RCONAC]2.0.CO;2
- Letourneau, I., Larrivee, M., Morin, A., 2012. A comparative analysis of butterfly richness detection capacity of Pollard transects and general microhabitat surveys. Can. Entomol. 144, 727-731. https://doi.org/10.4039/tce.2012.64
- MacKenzie, D.I., Nichols, J.D., Lachman, G.B., Droege, S., Royle, J.A., Langtimm. C.A., 2002. Estimating site occupancy rates when detection probabilities are less than one. Ecology 83, 2248-2255. 10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[2248:ESORWD]2.0.CO;2
- MacKenzie, D.I., Nichols, J.D., Royle, J.A., Pollock, K.H., Bailey, L.L., Hines, J.E., 2006. Occupancy estimation and modeling: inferring patterns and dynamics of species occurrence. Academic Press, Burlington.
- MacKenzie, D.I., Nichols, J.D., Sutton, N., Kawanishi, K., Bailey, L.L., 2005. Improving inferences in population studies of rare species that are detected imperfectly. Ecology 86, 1101-1113. 10.1890/04-1060
- Marques, F.F.C., Buckland, S.T., 2003. Incorporating covariates into standard line transect analyses. Biometrics 59, 924-935. 10.1111/j.0006-341X.2003.00107.x
- Moranz, R.A., Debinski, D.M., McGranahan, D.A., Engle, D.M., Miller, J.R., 2012. Untangling the effects of fire, grazing, and land-use legacies on grassland butterfly communities. Biodivers. Conserv. 21, 2719–2746. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-012-0330-2
- Murphy, R.K., Grant, T.A., 2005. Land Management History and Floristics in Mixed-Grass Prairie, North Dakota, USA. Nat. Area J. 25, 351-358.

- New, T.R., 1997. Are Lepidoptera an effective 'umbrella group' for biodiversity conservation? J. Insect Conserv. 1, 5-12. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1018433406701
- New, T.R., Pyle, R.M., Thomas, J.A., Thomas, C.D., Hammond, P.C., 1995. Butterfly conservation management. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 40, 57-83. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.en.40.010195.000421
- Nowicki, P., Settele, J., Henry, P.-Y., Woyciechowski, M., 2008. Butterfly monitoring methods: The ideal and the real world. Isr. J. Ecol. Evol. 54, 69-88. https://doi.org/10.1560/IJEE.54.1.69
- Oksanen, J., 2015. Multivariate analysis of ecological communities in R: vegan tutorial. http://cc.oulu.fi/~jarioksa/opetus/metodi/vegantutor.pdf (accessed 23 Feb 2016).
- Oliver, T.H., Thomas, C.D., Hill, J.K., Brereton T., Roy, D.B., 2012. Habitat associations of thermophilous butterflies are reduced despite climatic warming. Glob. Chang. Biol. 18, 2720–2729. 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02737.x
- Pocewicz, A., Morgan, P., Eigenbrode, S.D., 2009. Local and landscape effects on butterfly density in northern Idaho grasslands and forests. J. Insect Conserv. 13, 593-601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-008-9209-7
- Pollard, E., 1977. A method for assessing changes in the abundance of butterflies. Biol. Conserv. 12, 115-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(77)90065-9
- Pollard, E., Yates, T.J., 1993. Monitoring butterflies for ecology and conservation. Chapman and Hall, London.
- Potts, S.G., Biesmeijer, J.C., Kremen, C., Neumann, P., Schweiger, O., Kunin, W.E., 2010. Global pollinator declines: trends, impacts and drivers. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25, 345-353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.01.007
- Powell, A.F.L.A., Busby, W.H., Kindscher, K., 2007. Status of the regal fritillary (Speyeria idalia) and effects of fire management on its abundance in northeastern Kansas, USA. J. Insect Conserv. 11: 299-308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-006-9045-6
- R Development Core Team, 2015. R: a language and environment for statistical computing [online]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org.

- Roth, T., Strebel, N., Amrhein, V., 2014. Estimating unbiased phenological trends by adapting siteoccupancy models. Ecology 95, 2144-2154. 10.1890/13-1830.1
- Roy, D.B., Sparks, T.H., 2000. Phenology of British butterflies and climate change. Glob. Change Biol. 6, 407-416. 10.1046/j.1365-2486.2000.00322.x
- Roy, D.B., Ploquin, E.F., Randle, Z., Risely, K., Botham, M.S., Middlebrook, I., Noble, D., Cruickshanks,
 K., Freeman, S.N., Brereton, T.M., 2015. Comparison of trends in butterfly populations between
 monitoring schemes. J. Insect Conserv. 19, 313-324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9739-0
- Roy, D.B., Rothery, P., Brereton, T., 2007. Reduced-effort schemes for monitoring butterfly populations. J. Appl. Ecol. 44, 993-1000. 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01340.x
- Royer, R.A., Austin, J.E., Newton, W.E., 1998. Checklist and "Pollard walk" butterfly survey methods on public lands. Am. Midl. Nat. 140:358-371. https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031(1998)140[0358:CAPWBS]2.0.CO;2
- Royle, J.A., Dawson, D.K., Bates, S., 2004. Modeling abundance effects in distance sampling. Ecology 85, 1591-1597. 10.1890/03-3127
- Samson, F.B., Knopf, F.L., Ostlie, W.R., 2004. Great Plains ecosystems: past, present, and future. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 32, 6-15. https://doi.org/10.2193/0091-7648(2004)32[6:GPEPPA]2.0.CO;2
- Sutherland, W.J., Pullin, A.S., Dolman, P.M., Knight, T.M., 2004. The need for evidence-based conservation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 19: 305-308. 10.1016/j.tree.2004.03.018
- Swengel, A.B., 1990. Monitoring butterfly population using the Fourth of July Butterfly Count. The Am. Midl. Nat. 21, 395-406. 10.2307/2426190
- Swengel, S.R., Schlicht, D., Olsen, F., Swengel, A.B., 2011. Declines of prairie butterflies in the Midwestern USA. J. Insect Conserv. 15, 327-339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-010-9323-1
- (USDA-NRCS) United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2015. Field Office Technical Guide.

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/national/technical/fotg/ (accessed 2 October 2015).

Van Swaay, C.A.M., 2003. Butterfly densities on line transects in The Netherlands from 1990-2001. Entomolog. Ber. 63, 82-87. Zaman, K., Tenney, C., Rush, C.E., Hill, R.I., 2015. Population ecology of a California endemic: Speyeria adiaste clemencei. J. Insect Conserv. 19, 753-763. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-015-9797-y
CHAPTER 2. MULTI-SCALE CONSIDERATIONS FOR GRASSLAND BUTTERFLY CONSERVATION IN AGROECOSYSTEMS

Abstract

Global change threatens the persistence of multiple taxonomic groups, including butterflies. While conservation efforts for butterfly populations have consequently increased, they are often hampered by a lack of true density estimates along with a lack of investigation of specific ecological factors that influence density. Our overall objective was to enhance current grassland butterfly conservation efforts by using line-transect distance sampling, a method that accounts for imperfect detection, to calculate true density estimates and model the influence of landscape and local variables on butterfly density in the Northern Great Plains, USA. We calculated true density estimates for five obligate and ten facultative grassland species to produce one of the most extensive datasets for butterfly densities to date. In contrast to most previous research, we found that landscape variables influenced butterfly density more often than local variables. Specifically, the percent cover of perennial grasslands, crop lands, and wetlands appeared in 90% of species models, whereas common local variables-forb richness and invasive plant coverappeared in 60% of best-ranked models. We expected obligate species' density to decrease as invasive plants increased, but species' responses were mixed based on larval diet, not species habitat associations. Additionally, best-ranked models for Danaus plexippus and Speyeria idalia, two species of conservation concern with obligate host plant requirements, did not include host plant availability at the local scale. However, landscape variables included in models for these species often determine the presence of local vegetative variables. Our results reiterate the importance of modeling species responses to variables at across multiple scales and the need for conserving large tracts of grasslands. Although our results emphasize the need for conservation at the landscape scale, managing for heterogeneous local scale variables will also help conserve obligate grassland butterflies.

Introduction

Butterflies provide a variety of ecosystem services including pollination and cultural aesthetics (Davis et al. 2008, Lopez-Hoffman 2010, Cardinale et al. 2012). However, due to their sensitivity to land use alterations and environmental change (Winfree et al. 2011, Roy et al. 2015), butterflies are declining as global change drivers increase (e.g., landscape fragmentation, species habitat simplification, and

climate change; Thomas et al. 2004, Potts et al. 2010). Continued declines in species diversity and abundance can lead to species extinctions (Brook et al. 2008, Urban 2015), with such localized extinctions depending on species' traits that influence specific responses to challenges like land use change (Bartomeus et al. 2018). Therefore, research focused on butterfly conservation has increased to better understand synergistic responses to global change that influence landscape configuration and local resource availability (e.g., Flockhart et al. 2014, Hindle et al. 2015). Still, conservation efforts need to expand and incorporate empirical data and species ecological information necessary for conservation planning to reduce broad- and local-scale declines (Sutherland et al. 2004).

Conservation management plans to protect and bolster butterfly populations are ideally based on scientific data. However, the data used to create butterfly conservation plans is often anecdotal or lacks statistical rigor (Sutherland et al. 2004, Nowicki et al. 2008). Additionally, most research focuses on rare species (e.g., Weibull et al. 2003, Haddad et al. 2008, Longcore et al. 2010), while more abundant or common species are ignored. Common species can also become rare in certain cases (Van Dyck et al. 2009), and without baseline data, land managers and agencies are forced to determine conservation strategies with limited knowledge of those populations (New et al. 1995). Therefore, not only is more butterfly data necessary for all species (Royer et al. 1998) but more rigorously collected and analyzed data is needed to provide accurate estimates that can be incorporated into modeling of resource use and selection (Pocewicz et al. 2009).

Research that increases the amount of data and improves conservation efforts across butterfly species should measure species' responses to ecological variables and provide quantifiable, unbiased information necessary for research-based conservation plans (Sutherland et al. 2004, Kery and Plattner 2007, Kral et al. 2018). Specifically, conservation plans need data that determines species' ecological responses to local and landscape variables (Pocewicz et al. 2009). Butterfly populations are influenced by different variables depending on scale and species (e.g., nectar resources, larval diet, connectivity; Samways 2007). Determining which variables are influential on abundance can inform conservation strategies by identifying advantageous management strategies and specific resources necessary for life stage requirements (Habel et al. 2016). In addition, plans need true density estimates that account for both individuals detected and those not detected but likely present, especially for species of conservation

concern (Isaac et al. 2011). True density estimates provide land managers and policy makers the accurate and defendable population estimates necessary for conservation plans and legislation (New et al. 1995, Pollock et al. 2002, Pellet 2008).

Butterfly density is influenced by both landscape and local variables (Davis et al. 2007), with species' responses often dependent on their life history requirements (e.g., facultative or obligate; Vickery and Herkert 1999). Landscape variables such as land cover are drivers of butterfly density because they regulate species' colonization and extinction (Sweaney et al. 2014, Fourcade et al. 2017, Bartomeus et al. 2018). Common landscape variables that have been shown to influence butterfly density and abundance are road density and crop cover (Davis et al. 2007, Ekroos et al. 2010). However, common local variables shown to influence butterflies include floral abundance, plant community composition, vegetation height, and litter ground cover (Davis et al. 2007, Poyry et al. 2009, Habel et al. 2016). Because local variables often directly measure host and nectar resource availability (Collinge et al. 2003, Wallisdevries et al. 2012, Farhat et al. 2014), they are expected to significantly impact butterfly density more than landscape variables (Mazerolle and Villard 1999, van Halder et al. 2017, but see Sweaney et al. 2014).

Landscape and local variables that impact butterfly density, once identified, can be used to direct management and conservation decisions. Implementing management strategies are often more applicable at the local scale compared to the landscape scale (Cowlishaw et al. 2009). Nonetheless, landscape variables play a critical role in conservation management and can affect or mask local variables and subsequent species' responses (Papankolaou et al. 2017). For example, butterfly density is expected to decrease if local resources are not available at the site level, but species' densities may remain constant if the surrounding landscape provides necessary resources (van Halder et al. 2017). Similar interactions are observed in other obligate grassland species such as Great Prairie-Chickens, where conservation efforts focus on different scales depending on landscape filters and habitat suitability (Hovick et al. 2015). Therefore, modeling species' responses to local and landscape resources at multiple scales is both appropriate and necessary to inform conservation efforts (Pocewicz et al. 2009, Bennett and Gratton 2012).

Conservation efforts for butterflies can be improved through multi-species, multi-scale research that focuses on modeling ecological and management variables of interest (New et al. 1995, Pollock et al.

2002, Pellet 2008, Pocewicz et al. 2009). Our objectives were to 1) quantify true density estimates with line-transect distance sampling (LTDS), and 2) model local and landscape variables that may affect butterfly density in mixed-grass prairies of the Northern Great Plains, USA. Therefore, our results will inform important data gaps in the Northern Great Plains for facultative and obligate grassland butterflies, including species of conservation concern like the monarch (*Danaus plexippus*, L. 1758) and regal fritillary (*Speyeria idalia*, Drury 1773), providing critical data for imperiled pollinators proposed for listing under the Endangered Species Act (USFWS 2017). Our data on both declining and more abundant species will form a crucial foundation for current and future grassland butterfly conservation efforts and policy formation.

Methods

Study area and site selection

We collected data primarily in North Dakota with additional sites in South Dakota and Minnesota, USA (Figure 6). Across the region, temperatures vary from -17 to 23 °C, averaging 5.5 °C (USDA-NRCS 2015). The area receives most of its precipitation during the growing season along a strong east to west gradient that averages 69 cm in the east to 36 cm in the west. Historically, the plant community also followed an east-west gradient where tallgrass prairie in the east was composed mostly of native, warm-season grasses, and the western mixed-grass prairie was dominated by native, cool-season grasses (Prosser et al. 2003, USDA-NRCS 2015). Invasive, cool-season grasses such as smooth brome (*Bromus inermis* Leyss.) and Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.), have invaded grasslands, reducing native plant cover (Murphy and Grant 2005).

We focused site selection on federally managed U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) refuges within our study region that had enough terrestrial area to conduct surveys (\geq 20 ha; Kral et al. *In Review*). From these available sites, we randomly selected 20 sites to survey in 2015, and we expanded our survey efforts to include some privately-owned and non-governmental organization sites in 2016 (n = 25) and in 2017 (n = 26). We surveyed 35 unique sites in total over three years.

Butterfly surveys

Within each site, we randomly placed two, 100 m transects. We adjusted points if necessary (e.g., random point was too close to open water or edge to fit survey area). We surveyed each site three

times between June and early August rotating the time of day and order of surveys to reduce temporal biases. We conducted surveys during optimal field conditions for butterflies— between 0900 and 1800 hours (CDT), when air temperatures were between 21 - 35 °C, winds were under 25 km \cdot hr⁻¹, and cloud cover was less than 50% to maximize detectability (Royer et al. 1998). Two observers (KCK being the primary observer each year) surveyed two, randomly placed 100 m transects at each site, with each observer surveying one transect. Observers rotated between transects on subsequent visits to reduce observer bias.



Figure 6. Location of butterfly surveys conducted from 2015-2017 in Minnesota, North Dakota, and South Dakota, USA. In total, we surveyed 35 sites, visiting each site three times in the year(s) it was surveyed.

We conducted butterfly surveys using LTDS (Moranz et al. 2012). Line-transect distance sampling allows us to calculate true density estimates by accounting for individuals observed and those

not observed but likely present by incorporating detection functions (Buckland et al. 2001, Pocewicz et al. 2009). Utilizing detection functions are extremely valuable for butterfly conservation and reduce biases associated with abundance indices (Nowicki et al. 2008), but methods that incorporate detection functions are generally rare in butterfly research (Kral et al. 2018). To meet assumptions of LTDS, observers had to 1) detect all butterflies on the line, 2) detect butterflies at their initial location, and 3) accurately record distances from butterflies to the line (Buckland et al. 2001). Observers were trained and calibrated before each field season on estimating distances. Observers walked the two transects marked with a measuring tape at a slow rate (~10 m \cdot min⁻¹) to maximize butterfly detectability. When a butterfly was detected, observers estimated the perpendicular distance from each individual butterfly to the transect. If a butterfly could not be identified, observers marked their stopping point on the transect, took a picture or captured the butterfly with a net, and then resumed the survey at the stopped point.

Landscape and local variables

We created 1,000 and 2,500 m buffers around each survey site (Bergman et al. 2004, Pocewicz et al. 2009) and determined land cover in those buffers using USGS National Land cover datasets in ArcGIS (v. 10.2, ESRI 2013). We used two different sized buffers since butterflies respond to landscape variables at different scales (Krauss et al. 2003). Within each buffer, we quantified the percentage of major cover types including perennial grasslands, wetlands, hay grounds, open water, croplands, and developments (roads, buildings, etc.). We also used the land cover data to calculate landscape development indices (LDI), a measurement of human disturbance, for each site across both buffers to combine land cover and use into one metric (Brown and Vivas 2005). Landscape development indices weigh landscapes with more human development (e.g., croplands, urban areas) higher than landscapes with less development (grasslands, wetlands, open water).

At the local level, we collected site specific plant community data to quantify resource availability for butterflies. We counted the number of flowering ramets in 2.5×2.5 m belts along transects during each survey to obtain nectar resource density (Moranz et al. 2012). We also used a Robel pole and 1 m² quadrat frames to measure vegetation height and estimate species canopy cover during peak plant production in late July. Every 20 m along the line transect (6 points), we measured visual obstruction with a Robel pole (Robel et al. 1970) and visually estimated canopy cover to the nearest percent and placed

them in cover class (0-5, 5-10,10-20, 20-30, 30-40, 40-50, 50-60, 60-70, 70-80, 80-90, 90-95, and 95-100). We also recorded current management strategies as grazed (16 sites), burned and grazed (3 sites), burned and no graze (7 sites), hayed (1 sites), and idled (8 sites) at each site visit and broadly grouped management strategies as disturbance or no disturbance as we did not impose treatments.

Density estimates

We used LTDS data in Program Distance (v. 6.2, Thomas et al. 2010) to model detection functions and calculate true density estimates across all sites (global density) and at the site level (site density) for species detected at least 30 times (Stanbury and Gregory 2009). To increase the number of species with density estimates, we pooled species detections across sites and years (Pocewicz et al. 2009). Additionally, we used Program Distance to quantify effective strip width from our data. Effective strip width (ESW) allows us to determine the approximate area proficiently surveyed for each species, as ESW describes the distance from the transect where the probability of detecting individuals outside that distance is as likely as not detecting individuals inside the distance (Thomas et al. 2002).

Program Distance fits a model detection function to determine the probability of detecting an individual at a certain distance from the transect using the distribution of perpendicular distance estimates from the line transect (Buckland et al. 2001, Powell et al. 2007). Specifically, we used multiple covariate distance sampling (MCDS) to create several models with a combination of half-normal and hazard-rate key functions and cosine and Hermite polynomial series expansions (Thomas et al. 2010, Harms and Dinsmore 2012). Moreover, we incorporated site variables collected prior to each survey such as cloud cover, temperature, and observer to improve density estimates (Pocewicz et al. 2009). We selected models for each species based on Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) adjusted for small sample sizes (AICc) and Chi-square (*X*²) goodness-of-fit test scores (Buckland et al. 2001, Burnham and Anderson 2002, Pocewicz et al. 2009). After we selected the best model for each species, we stratified density estimates for each species by site. Additionally, we categorized species based on their dependence on grasslands (facultative or obligate) using descriptions from Glassberg (2001) and Royer (2003). Previously, grassland butterflies have been categorized as either disturbance tolerant or habitat specialists (Reeder et al. 2005, Davis et al. 2007, Smith and Cherry 2014). However, these categories

mask the role disturbance has in maintaining open areas and host plant requirements for grassland specialists (Moranz et al. 2014).

Analysis

We used generalized linear modeling (GLM) with a Poisson distribution to model the influence of landscape and local variables on butterfly site density using the 'lmer' package in the R statistical environment (Pocewicz et al. 2009, van Dyck et al. 2009, Bates et al. 2015; R Development Core Team 2015). Our *a priori* landscape variables included the cover of perennial grassland, wetland, open water, hay ground, cropland, development, and LDI at the 1,000-m and 2,500-m scale, and our *a priori* vegetation variables included ramet density, visual obstruction, plant species richness, plant species diversity, flowering forb species richness, flowering forb species diversity, percent litter, percent invasive grass species cover (IGC), invasive forb species cover (IFC), host plant cover for *D. plexippus* (milkweeds; *Asclepias* spp.) and fritillary species (violets; *Viola* spp.), and disturbance (Table 4). We tested for correlations among variables and eliminated variables that were highly correlated ($r \ge 0.60$; Marini et al. 2009, Harms et al. 2014). Notably, LDI was negatively correlated with remaining landscape variables.

We used a hierarchical approach to create butterfly density models, starting at the largest landscape scale and progressively incorporating variables from decreasing scales. We created models by including variables at the 2,500-m landscape scale and compared univariate models to a null model. We joined univariate models to make additive models if ΔAIC_c was less than the null and within 2 ΔAIC_c of the best model (Burnham and Anderson 2002). The best model at the 2,500-m scale became the base model moving forward. We then followed this same procedure of incorporating univariate and additive models at the 1,000-m scale for variables not included and not correlated with variables at the 2,500-m scale. We repeated this process for local variables, comparing null, univariate, and additive models in combination with significant landscape variables from both scales. If univariate models at any scale were less informative than the null model, we did not include those variables in additive models. Final model selections for each species were based on model weights and AIC_c scores (Burnham and Anderson 2002).

Level	Variable	Mean (SE)	Range	Variable Description
	NAT	0.63 (0.03)	0.29-0.89	Percent perennial grassland cover in 2,500 m buffers
2,500-m landscape scale	WET	0.09 (0.02)	0.00-0.64	Percent wetlands in 2,500 m buffers
	WAT	0.13 (0.01)	0.00-0.40	Percent open water in 2,500 m buffers
	HAY	0.03 (0.01)	0.00-0.09	Percent hay grounds in 2,500 m buffers
	CROP	0.18 (0.03)	0.00-0.58	Percent croplands in 2,500 m buffers
	DEV	0.03 (0.01)	0.00-0.12	Percent developments in 2,500 m buffers
	LDI	1.88 (0.10)	1.03-3.25	Landscape Development Index score based on land use and cover in 2,500 m buffers
	NAT	0.72 (0.02)	0.37-0.93	Percent perennial grassland cover in 1,000 m buffers
	WET	0.12 (0.03)	0.00-0.85	Percent wetlands in 1,000 m buffers
1,000-m	WAT	0.12 (0.01)	0.00-0.31	Percent open water in 1,000 m buffers
landscape	HAY	0.02 (0.01)	0.00-0.08	Percent hay grounds in 1,000 m buffers
scale	CROP	0.11 (0.02)	0.00-0.36	Percent croplands in 1,000 m buffers
	DEV	0.03 (0.01)	0.00-0.11	Percent developments in 1,000 m buffers
	LDI	1.62 (0.07)	1.00-2.50	Landscape Development Index score based on land use and cover in 1,000 m buffers
	VOR	2.35 (0.13)	1.12-4.08	Average visual obstruction reading to quantity vegetation structure measured at six locations
	RD	165 (14.0)	30.0-419	Average number of flowering forbs in 500 m ² belt transects
	PR	24.0 (1.10)	9.00-39.0	Average number of individual plant species recorded in 12-1 m ² quadrats
	PD	0.81 (0.01)	0.58-0.92	Average plant species diversity measured with Simpson's diversity index in 12- 1 m ² quadrats
	FR	28.0 (1.31)	13.0-45.0	Average number of individual flowering forb species recorded in 500 m ² belt transects
Local scale	FD	0.77 (0.02)	0.34-0.93	Average flowering forb diversity measured with Simpson's diversity index in 500 m ² belt transects
	LIT	13.9 (1.22)	1.50-36.8	Average percent litter canopy cover using 12-1 m ² quadrats
	PER.NN	42.6 (2.98)	6.97-69.9	Average percent non-native canopy cover using 12-1 m ² quadrats
	IGC	39.1 (2.63)	6.81-60.2	Average percent invasive grass canopy cover using 12-1 m ² quadrats
	IFC	3.44 (1.16)	0.00-37.1	Average percent invasive forb canopy cover using 12-1 m ² quadrats
	ASCSPP	0.40 (0.09)	0.00-1.79	Average percent Asclepias spp. canopy cover using 12-1 m ² quadrats
	VP	0.31 (0.08)	0.00-1.00	Presence (1) or absence (0) of Viola spp. using 12-1 m ² quadrats
	DIS	0.43 (0.07)	0.00-1.00	Site managed with disturbance (1) or no disturbance (0)

Table 4. Summary statistics and descriptions for landscape and local variables used in density models for butterflies detected in the Northern Great Plains from 2015-2017.

Results

We detected over 2,300 butterflies representing 38 species from 2015-2017 during LTDS surveys. Of the 38 species, 15 met our minimum threshold of 30 detections and were used for density estimates (Table 5). We found the hazard-rate key function with the cosine series expansion to be the best model for 9 of 15 species' density models, while the remaining six used various combinations of hazard-rate and half-normal key functions with the Hermite polynomial series expansion. Global density estimates ranged from 0.29 to 8.70 individuals \cdot ha⁻¹, averaging 2.91 individuals \cdot ha⁻¹ (Figure 7). Effective strip width (ESW) also varied between species, ranging from 1.71 to 11.4 m (Figure 7). Facultative grassland species had an average density of 2.66 individuals \cdot ha⁻¹ (Figure 7a), whereas obligate grassland species had an average density of 3.40 individuals \cdot ha⁻¹ (Figure 7b).

Table 5. Scientific and common names for species detected at least 30 times using line-transect distance sampling in the Northern Great Plains from 2015-2017. Habitat associations (obligate or facultative) are included for each species and based on habitat descriptions from Glassberg (2001) and Rover (2003).

Scientific Name	Common Name	Habitat Association	3-Yr Total
Boloria bellona, Fabricius 1775	Meadow fritillary	Obligate	75
Cercyonis pegala, Fabricius 1775	Common wood nymph	Obligate	448
Coenonympha tullia, Muller 1764	Common ringlet	Obligate	112
Colias eurytheme, Boisduval, 1852	Orange sulphur	Facultative	365
Colias philodice, Godart, 1819	Clouded sulphur	Facultative	347
Danaus plexippus, L. 1758	Monarch	Facultative	63
<i>Plebejus melissa</i> , Edwards 1873	Melissa blue	Facultative	113
Phyciodes cocyta, Cramer 1777	Northern crescent	Facultative	38
Phyciodes tharos, Drury 1773	Pearl crescent	Facultative	83
Pieris rapae, L. 1758	Cabbage white	Facultative	132
Polites mystic, Edwards 1863	Long dash	Obligate	63
Speyeria aphrodite, Fabricius 1787	Aphrodite fritillary	Facultative	162
Speyeria cybele, Fabricius 1775	Great spangled fritillary	Facultative	30
Speyeria idalia, Drury 1773	Regal fritillary	Obligate	84
Vanessa cardui, L. 1758	Painted lady	Facultative	134
Total			2,249



Figure 7. Species density estimates (± 95% CI) and effective strip width (ESW) in meters for 15 species in the Northern Great Plains. Estimates were calculated using Program Distance for any species that had over 30 detections from 2015-2017. Species are categorized as Facultative (a) or Obligate (b) grasslands species based on Glassberg (2001).

Landscape variables

Each species had competitive multivariate models (Table 6; Table A2), and of the 20 variables we measured, 15 were found to be significant for at least one of our focal species. At the landscape level, our best-ranked models for four species included variables exclusively at the 2,500-m scale, and five other species only included variables at the 1,000-m scale (Table 6; Table A2). The remaining six species

included landscape variables from both scales (Table 6; Table A2). LDI, which increases as cropland cover increases and perennial grassland cover decreases, was included in over half of the density models, although the relationship between LDI and species density was mixed for facultative and obligate species (Table 6). As LDI increased, facultative grassland species' densities increased, and obligate species' densities decreased, although *Coenonympha tullia* (obligate species) and *D. plexippus* (facultative species) were exceptions. Wetland cover was also included in over half of our species' models (Table 6). However, conversely to LDI, densities for facultative species decreased as percent wetlands increased, but three of the five obligate species influenced by wetland cover increased as wetland cover increased (Table 6).

Local variables

Important local variables included in our best-ranked models were ramet density, forb and plant species richness, invasive plant species cover, and disturbance (Table 6, Table A2). Ramet density, forb richness, plant richness, and disturbance were included in 10 best-ranked models and positively influenced species density regardless of species' habitat associations (i.e., facultative or obligate). Therefore, density estimates increased with increasing ramet density, forb richness, and plant richness, along with disturbance versus no disturbance (Table 6). Conversely, the influence of invasive plant species (IGC and IFC) on butterfly species were mixed, with no clear patterns among facultative and obligate butterfly density estimates (Table 6). VOR was included in best-ranked models exclusively for two obligate species (i.e., no facultative species were influenced by VOR). However, VOR had mixed impacts on obligate species' density (one positive and one negative), depending on the individual species. Despite predictions, *Boloria bellona* was the only species that included host plant in the best-ranked model. When *Viola* spp. were present, *B. bellona* density increased (Table 6).

Table 6. Results from generalized linear modeling for ten facultuative and five obligate grassland butterfly species in the Northern Great Plains from 2015-2017 using statistically significant ($p \le 0.05$) landscape (2,500-m and 1,000-m scale) and local variables. Species are separated by broad groups of facultative and obligate grassland species. Variables that were influential at the landscape scale include LDI and wetland cover (WET) while influential local variables included forb richness (FR) invasive species cover (IGC, IEC) and disturbance management (DIS)

	Landscape Variables									Local Variables									
		2,5	500-m s	scale				1,000	-m scal	е									
Species	L DI	WET	HAY	WAT	DEV	LDI	WET	HAY	WAT	DEV	VOR	RD	FR	PR	LIT	VP	IGC	IFC	DIS
Facultative																			
Colias							-					Ŧ	Ŧ						
eurytheme							_					т	т						
Colias					-	-	-		–				.						–
philodice						т			т				т						т
Danaus	-							-	-										
plexippus																			
Pieris rapae	+		-											+					
Phyciodes			+			+												+	
cocyta			-															-	
Phyciodes	+												+				+	+	
tharos	-												-				-	-	
Plebejus			+		-	+	-								+				+
melissa																			
Speyeria		-	-									+		+	-			-	+
aphrodite																			
Speyeria									-				+						
Cybele																			
vanessa	+		+														-		
Obligato																			
Boloria						[
bollona						-	+					+				+			
Cercyonis																			
negala	-		+	+	+		+						+				+		
Coenonympha																			
tullia						+	-			+								-	+
Polites mystic							-				-				-		-		
Speveria idalia							-				- T				_		т		

Density models for species of conservation concern

The final best-ranked density models for species of conservation concern did not share any landscape or local variables. *Danaus plexippus* density was negatively influenced by LDI (2,500-m scale), percent hay (1,000-m scale), and percent water (1,000-m scale), but no local features improved our models (Figure 8; Table A2). At the largest scale (2,500-m), *D. plexippus* density decreased with increasing LDI (Figure 8). Similarly, as hay ground and open water cover increased in the landscape, *D. plexippus* density decreased (Figure 8). Unlike *D. plexippus*, *S. idalia* density was influenced by both landscape and local variables (Figure 8; Table A2). *Speyeria idalia* density increased as the cover of wetland (1,000-m scale) increased and as VOR decreased at the local scale (Figure 8).

Discussion

Effective conservation planning and management of butterfly populations relies on rigorous, quantitative data and informed modeling (Sutherland et al. 2004, Haddad et al. 2008). We quantified density estimates for 15 grassland butterflies in the Northern Great Plains, USA, using LTDS and identified local and landscape variables affecting these populations. Our results indicate that landscape variables were more informative in determining butterfly densities than local variables, which contrasts many previous findings (Mazerolle and Villard 1999, Pocewicz et al. 2009). Overall, our most informative landscape variables included LDI and wetland cover. Four facultative and two obligate species responded negatively while three obligate species responded positively to increasing wetland cover. For LDI, six facultative and one obligate responded positively and one facultative and two obligate species responded negatively to increasing LDI. At finer, local scales, forb richness and ramet density positively influenced butterfly density. Specifically, densities for D. plexippus increased as LDI and the cover of hay ground and water decreased. Additionally, densities for S. idalia increased as the cover of wetlands at the landscape level increased and vegetation height at the local scale decreased. Neither of these species of conservation concern were influenced by their obligate host plants, although landscape-level variables could affect local host plant availability (e.g., Flockhart et al. 2014). The variability in species responses stresses the importance of managing at the local scale for variability and heterogeneity while reducing fragmentation at the landscape scale (Robinson et al. 2014, Hovick et al. 2015).



Figure 8. Coefficients (\pm 95% CI) from the best-ranked species density models based on AIC_c scores and model weight for *Danaus plexippus* and *Speyeria idalia*, two species of conservation concern, using data collected in the Northern Great Plains from 2015-2017. Variables are designated as either landscape (2,500-m or 1,000-m scales) or local scales.

We provide true density estimates for 10 facultative and 5 obligate grassland butterflies in the Northern Great Plains. True density estimates are rare for butterflies (Kral et al. 2018) but allow researchers and land managers to incorporate detection functions which improves our ability to monitor populations, compare across studies, and provide accurate numbers for conservation planning and policy (Brown and Boyce 1998, Pellet 2008). Our density estimates for several species were much lower than true density estimates from another Northern Great Plains study which found densities for species included in our study to be over 100 individuals · ha⁻¹ (Bendel et al. 2018). However, estimates for species of conservation concern (*D. plexippus* and *S. idalia*) were much more similar. All of our density estimates were under 10 individuals · ha⁻¹, similar for overlapping species in Idaho and Iowa that also used distance sampling (Pocewicz et al. 2009, Moranz et al. 2012).

Landscape variables were more common in our models than local variables. LDI was included in models for two-thirds of our species. As LDI increased, seven species' densities increased (six facultative and one obligate), and three species' densities decreased (one facultative and two obligate). Since species were mostly facultative grassland butterflies, they are expected to respond well to disturbance and may use crops for nectar and larval resources (Bartomeus et al. 2018). Wetlands were included in nine best-ranked models for species density. Obligate species that are expected to utilize moist prairie to find host plants responded positively to wetlands (Glassberg 2001, Cozzi et al. 2008), but most facultative species had lower densities as wetland cover increased. Facultative butterflies may avoid wetlands in the region due to increases in predatory odonates (Batzer and Wissinger 1996) or microclimate changes between wetlands and uplands (Turlure et al. 2010). But without necessary species' information and microclimate data, we are unable to better inform our models. Another likely explanation for reduced densities with increasing wetlands depends on diet. Several facultative species utilize alfalfa (Medicago sativa L.) for host and nectar resources (Royer 2003), but alfalfa is unavailable in wetlands due to moisture levels (USDA-NRCS 2017). Landscape variables are commonly expected to be a secondary influence on butterfly density compared to local variables (Mazerolle and Villard 1999, van Halder et al. 2017), but our results showed how landscape variables influence local vegetation variables related to species' habitat quality (van Halder et al. 2017).

Local variables were not consistently included in species' best-rank models. Host plant was only included for one obligate species, and ramet density was included for three facultative species, although we expected increasing these variables would increase many species' densities (Curtis et al. 2015, Habel et al. 2016). Additionally, vegetation height, measured with VOR, influenced two obligate species, one positively and one negatively. Structure is a significant variable for obligate grassland species across

multiple taxa, with varying structure supporting diverse communities (Davis 2004), and butterflies were no exception. We expected invasive plants to negatively influence obligate grassland butterflies because invasive plants reduce native plant species used for host and nectar resources (Wolf et al. 2003, Moranz et al. 2012). Yet, species responses to invasive grasses (IGC) and invasive forbs (IFC) could not be explained by habitat associations. Invasive plants had mixed effects on facultative and obligate species, but we could discern patterns when grouped by larval diet. Larvae that consume Poaceae positively responded to IGC, whereas larvae that consume Asteraceae positively responded to IFC. At low to medium levels of invasion, invasive plants can provide larval and adult resources, but problems are likely to occur as invasion levels increase (Kalarus and Nowicki 2015). Because they relate to species' habitat quality, local variables are expected to influence butterfly density (Collinge et al. 2003, Poyry et al. 2009, Wallisdevries et al. 2012, Farhat et al. 2014), but the realized relationship changes between species and specific traits.

Density models for *D. plexippus* and *S. idalia* did not include their host plants—milkweed and violets, respectively—contrary to expectations (Flockhart et al. 2014, Caven et al. 2017). However, we only measured host plant availability at the local scale, and landscape variables included for both species can relate to host plant availability. For example, *D. plexippus* was the only facultative species negatively influenced by LDI. Increasing cropland cover often coincides with increased herbicide use, which decreases milkweed availability in these landscapes (Flockhart et al. 2014). Similarly, *S. idalia* was positively influenced by wetlands at the landscape scale and decreasing vegetation height (VOR) at the local scale. Wetlands are often associated with violets (Glassberg 2001), and lower VOR is better for ovipositing females (Habel et al. 2016). Although *D. plexippus* and *S. idalia* did not respond to their host plants at the local level directly, they are considered stronger dispersers (Sekar 2011) and may be responding to resource availability at broader scales, demonstrating the importance of modeling at multiple scales.

Our goal for modeling grassland butterfly density estimates was to find important connections and generate future hypothesis testing. We do not mean for our models to be predictive because we did not validate our models (Roberts et al. 2017), but this does not discount their ability to aid butterfly species' conservation. Concerns often exist that models may not always directly align with resource availability.

For instance, fewer bees are found in bee bowls placed in flower-dense areas because bees can use adjacent flowers and are less attracted to traps (Baum and Wallen 2011). We could be observing similar relationships with some of our density models. *Polites mystic* are associated with wet areas (Glassberg 2001), but we found they had a negative relationship with the cover of wetlands. Since transects did not go through wetlands, we could be observing a negative region where *P. mystic* were not near line transects because they were in wetlands. However, remaining variables in the *P. mystic* model biologically made sense for the species. Future modeling efforts may benefit from mapping local resource patches to increase the ability of models to include even more scales (i.e., local plant, patch resource, landscape cover) and discern how smaller-scale resource patch heterogeneity influence butterflies, as cover at the landscape scale may be measured too coarsely (Mac Nally et al. 2003, Bartomeus et al. 2018).

Conclusions

Research to improve conservation efforts for butterflies is increasing, but accurate density estimates are still mostly unavailable for butterflies in the USA (Kral et al. 2018, but see Henry et al. 2015, Bendel et al. 2018). We calculated true density estimates for 15 grassland butterfly species and modeled their densities using landscape and local variables to improve conservation strategies and generate future research questions. We found landscape variables were more influential than local variables, unlike previous research (van Halder et al. 2017). Overall, densities for species of conservation concern (*D. plexippus* and *S. idalia*) and obligate grassland butterflies decreased in areas with more croplands. Local scale management is still vital to maintain ramet density and generate structural diversity to improve habitat quality for obligate species such as *S. idalia*. However, even if local host and nectar resources are available, they may not sustain butterflies if the surrounding landscape adversely impacts a species (Krauss et al. 2003, Robinson et al. 2014). Our results reiterate the importance of maintaining local resources for butterflies but highlight the significance and necessity of conserving large, intact landscapes with minimal crop cover to positively influence obligate grassland butterfly density.

References

- Bartomeus, I., Cariveau, D.P., Harrison, T., Winfree, R., 2018. On the inconsistency of pollinator species traits for predicting either response to land-use change or functional contribution. Oikos 127, 306-315. 10.1111/oik.04507
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B. Walker, S., 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1-48.
- Batzer, D.P., Wissinger, S.A., 1996. Ecology of insect communities in nontidal wetlands. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 41, 75-100. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.en.41.010196.000451
- Baum, K.A., Wallen, K.E., 2011. Potential bias in pan trapping as a function of floral abundance. J.Kansas Entomol. Soc. 84, 155-159. https://doi.org/10.2317/JKES100629.1
- Bendel, C.R., Hovick, T.J., Limb, R.F., Harmon, J.P., 2018. Variation in grazing management practices supports diverse butterfly communities across grassland working landscapes. J. Insect Conserv., https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-017-0041-9.
- Bennett, A.B., Gratton, C., 2012. Local and landscape scale variables impact parasitoid assemblages across an urbanization gradient. Landsc. Urban Plan. 104, 26-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.09.007
- Bergman, K., Askling, J., Ekberg, O., Ignell, H., Wahlman, H., Milberg, P., 2004. Effects on butterfly assemblage in an agricultural region. *Ecography* 27, 619-628. 10.1111/j.0906-7590.2004.03906.x
- Brook, B.W., Sodhi, N.S., Bradshaw, C.J.A., 2008. Synergies among extinction drivers under global change. Trends Ecol. Evolut. 23, 453-460. 10.1016/j.tree.2008.03.011
- Brown, J.A., Boyce, M.S., 1998. Line transect sampling of Karner blue butterflies (Lycaeides melissa samuelis). Environ. Ecol. Stat. 5, 81-91.10.1023/A:1009620105039
- Brown, M.T., Vivas, M.B., 2005. Landscape development intensity index. Environ. Monit. Assess. 101, 289-309. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-005-0296-6
- Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D.R., Burnham, K.P., 2001. Introduction to distance sampling: estimating abundance of biological populations. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., 2002. Model selection and multi-model inference: a practical informationtheoretic approach. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature 486, 59-67. 10.1038/nature11148
- Caven, A.J., King, K.C., Wiese, J.D., Buckley, E.M.B., 2017. A descriptive analysis of Regal Fritillary (Speyeria idalia) habitat utilizing biological monitoring data along the big bend of the Platte River, NE. J. Insect Conserv. 21, 183-205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-017-9968-0
- Collinge, S.K., Prudic, K.L., Oliver, J.C., 2003. Effects of local habitat characteristics and landscape context on grassland butterfly diversity. Conserv. Biol. 17, 78-187. 10.1046/j.1523-1739.2003.01315.x
- Cowlishaw, G., Pettifor, R.A., Isaac, N.J.B., 2009. High variability in patterns of population decline: the importance of local processes in species extinctions. Proc. R. Soc. B. 276, 63-69. 10.1098/rspb.2008.0767
- Cozzi, G., Muller, C.B., Krauss, J., 2008. How do local habitat management and landscape structure at different spatial scales affect fritillary butterfly distribution on fragmented wetlands? Landsc. Ecol. 23, 269-283. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-007-9178-3
- Curtis, R.J., Brereton, T.M., Dennis, R.L.H., Carbone, C., Isaac, N.J.B., 2015. Butterfly abundance is determined by food availability and is mediated by species traits. J. Appl. Ecol. 52, 1676-1684. 10.1111/1365-2664.12523
- Davis, J.D., Debinski, D.M., Danielson, B.J., 2007. Local and landscape effects on the butterfly community in fragmented Midwest USA prairie habitats. Landsc. Ecol. 22, 1341-1354. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-007-9111-9
- Davis, J.D., Hendrix, S.D., Debinski, D.M., Hemsley, C.J., 2008. Butterfly, bee and forb community composition and cross-taxon incongruence in tallgrass prairie fragments. J. Insect Conserv. 12, 69-79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-006-9063-4

- Davis, S.K., 2004. Area sensitivity in grassland passerines: effects of patch size, patch shape, and vegetation structure on bird abundance and occurrence in southern Saskatchewan. Auk 121, 1130-1145. https://doi.org/10.1642/0004-8038(2004)121[1130:ASIGPE]2.0.CO;2
- Ekroos, J., Heliola, J., Kuussaari, M., 2010. Homogenization of lepidopteran communities in intensively cultivated agricultural landscapes. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 459-467. 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01767.x
- ESRI. 2013. ArcGIS 10.2 for Desktop. ESRI Inc. website: http://www.esri.com.
- Farhat, Y.A., Janousek, W.M., McCarty, J.P., Rider, N., LaReesa Wolfenbarger, L., 2014. Comparison of butterfly communities and abundances between marginal grasslands and conservation lands in the eastern Great Plains. J. Insect Conserv. 18, 245-256. doi: 10.1007/s10841-014-9635-7
- Flockhart, D.T.F., Pichancourt, J.B., Norris, D.R., Martin, T.G., 2014. Unravelling the annual cycle in a migratory animal: breeding-season habitat loss drives population declines of monarch butterflies.J. Anim. Ecol. 84, 155-165. 10.1111/1365-2656.12253
- Fourcade, Y., Ranius, T., Ockinger, E., 2017. Temperature drives abundance fluctuations, but spatial dynamics is constrained by landscape configuration: implications for climate-driven range shift in a butterfly. J. Anim. Ecol. 86, 1339-1351. 10.1111/1365-2656.12740
- Glassberg, J. 2001. Butterflies through binoculars: the west. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Habel, J.C., Bruchmann, S.V., Krauss, J., Schwarzer, J., Weig, A., Husemann, M., Steffan-Dewenter, I.,
 2015. Fragmentation genetics of the grassland butterfly Polyommatus cordon: stable genetic
 diversity or extinction debt? Conserv. Genet. 16, 549-558. 10.1007/s10592-014-0679-8
- Haddad, N.M, Hudgens, B., Damiani, C., Gross, D., Kuefler, D., Pollock, K., 2008. Determining optimal population monitoring for rare butterflies. Conserv. Biol. 22, 929-940. 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.00932.x
- Harms, T.M., Dinsmore, S.J., 2012. Density and abundance of secretive marsh birds in Iowa. Waterbirds 35, 208-216. https://doi.org/10.1675/063.035.0203
- Harms, T.M., Kinkead, K.E., Dinsmore, S.J., 2014. Evaluating the effects of landscape configuration on the site occupancy and movement dynamics of odonates in Iowa. J. Insect Conserv. 18:307-315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9638-4

- Henry, E.H., Haddad, N.M., Wilson, J., Hughes, P., Gardner, B., 2015. Point-count methods to monitor butterfly populations when traditional methods fail: a case study with Miami blue butterfly. J.
 Insect Conserv. 19, 519-529. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-015-9773-6
- Hindle, B.J., Kerr, C.L., Richards, S.A., Willis, S.G., 2015. Topographical variation reduces phenological mismatch between a butterfly and its nectar source. J. Insect Conserv. 19, 227-236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9713-x
- Hovick, T.J., Elmore, R.D., Fuhlendorf, S.D., Dalgren, D.K., 2015. Weather constrains the influence of fire and grazing on nesting Greater Prairie-Chickens. Rangeland Ecol. Manag. 68, 186-193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2015.01.009
- Isaac, N.J.B., Cruickshanks, K.L., Weddle, A.M., Rowcliffe, J.M., Brereton, T.M., Dennis, R.L.H, Shuker, D.M., Thomas, C.D., 2011. Distance sampling and the challenge of monitoring butterfly populations. Methods Ecol. Evol. 2, 585-594. 10.1111/j.2041-210X.2011.00109.x
- Kalarus, K., Nowicki, P., 2015. How do landscape structure, management and habitat quality drive the colonization of habitat patches by the Dryad butterfly (Lepidoptera: Satyrinae) in fragmented grassland? PLoS ONE 10:e0138557. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138557
- Kery, M., Plattner, M., 2007. Species richness estimation and determinants of species detectability in butterfly monitoring programmes. Ecol. Entomol. 32, 53-61. 10.1111/j.1365-2311.2006.00841.x
- Kral, K., Harmon, J., Limb, R., Hovick, T., 2018. Improving our science: the evolution of butterfly sampling and surveying methods over time. J. Insect Conserv., https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-018-0046-z
- Krauss, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., 2003. How does landscape context contribute to effects of habitat fragmentation on diversity and population density of butterflies? J. Biogeogr. 30, 889-900. 10.1046/j.1365-2699.2003.00878.x
- Longcore, T., Lam, C.S., Kobernus, P., Polk, E., Wilson, J.P., 2010. Extracting useful data from imperfect monitoring schemes: endangered butterflies at San Bruno Mountain, San Mateo County, California (1982–2000) and implications for habitat management. J. Insect Conserv. 14, 335-346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-010-9263-9

- Lopez-Hoffman, L., Varady, R.G., Flessa, K.W., Balvanera, P., 2010. Ecosystem services across borders: a framework for transboundary conservation policy. Front. Ecol. Environ. 8, 84-91. 10.1890/070216
- Mac Nally, R., Fleishman, E., Fay, J.P., Murphy, D.D., 2003. Modelling butterfly species richness using mesoscale environmental variables: model construction and validation for mountain ranges in the Great Basin of western North America. Biol. Conserv. 110, 21-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(02)00172-6
- Marini, L., Fontana, P., Battisti, A., Gaston, K.J., 2009. Agricultural management, vegetation traits and landscape drive orthopteran and butterfly diversity in a grassland-forest mosaic: a multi-scale approach. Insect Conserv. Divers. 2, 213-220. 10.1111/j.1752-4598.2009.00053.x
- Mazerolle, M.J., Villard, M.A., 1999. Patch characteristics and landscape context as predictors of species presence and abundance: a review. Ecoscience 6, 117-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/11956860.1999.11952204
- Moranz, R.A., Fuhlendorf, S.D., Engle, D.M., 2014. Making sense of a prairie butterfly paradox: The effects of grazing, time since fire, and sampling period on regal fritillary abundance. Biol. Conserv. 173, 32-41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.03.003
- Moranz, R.A., Debinski, D.M., McGranahan, D.A., Engle, D.M., Miller, J.R., 2012. Untangling the effects of fire, grazing, and land-use legacies on grassland butterfly communities. Biodivers. Conserv. 21, 2719–2746. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-012-0330-2
- Murphy, R.K., Grant, T.A., 2005. Land Management History and Floristics in Mixed-Grass Prairie, North Dakota, USA. Nat. Area J. 25, 351-358.
- New, T.R., Pyle, R.M., Thomas, J.A., Thomas, C.D., Hammond, P.C., 1995. Butterfly conservation management. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 40, 57-83. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.en.40.010195.000421
- Nowicki, P., Settele, J., Henry, P.-Y., Woyciechowski, M., 2008. Butterfly monitoring methods: The ideal and the real world. Isr. J. Ecol. Evol. 54, 69-88. https://doi.org/10.1560/IJEE.54.1.69

- Papanikolaou, A.D., Kuhn, I., Frenzel, N., Kuhlmann, M., Poschlod, P., Potts, S.G., Roberts, S.P.M., Schweiger, O., 2017. Wild bee and floral diversity co-vary in response to the direct and indirect impacts of land use. Ecosphere 8, 1-14. 10.1002/ecs2.2008
- Pellet, J., 2008. Seasonal variation in detectability of butterflies surveyed with Pollard walks. J. Insect Conserv. 12, 155-162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-007-9075-8
- Pocewicz, A., Morgan, P., Eigenbrode, S.D., 2009. Local and landscape effects on butterfly density in northern Idaho grasslands and forests. J. Insect Conserv. 13, 593-601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-008-9209-7
- Pollock, K.H., Nichols, J.D., Simons, T.R., Farnsworth, G.L., Bailey, L.L., Sauer, J.R., 2002. Large scale wildlife monitoring studies: statistical methods for design and analysis. Environmetrics 13, 105-119. 10.1002/env.514
- Potts, S.G., Biesmeijer, J.C., Kremen, C., Neumann, P., Schweiger, O., Kunin, W.E., 2010. Global pollinator declines: trends, impacts and drivers. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25, 345-353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.01.007
- Powell, A.F.L.A., Busby, W.H., Kindscher, K., 2007. Status of the regal fritillary (Speyeria idalia) and effects of fire management on its abundance in northeastern Kansas, USA. J. Insect Conserv. 11: 299-308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-006-9045-6
- Poyry, J., Paukkunen, J., Helioelae, J., Kuussaari, M., 2009. Relative contributions of local and regional factors to species richness and total density of butterflies and moths in semi-natural grasslands. Oecologia 160, 577-587. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-009-1328-7
- Prosser, C.W., Sedivec, K.K., Barker, W.T., 2003. Plant community types and biodiversity on a military installation. Proc. South Dakota Acad. Sci. 82, 217-231.
- R Development Core Team, 2015. R: a language and environment for statistical computing [online]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org.
- Reeder, K.F., Debinski, D.M., Danielson, B.J., 2005. Factors affecting butterfly use of filter strips in Midwestern USA. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 109, 40-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2005.02.016

- Robel, R.J., Briggs, J.N., Dayton, A.D., Hulbert, L.C., 1970. Relationship between visual obstruction measurements and weight of grassland vegetation. J. Range Manag. 23, 295-297.
 10.2307/3896225
- Roberts, D.R., Bahn, V., Ciuti, S., Boyce, M.S., Elith, J., Guillera-Arroita, G., Hauenstein, S., Lahoz-Monfort, J.J., Schroder, B., Thuiller, W., Warton, D.I., Wintle, B.A., Hartig, F., Dormann, C.F., 2017. Cross-validation strategies for data with temporal, spatial, hierarchical, or phylogenetic structure. Ecography 40:913-929. 10.1111/ecog.02881
- Robinson, N., Kadlec, T., Bowers, M.D., Guralnick, R.P., 2014. Integrating species traits and habitat characteristics into models of butterfly diversity in a fragmented ecosystem. Ecol. Modell. 281, 15-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2014.01.022
- Roy, D.B., Ploquin, E.F., Randle, Z., Risely, K., Botham, M.S., Middlebrook, I., Noble, D., Cruickshanks,
 K., Freeman, S.N., Brereton, T.M., 2015. Comparison of trends in butterfly populations between
 monitoring schemes. J. Insect Conserv. 19, 313-324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9739-0
- Royer, R.A., 2003. Butterflies of North Dakota: an atlas and guide. Science Monograph Number Two, Minot State University. Minot, North Dakota.
- Royer, R.A., Austin, J.E., Newton, W.E., 1998. Checklist and "Pollard walk" butterfly survey methods on public lands. Am. Midl. Nat. 140:358-371. https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031(1998)140[0358:CAPWBS]2.0.CO;2
- Samways, M.J., 2007. Insect conservation: a synthetic management approach. Annu Rev Entomol 52: 465–87. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.52.110405.091317
- Sekar, S., 2011. A meta-analysis of the traits affecting dispersal ability in butterflies: can wingspan be used as a proxy? J. Anim. Ecol. 81, 174-184. 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01909.x
- Smith, L.M., Cherry, R., 2014. Effects of management techniques on grassland butterfly species composition and community structure. Am. Midl. Nat. 172, 227-235. https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031-172.2.227
- Stanbury, A., Gregory, R., 2009. Exploring the effects of truncated, pooled and sexed data in distance sampling estimation of breeding bird abundance. Bird Study 56, 298-309. https://doi.org/10.1080/00063650902792130

- Sutherland, W.J., Pullin, A.S., Dolman, P.M., Knight, T.M., 2004. The need for evidence-based conservation. Trends Ecol. Evol. 19: 305-308. 10.1016/j.tree.2004.03.018
- Sweaney, N., Lindenmayer, D.B., Driscoll, D.A., 2014. Is the matrix important to butterflies in fragmented landscapes?.J. Insect Conserv. 18, 283-294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9641-9
- Thomas, J.A., Telfer, M.G., Roy, D.B., Preston, C.D., Greenwood, J.J.D., Asher, J., Fox, R., Clarke, R.T., Lawton, J.H., 2004. Comparative losses of British butterflies, birds, and plants and the global extinction crisis. Science 303, 1879-1881. 10.1126/science.1095046
- Thomas, L., Buckland, S.T., Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., Laake, J.L., Borchers, D.L., Strindberg, S., 2002. Distance sampling, in: El-Shaarawi, A.H., Piegorsch, W.W. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Environmetrics, Volume 1. John Wiley and Sons, Ltd, Chichester, pp. 544-552.
- Thomas, L., Buckland, S.T., Rexstad, E.A., Laake, J.L., Strindberg, S., Hedley, S.L., Bishop, J.R.B., Marques, T.A., Burnham, K.P., 2010. Distance software: design and analysis of distance sampling surveys for estimating population size. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 5-14. 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01737.x
- Turlure, C., Choutt, J., Baguette, M., van Dyck, H., 2010. Microclimatic buffering and resource-based habitat in a glacial relict butterfly: significance for conservation under climate change. Glob. Chang. Biol. 16, 1883-1893. 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02133.x
- Urban, M.C., 2015. Accelerating extinction risk from climate change. Science 348, 571-573. 10.1126/science.aaa4984
- (USDA-NRCS) United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2015. Field Office Technical Guide.

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/national/technical/fotg/ (accessed 2 October 2015).

- (USDA-NRCS) United States Department of Agriculture-Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2017. *Medicago sativa* L. Alfalfa. https://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=MESA (accessed 18 October 2017).
- (USFWS) United States Fish and Wildlife Service, 2017. Assessing the status of the monarch butterfly. https://www.fws.gov/savethemonarch/SSA.html (accessed 25 Jan 2018).

- Van Dyck, H., Van Strien, A.J., Maes, D., Van Swaay, C.A.M., 2009. Declines in common, widespread butterflies in a landscape under intense human use. Conserv. Biol. 23, 957-965. 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2009.01175.x
- Van Halder, I., Thierry, M., Villemey, A., Ouin, A., Archaux, F., Barbaro, L., Balent, G., Benot, M.L., 2017. Trait-driven responses of grassland butterflies to habitat quality and matrix composition in mosaic agricultural landscapes. Insect Conserv. Divers. 10, 64-77. 10.1111/icad.12200
- Vickery, P.D., Herkert, J.R., 1999. Ecology and conservation of grassland birds of the western hemisphere. Allen Press, Inc., Lawrence, Kansas.
- Wallisdevries, M.F., Van Swaay, C.A.M., Plate, C.L., 2012. Changes in nectar supply: a possible cause of widespread butterfly decline. Curr. Zool. 58, 384-391. https://doi.org/10.1093/czoolo/58.3.384
- Weibull, A.C., Östman, Ö., Granqvist, Å., 2003. Species richness in agroecosystems: the effect of landscape, habitat and farm management. Biodivers. Conserv. 12, 1335-1355.
 10.1023/A:1023617117780
- Winfree, R., Bartomeus, I. Cariveau, D.P., 2011. Native pollinators in anthropogenic habitats. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 42, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102710-145042
- Wolf, J.J., Beatty, S.W., Carey, G., 2003. Invasion by sweet clover (Melilotus) in montane grasslands, Rocky Mountain National Park. Ann. Assoc. Am. Geogr. 93, 531-543.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8306.9303001

CHAPTER 3. BUTTERFLY COMMUNITY RESPONSES TO KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS INVASIONS Abstract

Rangeland management strategies impact biodiversity, the quality and quantity of ecosystem services, and overall rangeland resiliency. Previous management strategies, coupled with climate change, have led to exotic plant species invasions by Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis; bluegrass) in the Northern Great Plains, USA. Bluegrass invasions are expected to have detrimental impacts on ecosystem services provided by rangelands. Yet, few have investigated how bluegrass invasions influence pollinators, who provide arguably one of the most important ecosystem services. We measured the impact of bluegrass invasions on the grassland butterfly community, an indicator of biodiversity and provider of pollination services. We found that bluegrass had an overall negative effect on butterfly communities. Specifically, the butterfly community shifted to more facultative grassland species and fewer obligate grassland species as bluegrass cover increased. However, bluegrass did not significantly impact total butterfly abundance. Additionally, plant species diversity and flowering forb species richness also decreased as bluegrass cover increased. Overall, bluegrass invasion led to butterfly and plant community simplification, signaling a loss of biodiversity and potentially ecosystem services. Although bluegrass invasions were predicted to reduce plant species diversity and impact pollinators, our research is the first to quantify how grassland butterflies are negatively impacted by bluegrass. Resource managers should adopt management strategies that restore ecological processes like fire and grazing to reduce bluegrass cover, improve nectar and host resources for obligate grassland butterflies, and increase butterfly species richness. In doing so, the ability of rangelands to support vital ecosystem services provided by butterflies will improve.

Introduction

Rangelands provide a wide array of ecosystem services including food and fiber, pollination, nutrient and water cycling, and recreation (Havstad et al. 2007). As a result, land managers utilize strategies that allow them to capitalize on ecosystem services of interest. However, the way in which individuals manage rangelands in the United States has changed dramatically, even within the last century (Grant et al. 2009, Fuhlendorf et al. 2012). Prior to the Dust Bowl in the early 1930s, rangelands were commonly overgrazed to maximize livestock production (Hurt 1985). After the Dust Bowl,

overgrazing was discouraged to reduce rangeland degradation and prioritize increased rangeland sustainability (Holechek et al. 2004). This management shift was successful at reducing soil erosion and promoting sustainable livestock production with moderate, uniform grazing. However, uniform disturbance reduces heterogeneity and biodiversity (Hovick et al. 2015). Currently, resource managers are adopting management strategies to conserve patterns and processes of rangelands by restoring fire and grazing disturbances to increase heterogeneity and improve rangeland biodiversity (Fuhlendorf et al. 2012, Bowman et al. 2016). Each broad management change has had consequences for plant communities, grassland-dependent wildlife, and the provisioning of ecosystem services.

Resource managers in the Northern Great Plains removed livestock grazing and promoted rest as a management strategy starting in the mid-1930s to improve grassland bird resources (Grant et al. 2009). This management strategy was widely implemented on public lands to increase dense nesting cover for waterfowl and upland game bird production because livestock production was viewed at odds with wildlife conservation (Naugle et al. 2001, Murphy and Grant 2005, Bahm et al. 2011, Bullock et al. 2016). Although no longer a broadly applied policy after the 1990s (Grant et al. 2009), years of rest (idle management) created significant changes in these rangelands, including increased invasive plant species (Toledo et al. 2014, Limb et al. 2018). Plant community composition on US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) properties are dominated by several invasive species, including Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis* L.) which composes approximately 30% of the plant community on USFWS properties (Kobiela et al. 2017).

Kentucky bluegrass (hereafter bluegrass) is an exotic, cool-season grass that has invaded and spread across rangelands in the Northern Great Plains over the last several decades (DeKeyser et al. 2015). Bluegrass cover has increased both in rangelands with a history of idle management commonly found on public lands (Bahm et al. 2011) and on private lands that have been continuously grazed (Murphy and Grant 2005, Toledo et al. 2014). Bluegrass invades rangelands with both management strategies because it grows early in the spring before native cool-season grasses, the dominant vegetation in the region (Prosser et al. 2003), and spreads rapidly mainly via vegetative reproduction (Cully et al. 2003). Quickly spreading rhizomes create a thick thatch layer that helps bluegrass outcompete native plant species for water, nutrients, and light (Pierson et al. 2002, DeKeyser et al. 2013).

Consequently, bluegrass forms monocultures that can have major consequences on biodiversity (Cully et al. 2003, DeKeyser et al. 2015).

Conservation efforts focused on reducing biodiversity declines and improving the delivery of ecosystem services frequently emphasize negative impacts of invasive species (Cardinale et al. 2012, Bezemer et al. 2013). Invasive plant species homogenize plant communities, displace native wildlife (Washburn et al. 2000, Gerber et al. 2008), and reduce the delivery of ecosystem services (Clavel et al. 2011, Hanley et al. 2015). Bluegrass invasions are no different and have been found to reduce plant diversity (DeKeyser et al. 2013) and disrupt water and nutrient cycling (Pierson et al. 2002). Even though bluegrass can seasonally provide valuable forage for livestock (Schlaepfer et al. 2011), bluegrass invasions are expected to have severe consequences for wildlife habitat availability (Toledo et al. 2014). However, few studies have directly assessed the impacts of bluegrass on higher trophic levels such as butterflies.

Butterflies, along with other pollinators, are a major conservation concern (Lebuhn et al. 2013). Pollinator responses to invasive species are not well understood (Pejchar and Mooney 2009), but invasive species are expected to negatively impact butterflies and may even act in synergy with other drivers of declines such as fragmentation (Keeler et al. 2006). Moreover, the impacts of invasive species on regulating services like pollination—valued at over \$215 billion globally (Vanbergen et al. 2013)—may be more detrimental than invasive species impacts on provisioning services (Pejchar and Mooney 2009). Consequently, researchers, resource managers, and policy makers need to understand how butterflies respond to invasive plant species to improve conservation efforts and more thoroughly understand the wider impacts of invasive species (Bezemer et al. 2013). Additionally, butterflies can be used to identify ecological consequences of bluegrass invasion and determining how bluegrass impacts overall biodiversity. Butterflies are regularly used as bio-indicators (Thomas 2005, Potts et al. 2010, Roy et al. 2015, Habel et al. 2016) because they are sensitive to environmental factors and respond to vegetation shifts before other organisms (Mortimer et al. 1998, Borschig et al. 2013).

The goal of our research was to quantify whether bluegrass invasions influence butterflies in rangelands of the Northern Great Plains. Invasive plant species are expected to influence butterflies (Bezemer et al. 2013, Hanley et al. 2015), but not all species will respond the same to invasive plant

species and plant community homogenization (Filz et al. 2013, Habel et al. 2016, Kral et al. *In Review*). Therefore, our objective was to evaluate the entire butterfly community to determine how species or groups of species respond to varying levels of bluegrass invasion. Our results can help determine how bluegrass has impacted biodiversity in rangelands. Moreover, our results can help identify specific butterfly species that may be useful as indicators of biodiversity or bluegrass invasion, directing management strategies and conservation planning.

Methods

Study area

We collected butterfly and vegetation data in North Dakota, South Dakota, and Minnesota (Figure 9). In the region, temperatures average 5.5 °C, varying throughout the year from -17 to 23 °C. The majority of precipitation falls during the growing season and follows a strong gradient east to west, decreasing from 69 cm to 36 cm (USDA-NRCS 2015). The plant community was historically tallgrass prairie in the east and mixed-grass prairie in the west. The tallgrass prairie was largely composed of native, warm-season grasses (*Andropogon gerardii* Vitman, *Schizachyrium scoparium* (Michx.) Nash), and the mixed-grass prairie was largely composed of native, cool-season grasses (*Nassella viridula* (Trin.) Barkworth, *Pascopyrum smithii* (Rydb.) Á. Löve). The forb community is similar across prairie types, being dominated by *Aster spp.* and *Solidago spp.* (USDA-NRCS 2015). However, invasive, cool-season grasses such as *Bromus inermis* Leyss. and bluegrass have become dominant in many grasslands throughout the region (Murphy and Grant 2005).

Survey sites

We surveyed 20 sites in 2015, 25 sites in 2016, and 26 sites in 2017 for a total of 35 unique sites over three years of data collection. We selected a majority of our survey sites from U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) refuge lands, but we also surveyed some privately-owned or non-governmental organization areas in our study region (for full details see Kral et al. *In Review*). Most sites were managed with different combinations of cattle grazing and prescribed fire, however several sites had idle management. Because of inherent differences in site history and management, bluegrass cover ranged from 3-36% canopy cover (Table A3).



Figure 9. Location of butterfly surveys conducted from 2015-2017 in the Northern Great Plains, USA. In total, we surveyed 35 sites, visiting each site three times in the year(s) it was surveyed.

Butterfly surveys

We collected butterfly community data including species composition, richness, diversity, and abundance using two different methods at each site. We randomly placed two, 100-m line transects (Moranz et al. 2012) and two, 4-ha visual encounter survey blocks (Hardersen and Corezzola 2014, Harms et al. 2014) at each site. Each year, we surveyed sites three times between June and early August. We rotated the time of day and order of surveys to reduce temporal bias. Furthermore, we conducted surveys between 0900 and 1800 hours (CDT) during optimal field conditions for butterflies: air temperatures between 21 - 35 °C, winds under 25 km \cdot hr⁻¹, and cloud cover less than 50% (Royer et al. 1998). If a butterfly could not be identified, observers suspended their survey, and took a picture or attempted to capture the butterfly with a net, and then resumed the survey at the stopped point. During

each site visit, two observers (KCK being the primary observer each year) surveyed one line transect and one survey block each. On subsequent visits, observers rotated to reduce observer bias.

Vegetation surveys

We collected plant community data to quantify cool-season grass invasion and resource availability for butterflies. We recorded species and counted the number of flowering ramets along eight, 100 m transects in 5-m belts during each site visit to obtain nectar resource density (Moranz et al. 2012). We established belts around 100-m line transect and three more belts in each 4-ha survey block. During peak plant production in late July, we estimated average plant species canopy cover at each site using 30, 1 m² quadrat frames. We placed six evenly distributed quadrat frames along each line transect and nine evenly distributed quadrat frames within survey blocks. We then visually estimated absolute canopy cover to the nearest percent and placed them in cover classes (0-5, 5-10, 10-20, 20-30, 30-40, 40-50, 50-60, 60-70, 70-80, 80-90, 90-95, and 95-100). Although we were largely interested in the cover of invasive cool-season grasses, we collected composition and canopy cover for all plant species.

Landscape cover

We collected landscape cover data around each site to quantify the influence on the butterfly community. We created 1,000 m buffers around each survey site (Pocewicz et al. 2009, Perovic et al. 2015) and determined land cover using USGS National Land cover datasets in ArcGIS v. 10.2 (ESRI 2013). Within each buffer, we calculated the percentage of major cover types including perennial grassland, wetland, hay ground, open water, cropland, and development (roads, buildings, etc.).

Analysis

We conducted all our statistical analyses in the R (v. 3.1.3) statistical environment for Windows (R Development Core Team 2015). We determined butterfly community composition at each site by identifying all species detected by either method within each year. Additionally, we categorized species based on their dependence on grasslands (facultative or obligate) using descriptions from Glassberg (2001) and Royer (2003). To be included in our community analysis, a species had to be detected at least twice, since we were interested in rarer species but wanted to remove species with limited detections (Blanchet et al. 2014). Then we summed abundance data for each species over site visits in each year (Davis et al. 2008) and averaged species relative site abundance over the three years of data collection

for our multivariate analysis. We used non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) with Bray-Curtis distance measures to create community ordination plots in the *vegan* package (Kindt and Coe 2005, Oksanen 2015). In NMDS, site scores are plotted as points, and the distances between sites allow us to determine the similarity or dissimilarity of the butterfly community (Moranz et al. 2012; Oksanen 2015). Sites that are closer together in ordination space are more similar. Moreover, species are also plotted as points next to sites where they are relatively more abundant. We considered three-dimensional ordinations with stress values under 0.20 to be acceptable (Clark 1993).

We used the function "envfit" within the *vegan* package to test how the ordinated butterfly community was influenced by vegetation variables (ramet density, bluegrass canopy cover, smooth brome (*Bromus inermis*) canopy cover, flowering forb species richness, flowering forb species diversity, plant species richness, and plant species diversity) and landscape variables (perennial grassland, wetland, hay ground, open water, cropland, and development cover; Table A3). Before variables were used in our community analysis, we tested for correlations and eliminated correlated variables ($r^2 \ge 0.60$; Marini et al. 2009, Harms et al. 2014). Flowering forb species richness and diversity were highly correlated ($r^2 = 0.60$), along with plant species richness and diversity ($r^2 = 0.72$). However, flowering forb species richness and diversity ($r^2 = 0.31$ and 0.27, respectively). We chose to include forb species richness and plant species richness in our analysis, eliminating forb and plant diversity, based on previous research (see Moranz et al. 2012). At the landscape scale, perennial grassland cover. If vegetation or landscape variables were significantly related with the butterfly community ($\alpha \le 0.05$), we included them as vectors in our ordination plots (Moranz et al. 2012).

Next, we used generalized linear mixed-effect modeling (GLMM) to quantify the influence of bluegrass (fixed effect) on single variables. Whereas other studies have used univariate analyses to inform individual species responses or treatment effects (e.g., Moranz et al. 2012, Hovick et al. 2015), we used GLMM to determine relationships with variables of interest (i.e., plant and butterfly community metrics and bluegrass cover). GLMM allowed us to determine how single vegetation variables used in the community ordination and butterfly variables including butterfly species richness, butterfly species

diversity, total butterfly abundance, obligate grassland butterfly richness, obligate grassland butterfly abundance, and facultative grassland butterfly abundance responded to bluegrass cover (Table A3). Using the *Imer* package, we created GLMMs with Gaussian and Poisson distributions, depending on variable distribution, to compare univariate variables to bluegrass cover at the site level (Bates et al. 2015). We used log-transformations as necessary to normalize variables in models with Gaussian distributions (Crawley 2013). Similar to the multivariate analysis, we summed abundance data for each species over site visits in each year to get relative site abundance (Davis et al. 2008), but instead of averaging at the site level, we incorporated year and site as random factors in GLMMs (Price et al. 2005). For each analysis, we set an $\alpha \le 0.05$ to indicate statistically significant differences between factors.

Results

We detected over 11,000 butterflies representing 45 species from 2015-2017. Of these 45 species, we utilized 39 species that met our minimum threshold of being detected at least twice (Table 7). Overall, we detected 12 obligate grassland butterflies (4,173 detections) and 27 facultative grassland butterflies (6,917 detections; Table 7).

Butterfly community responses to bluegrass

The butterfly community was influenced by three vegetation variables including bluegrass cover $(R^2 = 0.23, p = 0.02)$, flowering forb species richness $(R^2 = 0.52, p = 0.001)$, and plant species richness $(R^2 = 0.28, p = 0.004;$ Figure 10). This means that the butterfly community composition changed as these variables increased or decreased. Sites with relatively greater abundance of obligate grassland butterflies were associated with greater flowering forb species richness and less bluegrass cover, including the threatened *Hesperia dacotae* (HESDAK; Figure 10). Similarly, *Speyeria idalia* (SPEIDA), a species of conservation concern, was associated with greater plant species richness and less bluegrass cover.

Sites with a larger proportion of facultative butterfly species such as *Colias philodice* (COLPHI) and *Pieris rapae* (PIERAP) were associated with decreasing flowering forb and plant species richness and increasing bluegrass cover (Figure 10). One obligate grassland species, *Cercyonis pegala* (CERPEG), was associated with less flowering forb species richness compared to other obligate species which were correlated with greater flowering forb richness (Figure 10). However, *C. pegala* was the most

abundant obligate grassland species (Table 7) and may respond differently to plant community dynamics

compared to other obligate species that occur at lower abundances.

Table 7. Species list, six-letter codes, classification (obligate or facultative), and total detections for each
year, and cumulative three-year total for all butterflies detected at least twice in butterfly surveys
conducted in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2015-2017. Classifications are based on species'
dependence on grasslands using descriptions from Glassberg (2001) and Rover (2003)

Species	Six-letter code	Classification	2015	2016	2017	3-Yr Total
Boloria bellona	BOLBEL	Obligate	31	215	104	350
Boloria selene	BOLSEL	Obligate	1	1	4	6
Celastrina neglecta	CELNEG	Facultative	0	2	1	3
Cercyonis pegala	CERPEG	Obligate	477	1104	809	2390
Charidryas gorgone	CHAGOR	Obligate	0	19	13	32
Coenonympha tullia	COETUL	Obligate	167	275	201	643
Colias eurytheme	COLEUR	Facultative	60	1437	204	1701
Colias philodice	COLPHI	Facultative	429	568	538	1535
Danaus plexippus	DANPLE	Facultative	124	104	109	337
Epargyreus clarus	EPACLA	Facultative	0	1	2	3
Euptoieta claudia	EUPCLA	Obligate	0	45	48	93
Glaucopsyche lygdamus	GLALYG	Facultative	31	57	23	111
Hesperia dacotae	HESDAK	Obligate	0	1	1	2
Junoia coenia	JUNCOE	Facultative	0	2	0	2
Limenitis archippus	LIMARC	Facultative	0	0	25	25
Limenitis arthemis	LIMART	Facultative	0	1	2	3
Lycaena hyllus	LYCHYL	Facultative	0	6	9	15
Óeneis uhleri	OENUHL	Obligate	0	2	14	16
Papilio glaucus	PAPGLA	Facultative	0	2	5	7
Papilio polyxenes	PAPPOL	Facultative	0	22	37	59
Phyciodes batesii	PHYBAT	Facultative	0	13	9	22
Phyciodes cocyta	PHYCOC	Facultative	13	76	55	144
Phyciodes tharos	PHYTHA	Facultative	186	208	69	463
Pieris rapae	PIERAP	Facultative	190	224	127	541
Plebejus melissa	LYCMEL	Facultative	83	136	251	470
Polites mystic	POLMYS	Obligate	71	120	70	261
Polites peckius	POLPEC	Obligate	6	2	8	16
Polites themmistocles	POLTHE	Obligate	10	22	18	50
Pyrgus communis	PYRCOM	Facultative	0	1	13	14
Pontia protodice	PONPRO	Facultative	0	1	2	3
Satyrodes eurydice	SATEUR	Facultative	10	15	3	28
Satyrium titus	SATTIT	Facultative	4	27	6	37
Speyeria aphrodite	SPEAPH	Facultative	44	308	298	650
Speyeria atlantis	SPEATL	Facultative	0	0	5	5
Speyeria cybele	SPECYB	Facultative	15	51	33	99
Speyeria idalia	SPEIDA	Obligate	10	151	153	314
Vanessa atalanta	VANATA	Facultative	22	54	31	107
Vanessa cardui	VANCAR	Facultative	1	2	528	531
Vanessa virginiensis	VANVIR	Facultative	0	2	0	2

The butterfly community was also influenced by wetland cover at the landscape level ($R^2 = 0.30$, p = 0.005; Figure 10). Notably, sites with a larger relative abundance of *Satyrium titus* (SATTIT) and
Limenitis arthemis (LIMART), two facultative species, were associated with greater wetland cover (Figure 10). Overall, as bluegrass cover increased both the plant community and the butterfly community became relatively more homogenized.



NMDS1

Figure 10. Non-metric multidimensional scaling ordination for the butterfly community detected from 2015-2017 in the Northern Great Plains, USA. Six-letter codes for obligate grassland species (red) and facultative grassland species (black) are shown (see Table 1 for full scientific names) along with site scores (gray circles). Species nearest to sites represent which species were more prominent at those sites. We then used envifit to determine if vegetation vectors were correlated site butterfly communities. Flowering forb richness (Forb richness), plant species diversity (Plant diversity), and Kentucky bluegrass canopy cover (*P. pratensis* cover) were statistically significant ($p \le 0.05$) vegetation vectors for the community. Additionally, the percent cover of wetlands (Wetland cover) was also a statistically significant landscape vector ($p \le 0.05$). The plant community and nectar resources became more homogenized as Kentucky bluegrass cover increased. The butterfly community correspondingly went from more obligate grassland species to more facultative grassland species as bluegrass cover increased.

Univariate responses to bluegrass

Bluegrass canopy cover was significantly correlated with univariate plant and butterfly community

metrics (Figure 11). Plant species diversity (t = -3.16, df = 66, p = 0.002; Figure 11A) and flowering forb

species richness (t = -1.97, df = 66, p = 0.05; Figure 11B) decreased as bluegrass cover increased. Additionally, butterfly species richness (t = -2.27, df = 66, p = 0.03; Figure 11C) and obligate butterfly species abundance (z = -8.65, df = 66, p \leq 0.001; Figure 11D) decreased as bluegrass cover increased. We did not find a statistically significant relationship between bluegrass cover and the other plant and butterfly variables including total butterfly abundance and facultative species abundance (Figure A1).



Figure 11. Plant and butterfly community responses to Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis) canopy cover from butterfly and vegetation surveys completed in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2015-2017. Kentucky bluegrass cover had a negative relationship with plant species Simpson's diversity index (A), flowering forb species richness (B), butterfly species richness (C), and obligate species abundance (D). Generalized linear model results are included for each variable, along with 95% confidence bands (blue lines). Models for plant species diversity, flowering forb species richness, and butterfly species richness were created using the Gaussian distribution, but the obligate species abundance model utilized the Poisson distribution. Note differing scales of each dependent variable. As Kentucky bluegrass cover increased the plant and butterfly communities became more homogenized and the abundance of obligate grassland butterfly species declined.

Discussion

Idle management strategies previously used in the Northern Great Plains have had considerable ramifications for the plant community, biodiversity, and ecosystem processes (Limb et al. 2018). Bluegrass invasions are a prominent example as upwards of 30% canopy cover are now common on public lands (Kobiela et al. 2017). However, little is known about how plant invasions impact pollinators (Pejchar and Mooney 2009). We found that increasing bluegrass cover had negative impacts on obligate grassland butterflies including H. dacotae and S. idalia, species of conservation concern. As bluegrass cover increased, facultative grassland butterflies became dominant and obligate grassland butterflies decreased. However, declines in the number of obligate species did not equate to reductions in total butterfly abundance. Total butterfly abundance, along with facultative species abundance, was not related to bluegrass cover. Negative responses to bluegrass in the butterfly community were mirrored in the plant community. Sites with higher bluegrass cover had lower plant species diversity and flowering forb richness. Collectively, more bluegrass translated to reduced host and nectar resource availability and homogenized butterfly communities. Similar results have been reported for native plants and arthropods in Europe (Gerber et al. 2008). Simplified butterfly communities that shift from obligate to facultative communities likely provide less pollination services and could jeopardize food security (Pejchar and Mooney 2009, Borschig et al. 2013). Consequently, management strategies should focus on reducing invasive grass cover and improving biodiversity.

Butterfly communities in our ordination were driven by bluegrass canopy cover. Overall, the butterfly community transitioned to more facultative species and fewer obligate species as bluegrass cover increased. The environmental vectors showed how increasing bluegrass was negatively correlated with plant species richness, creating a bottom-up effect on the butterfly community (Keeler et al. 2006, Vila et al. 2016). Obligate species declined as bluegrass cover increased and were replaced by generalist facultative species that can tolerate plant community changes (Moranz et al. 2012, Farhat et al. 2014). Conversely, increased plant and forb richness provided host and nectar resources for species with stricter resource requirements (Ekroos et al. 2010). This could explain why more butterfly species, including facultative species, were found as these environmental vectors increased.

Obligate grassland species and overall species richness increased as wetland cover at the landscape level increased. Wetland cover offers another form of perennial cover and increases compositional heterogeneity at the landscape scale (Fahrig et al. 2011), much like plant diversity and flowering forb richness increase heterogeneity at the local scale. Higher compositional heterogeneity supports communities with taxonomic diversity because more niches exist for species (Perovic et al. 2015). In landscapes with increasing wetland cover, obligate grassland species that require mesic prairie such as *S. idalia* increased (Glassberg 2001, Royer 2003), but butterfly species such as *S. titus* and *L. arthemis* that require willows (*Salix* spp.), commonly found in wetlands in the Northern Great Plains (Royer 2003, van der Kamp and Hayashi 2009), also increased. Unexpectedly, crop cover did not influence the butterfly community. We expected increasing crop cover would shift the community from obligate to facultative species as observed in other agroecosystems (e.g., Ekroos et al. 2010, Borschig et al. 2013), but crop cover may be too low or irregular to detect in our study region. In our study, crop cover averaged 11% (Table A3), whereas studies where crop cover significantly impacted the butterfly community averaged 51% (see Ekroos et al. 2010).

Our regression analysis allowed us to examine univariate responses to bluegrass invasion that may be helpful to understanding community responses. Butterfly species richness declined as bluegrass cover increased, but total butterfly abundance was not significantly correlated with bluegrass cover. Invasive species are expected to negatively impact butterfly abundance (Kalarus and Nowicki 2015), so we separated butterfly abundance between obligate and facultative species. This allowed us to determine that only obligate butterfly species abundance decreased as bluegrass cover increased. Therefore, although butterfly species richness declined, we did not detect a significant decrease in overall abundance due to either increased abundance of facultative species or because obligate species represent a smaller proportion of the community ($\bar{x} = 36\%$; Table A3). Similar patterns of reduced richness, declines in specialist species, and stable or fluctuating overall abundance have been observed for butterfly communities responding to human disturbance gradients in Japan (Kitahara and Fujii 1994) and butterflies across the UK (Brereton et al. 2010).

When invasive plants reduce butterfly species richness, especially obligate species, functional homogenization diminishes the ability of the butterfly community to provide ecosystem services (Clavel et

al. 2011, Borschig et al. 2013). For example, invasive woody plants reduce pollination services in forested systems (Pejchar and Mooney 2009, Florens et al. 2010). We did not measure ecosystem services like pollination directly, but we can infer from our results potential declines in ecosystem services provided by butterflies. With increased bluegrass cover, fewer butterfly species are observed, and non-market cultural services are reduced (Hanley et al. 2015). Additionally, we would also expect the grassland butterfly communities' contribution to pollination services to decline because species that can withstand bluegrass invasion (facultative, more generalists species) are expected to be less efficient pollinators (Madjidian et al. 2008). Although bees contribute more to pollination (Rader et al. 2016), some grassland butterfly declines and shifts in the community threatened ecosystem services provided by rangelands.

Our results show the value of reducing bluegrass cover to improve butterfly species richness and rangeland biodiversity. Invasive species are difficult to remove once they have been introduced, but reducing invasive species cover in a tropical forest and prairie fen wetland was successful at increasing butterfly species richness and diversity (Florens et al. 2010, Fiedler et al. 2012). Nevertheless, selecting appropriate management strategies to reduce invasive species and promote the butterfly community can be difficult. Resource managers regularly use herbicides to reduce bluegrass cover (Bahm et al. 2011), but herbicides also reduce the cover of desirable plants and butterfly survival and fitness (Russell and Schultz 2010, Wagner et al. 2017). Alternatively, restoring historic disturbance regimes (fire and grazing) is one way to reduce bluegrass cover in rangelands with a history of rest (Figure A2; Bahm et al. 2011, Kral et al. *In Review*) and increase vegetation and structural heterogeneity (Diacon-Bolli et al. 2012), while maintaining livestock production (Fuhlendorf et al. 2012). Historic disturbance regimes increase native plant diversity, forb richness, and benefit butterfly diversity when applied at the correct spatial-temporal scale (Kral et al. 2017). Nonetheless, management changes may not produce immediate results in heavily-invaded rangelands without additional efforts (Fiedler et al. 2012) because land-use legacies have lasting impacts on plant communities (Moranz et al. 2012).

We can utilize our results to suggest butterfly communities that can be used as indicators of functioning rangelands with increased biodiversity. For instance, communities composed of more obligate species (e.g., *S. idalia*) and fewer facultative, habitat generalist (e.g., *C. philodice*, *P. tharos*) would be

expected to have increased biodiversity, and likely less bluegrass cover. However, problems do exist using butterflies as indicators for specific taxa (Brereton et al. 2011). For example, butterfly diversity was negatively correlated with bee diversity in Iowa (Davis et al. 2008). Nonetheless, developing trends and potential insights for how the butterfly community relates to biodiversity in rangelands and bluegrass cover is imperative for identifying consequences of invasion, encouraging proactive management, and restoring ecological processes to increase the delivery of ecosystem services.

Conclusions

Rangelands provide a variety of ecosystem services (Havstad et al. 2007), but management strategies to simultaneously benefit multiple ecosystem services are often viewed as contradictory (e.g., wildlife habitat or livestock production; Bullock et al. 2016). Management decisions on public lands in the Northern Great Plains assisted widespread invasion of exotic grasses like bluegrass (Grant et al. 2009), but no research is available on how bluegrass impacts pollinators, an important group for providing ecosystem services and food security. We surveyed the butterfly community along a gradient of bluegrass invasion (3-36% canopy cover) to determine how bluegrass invasions have impacted imperiled pollinators like butterflies and overall biodiversity. Bluegrass cover negatively impacted the butterfly community, and the butterfly community transitioned from more obligate and facultative grassland species to being dominated by several facultative species as bluegrass cover increased. Additionally, the availability of host and nectar resources for butterflies decreased as bluegrass cover increased. Even though bluegrass provides some benefits to rangelands (e.g., early spring forage), it negatively impacts the butterfly community and plant species diversity. We can infer from our results that supporting and cultural ecosystem services provided by butterflies are reduced when butterfly communities are homogenized. Therefore, management strategies that promote decreasing bluegrass cover while increasing plant species diversity and flowering forb richness are necessary for conservation of obligate grassland butterflies such as S. idalia and H. dacotae and continued ecosystem services in rangelands.

References

Bahm, M.A., Barnes, T.G., Jensen, K.C., 2011. Herbicide and fire effects on smooth brome (Bromus inermis) and Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis) in invaded prairie remnants. Invasive Plant Sci. Manag. 4,189-197. http://dx.doi.org/10.1614/IPSM-D-10-00046.1.

- Bates, D., Maechler, M., Bolker, B. Walker, S., 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using Ime4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1-48.
- Bezemer, T.M., Harvey, J.A. and Cronin, J.T., 2014. Response of native insect communities to invasive plants. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 59, 119-141. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-011613-162104
- Blair, R.B., 1999. Birds and butterflies along an urban gradient: surrogate taxa for assessing biodiversity? Ecological Applications 9, 164-170. 10.1890/1051-0761(1999)009[0164:BABAAU]2.0.CO;2
- Blanchet, F.G., Legendre, P., Bergeron, J.A.C., and He, F., 2014. Consensus RDA across dissimilarity coefficients for canonical ordination of community composition data. Ecol. Monograph. 84, 491-511. 10.1890/13-0648.1
- Bloch, D., Werdenberg, N., Erhardt, A., 2006. Pollination crisis in the butterfly-pollinated wild carnation Dianthus carthusianorum? New Phytologist 169, 699-706. 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2006.01653.x
- Börschig, C., Klein, A.M., von Wehrden, H., Krauss, J., 2013. Traits of butterfly communities change from specialist to generalist characteristics with increasing land-use intensity. Basic Appl. Ecol. 14, 547-554. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2013.09.002
- Bowman, D.M.J.S., Perry, G.L.W., Higgins, S.I., Johnson, C.N., Fuhlendorf, S.D., Murphy, B.P., 2016.
 Pyrodiversity is the coupling of biodiversity and fire regimes in food webs. Philos. Trans. R. Soc.
 B. 371, 20150169. 10.1098/rstb.2015.0169
- Brereton, T., Roy, D.B., Middlebrook, I., Botham, M., Warren, M., 2011. The development of butterfly indicators in the United Kingdom and assessments in 2010. J. Insect Conserv. 15, 139-151. 10.1007/s10841-010-9333-z
- Bullock, J.M., Aronson, J., Newton, A.C., Pywell, R.F., Rey-Benayas, J.M., 2016. Restoration of ecosystem services and biodiversity: conflicts and opportunities. Trends Ecol. Evolut. 26, 541-549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.06.011
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.A., Kinzig, A.P., 2012. Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature 486, 59-67. 10.1038/nature11148
- Clark, K.R., 1993. Non-parametric multivariate analyses of changes in community structure. Austral Ecol. 18, 117-143. 10.1111/j.1442-9993.1993.tb00438.x

Clavel, J., Julliard, R., Devictor, V., 2011. Worldwide decline of specialist species: toward a global functional homogenization?. Front. Ecol. Environ. 9, 222-228. 10.1890/080216

Crawley, M.J., 2013. The R book. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester.

- Cully, A.E., Cully Jr., J.F., Hiebert, R.D., 2003. Invasion of exotic plant species in tallgrass prairie fragments. Conserv. Biol. 17, 990-998. 10.1046/j.1523-1739.2003.02107.x
- Davis, J.D., Hendrix, S.D., Debinski, D.M., Hemsley, C.J., 2008. Butterfly, bee and forb community composition and cross-taxon incongruence in tallgrass prairie fragments. J. Insect Conserv. 12, 69-79. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-006-9063-4
- DeKeyser, E.S., Dennhardt, L.A., Hendrickson, J., 2015. Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis) invasion in the northern Great Plains: a story of rapid dominance in an endangered ecosystem. Invasive Plant Sci. Manag. 8, 255-261. https://doi.org/10.1614/IPSM-D-14-00069.1
- DeKeyser, E.S., Meehan, M., Clambey, G., Krabbenhoft, K., 2013. Cool season invasive grasses in Northern Great Plains natural areas. Nat. Area. J. 33, 81-90. https://doi.org/10.3375/043.033.0110
- DeKeyser, E.S., Meehan, M., Clambey, G., Krabbenhoft, K., 2013. Cool season invasive grasses in Northern Great Plains natural areas. Nat. Area. J. 33, 81-90. https://doi.org/10.3375/043.033.0110
- Diacon-Bolli, J., Dalang, T., Holderegger, R., Bürgi, M., 2012. Heterogeneity fosters biodiversity: linking history and ecology of dry calcareous grasslands. Basic Appl. Ecol. 13, 641-653. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2012.10.004
- Ekroos, J., Heliola, J., Kuussaari, M., 2010. Homogenization of lepidopteran communities in intensively cultivated agricultural landscapes. J. Appl. Ecol. 47, 459-467. 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01767.x

ESRI. 2013. ArcGIS 10.2 for Desktop. ESRI Inc. website: http://www.esri.com.

Fahrig, L., Baudry, J., Brotons, L., Burel, F.G., Crist, T.O., Fuller, R.J., Sirami, C., Siriwardena, G.M., Martin, J.L., 2011. Functional landscape heterogeneity and animal biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. Ecol. Lett. 14, 101-112. 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01559.x

- Farhat, Y.A., Janousek, W.M., McCarty, J.P., Rider, N., LaReesa Wolfenbarger, L., 2014. Comparison of butterfly communities and abundances between marginal grasslands and conservation lands in the eastern Great Plains. J. Insect Conserv. 18, 245-256. doi: 10.1007/s10841-014-9635-7
- Fiedler, A.K., Landis, D.A., Arduser, M., 2012. Rapid shift in pollinator communities following invasive species removal. Restor. Ecol. 20, 593-602. 10.1111/j.1526-100X.2011.00820.x
- Filz, K.J., Wiemers, M., Herrig, A., Weitzel, M., Schmitt, T., 2013. A question of adaptability: Climate and habitat change lower trait diversity in butterfly communities in south-western Germany. Eur. J. Entomol. 110, 633-642.
- Florens, F.V., Mauremootoo, J.R., Fowler, S.V., Winder, L. and Baider, C., 2010. Recovery of indigenous butterfly community following control of invasive alien plants in a tropical island's wet forests. Biodivers. Conserv. 19, 3835-3848. 10.1007/s10531-010-9930-x
- Fuhlendorf, S.D., Engle, D.M., Elmore, R.D., Limb, R.F., Bidwell, T.G., 2012. Conservation of pattern and process: developing an alternative paradigm of rangeland management. Rangeland Ecol. Manage. 65, 579-589. 10.2111/REM-D-11-00109.1
- Gerber, E., Krebs, C., Murrell, C., Moretti, M., Rocklin, R., Schaffner, U., 2008. Exotic invasive knotweeds (*Fallopia* spp.) negatively affect native plant and invertebrate assemblages in European riparian habitats. Biol. Conserv. 141, 646-654. 10.1016/j.biocon.2007.12.009
- Glassberg, J. 2001. Butterflies through binoculars: the west. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Grant, T.A., Flanders-Wanner, B., Shaffer, T.L., Murphy, R.K. and Knutsen, G.A., 2009. An emerging crisis across northern prairie refuges: prevalence of invasive plants and a plan for adaptive management. Ecological Restoration, 27, 58-65. 10.3368/er.27.1.58
- Habel, J.C., Bruchmann, S.V., Krauss, J., Schwarzer, J., Weig, A., Husemann, M., Steffan-Dewenter, I.,
 2015. Fragmentation genetics of the grassland butterfly Polyommatus cordon: stable genetic diversity or extinction debt? Conserv. Genet. 16, 549-558. 10.1007/s10592-014-0679-8
- Hanley, N., Breeze, T.D., Ellis, C., Goulson, D., 2015. Measuring the economic value of pollination services: Principles, evidence and knowledge gaps. Ecosyst. Serv. 14, 124-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.09.013

- Hardersen, S. and Corezzola, S., 2014. Plot-based butterfly surveys: statistical and methodological aspects. J. Insect Conserv. 18, 1171-1183.
- Harms, T.M., Kinkead, K.E., Dinsmore, S.J., 2014. Evaluating the effects of landscape configuration on the site occupancy and movement dynamics of odonates in Iowa. J. Insect Conserv. 18:307-315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9638-4
- Havstad, K.M., Peters, D.P.C., Skaggs, R., Brown, J., Bestelmeyer, B., Fredrickson, E., Herrick, J.,
 Wright, J., 2007. Ecological services to and from rangelands of the United States. Ecol. Econom.
 64, 261-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.08.005
- Holechek, J., Pieper, R.D., Herbel, C.H., 2004. Range management: principles and practices, fifth ed. Prentice Hall, New Jersey.
- Hovick, T.J., Elmore, R.D., Fuhlendorf, S.D., Engle, D.M., Hamilton, R.G., 2015. Spatial heterogeneity increases diversity and stability in grassland bird communities. Ecol. Appl. 25, 662-672. 10.1890/14-1067.1
- Hurt, R.D., 1985. The National Grasslands: origin and development in the Dust Bowl. Agricultural History 59, 246-259. http://www.jstor.org/stable/3742388
- Kalarus, K., Nowicki, P., 2015. How do landscape structure, management and habitat quality drive the colonization of habitat patches by the Dryad butterfly (Lepidoptera: Satyrinae) in fragmented grassland? PLoS ONE 10:e0138557. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0138557
- Keeler, M.S., Chew, F.S., Goodale, B.C. and Reed, J.M., 2006. Modelling the impacts of two exotic invasive species on a native butterfly: top-down vs. bottom-up effects. J. Anim. Ecol. 75, 777-788. 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2006.01098.x
- Kindt, R., Coe, R., 2005. Tree diversity analysis: a manual and software for common statistical methods for ecological and biodiversity studies. World Agroforestry Centre, Nairobi, Kenya.
- Kitahara, M., Fujii, K., 1994. Biodiversity and community structure of temperate butterfly species within a gradient of human disturbance: an analysis based on the concept of generalist vs. specialist strategies. Res. Popul. Ecol. 36, 187-199. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02514935

- Kobiela, B., Quast, J., Dixon, C. and DeKeyser, E.S., 2017. Targeting Introduced Species to Improve Plant Community Composition on USFWS-Managed Prairie Remnants. *Natural Areas Journal*, 37, 150-160. https://doi.org/10.3375/043.037.0204
- Kral, K.C., Limb, R.F., Harmon, J.P. and Hovick, T.J., 2017. Arthropods and fire: Previous research shaping future conservation. Rangeland Ecology and Management, 70, 589-598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2017.03.006
- Lebuhn, G., Droege, S., Connor, E.F., Gemmill-Herren, B., Potts, S.G., Minckley, R.L., Griswold, T., Jean, R., Kula, E., Roubik, D.W., Cane, J., Wright, K.W., Frankie, G., Parker, F., 2013. Detecting insect pollinator declines on regional and global scales. Conservation Biology 27, 113–120. 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2012.01962.x
- Limb, R.F., Hovick, T.J., Norland, J.E., Volk, J.M., 2018. Grassland plant community spatial patterns driven by herbivory intensity. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 257, 113-119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2018.01.030
- Madjidian, J.A., Morales, C.L., Smith, H.G., 2008. Displacement of a native by an alien bumblebee: lower pollinator efficiency overcome by overwhelmingly higher visitation frequency. Oecologia 156, 835-845. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-008-1039-5
- Marini, L., Fontana, P., Battisti, A., Gaston, K.J., 2009. Agricultural management, vegetation traits and landscape drive orthopteran and butterfly diversity in a grassland-forest mosaic: a multi-scale approach. Insect Conserv. Divers. 2, 213-220. 10.1111/j.1752-4598.2009.00053.x
- Moranz, R.A., Debinski, D.M., McGranahan, D.A., Engle, D.M., Miller, J.R., 2012. Untangling the effects of fire, grazing, and land-use legacies on grassland butterfly communities. Biodivers. Conserv. 21, 2719–2746. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-012-0330-2
- Mortimer, S.R., Hollier, J.A., Brown, V.K., 1998. Interactions between plant and insect diversity in the restoration of lowland calcareous grasslands in southern Britain. Appl. Veg. Sci. 1, 101-114. 10.2307/1479089
- Murphy, R.K., Grant, T.A., 2005. Land Management History and Floristics in Mixed-Grass Prairie, North Dakota, USA. Nat. Area J. 25, 351-358.

- Naugle, D.E., Johnson, R.R., Estey, M.E., Higgins, K.F., 2001. A landscape approach to conserving wetland bird habitat in the prairie pothole region of eastern South Dakota. Wetlands 21, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2001)021[0001:ALATCW]2.0.CO;2
- Oksanen, L., 2015. Multivariate analysis of ecological communities in R: vegan tutorial. http://cc.oulu.fi/~jarioksa/opetus/metodi/vegantutor.pdf (accessed 18 Sept 2017).
- Pejchar, L., Mooney, H.A., 2009. Invasive species, ecosystem services and human well-being. Trends Ecol. Evolut. 24, 497-504. 10.1016/j.tree.2009.03.016 A
- Perović, D., Gámez-Virués, S., Börschig, C., Klein, A.M., Krauss, J., Steckel, J., Rothenwöhrer, C., Erasmi, S., Tscharntke, T., Westphal, C., 2015. Configurational landscape heterogeneity shapes functional community composition of grassland butterflies. J. Appl. Ecol. 52, 505-513. 10.1111/1365-2664.12394
- Pierson, F.B., Spaeth, K.E., Weltz, M.A., Carlson, D.H., 2002. Hydrologic response of diverse western rangelands. J. Range Manage. 55, 558–570. doi:10.2307/4003999
- Pocewicz, A., Morgan, P., Eigenbrode, S.D., 2009. Local and landscape effects on butterfly density in northern Idaho grasslands and forests. J. Insect Conserv. 13, 593-601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-008-9209-7
- Potts, S.G., Biesmeijer, J.C., Kremen, C., Neumann, P., Schweiger, O., Kunin, W.E., 2010. Global pollinator declines: trends, impacts and drivers. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25, 345-353. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.01.007
- Price, M.V., Waser, N.M., Irwin, R.E., Campbell, D.R., Brody, A.K., 2005. Temporal and spatial variation in pollination of montane herb: a seven-year study. Ecology 86, 2106-2116. 10.1890/04-1274
- Prosser, C.W., Sedivec, K.K., Barker, W.T., 2003. Tracked vehicle effects on vegetation and soil characteristics. J. Range Manage. 53, 666-670. 10.2307/4003164
- R Development Core Team, 2015. R: a language and environment for statistical computing [online]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org.
- Rader, R., Bartomeus, I., Garibaldi, L.A., Garratt, M.P., Howlett, B.G., Winfree, R., Cunningham, S.A., Mayfield, M.M., Arthur, A.D., Andersson, G.K. and Bommarco, R., 2016. Non-bee insects are

important contributors to global crop pollination. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113, 146-151.

- Roy, D.B., Ploquin, E.F., Randle, Z., Risely, K., Botham, M.S., Middlebrook, I., Noble, D., Cruickshanks,
 K., Freeman, S.N., Brereton, T.M., 2015. Comparison of trends in butterfly populations between
 monitoring schemes. J. Insect Conserv. 19, 313-324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9739-0
- Royer, R.A., 2003. Butterflies of North Dakota: an atlas and guide. Science Monograph Number Two, Minot State University. Minot, North Dakota.
- Royer, R.A., Austin, J.E., Newton, W.E., 1998. Checklist and "Pollard walk" butterfly survey methods on public lands. Am. Midl. Nat. 140:358-371. https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031(1998)140[0358:CAPWBS]2.0.CO;2
- Russell, C., Schultz, C.B., 2010. Effects of grass-specific herbicides on butterflies: an experimental investigation to advance conservation efforts. J. Insect Conserv. 14, 53-63. 10.1007/s10841-009-9224-3
- Schlaepfer, M.A., Sax, D.F., Olden, J.D., 2011. The potential conservation value of non-native species. Conserv. Biol. 25, 428-437. 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2010.01646.x
- Thomas, J.A., 2005. Monitoring change in the abundance and distribution of insects using butterflies and other indicator groups. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B. 360, 339–357. 10.1098/rstb.2004.1585
- Toledo, D., Sanderson, M., Spaeth, K., Hendrickson, J., Printz, J., 2014. Extent of Kentucky bluegrass and its effects on native plant species diversity and ecosystem services in the Northern Great Plains of the USA. Invasive Plant Sci. Manag. 7, 543–552. doi:10.1614/IPSM-D-14-00029.1
- (USDA-NRCS) United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, 2015. Field Office Technical Guide. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/national/technical/fotg/ (accessed 2 October 2015).
- (USFWS) United States Fish and Wildlife Service. 2013. Dakota skipper (Hesperia dacotae) Fact Sheet. http://www.fws.gov/midwest/Endangered/insects/dask/pdf/DakotaSkipperFactSheet22Oct2014.pd f (accessed 11 May 2015).

- van der Kamp, G., Hayashi, M., 2009. Groundwater-wetland ecosystem interaction in the semiarid glaciated plains of North America. Hydrogeology J., 17, 203-214. 10.1007/s10040-008-0367-1
- Vanbergen, A.J., and the Insect Pollination Initiative, 2013. Threats to an ecosystem service: pressures on pollinators. Front. Ecol. Environ. 11, 251-259. 10.1890/120126
- Vilà, M., Espinar, J.L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P.E., Jarošík, V., Maron, J.L., Pergl, J., Schaffner, U., Sun, Y., Pyšek, P., 2011. Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. Ecol. Lett. 14, 702-708. 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01628.x
- Wagner, V., Antunes, P.M., Irvine, M., Nelson, C.R., 2017. Herbicide usage for invasive non-native plant management in wildland areas of North America. J. Appl. Ecol. 54, 198-204. 10.1111/1365-2664.12711
- Washburn, B.E., Barnes, T.G., Sole, J.D., 2000. Improving northern bobwhite habitat by converting tall fescue fields to native warm-season grasses. Wildl. Soc. Bull. 28, 97-104. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4617289

CHAPTER 4. IMPROVING MONARCH CONSERVATION EFFORTS BY INCORPORATING FIELD BEHAVIORS

Abstract

Monarchs (Danaus plexippus) are one of the most recognized butterflies, and population declines have made them a species of major conservation concern. Yet, behavioral field observations are rare. Incorporating behaviors into monarch monitoring protocols can help connect landscape and behavioral ecology to ultimately benefit species conservation. Our objectives were to quantify monarch activity budgets, evaluate how behaviors differ across sites, and determine how monarchs transition between behaviors in the Northern Great Plains, USA. We opportunistically made 15-minute field behavioral observation surveys of wild monarchs and recorded behaviors including basking, flying, mating, nectaring, ovipositing, and resting. We also collected plant community data including flowering ramet density and plant species composition and canopy cover. Over two years, we observed 15 male and 35 female monarch butterflies. During observation surveys, the amount of time spent in each behavior was different, with monarchs spending most of their time flying and nectaring. Although we expected more ovipositing and nectaring at sites with higher milkweed (Asclepias spp.) cover, we observed more ovipositing on sites with a moderate cover of milkweed and more nectaring as milkweed cover decreased. As milkweed cover increased, invasive grasses also increased and reduced plant species diversity and available nectar resources important for adult survival. Planting more milkweed is a viable conservation option in agricultural areas without milkweed, but conservation practices in more natural areas may be better suited to identify management strategies like fire and grazing to increase the availability of milkweed for larvae and non-milkweed nectar resources for adults.

Introduction

Eastern North American monarchs (*Danaus plexippus*) are one of the most easily recognized butterflies in the United States (Gustafsson et al. 2015). They have gained notoriety due to their distinct dependence on milkweed (*Asclepias* spp.), their exclusive larval host plant (Pleasants and Oberhauser 2013), and for their long, annual migrations which extend from central Mexico to the Canadian border (Swengel 1995, Brower 1996, Prysby and Oberhauser 2004). Their impressive migration has made them culturally important (Lopez-Hoffman et al. 2010), but interests in monarchs has exponentially grown as

population numbers have drastically decreased over the last two decades (Badgett and Davis 2015). The total area occupied by overwintering monarchs, a measurement of the population, has decreased from around 9 ha in 1999 to just over 1 ha in 2014 (Pleasants et al. 2017). Precipitous declines have garnered substantial support from the public to increase the amount of research and applied conservation efforts for monarchs (Diffendorfer et al. 2014, Davis and Dyer 2015). Although research has increased to better understand monarchs and utilize public support, many questions remain on how to best address declines and apply effective management strategies for this valued species (Davis and Dyer 2015).

Monarch declines are likely due to a combination of factors including climate change, habitat loss and fragmentation, disease, and loss of milkweed host plants due to agricultural intensification (Fischer et al. 2015, Flockhart et al. 2015, Harvell et al. 2015). Monarch conservation efforts are focused on addressing a suite of threats, but identifying which threats have the greatest impact on monarchs can be helpful to decrease declines more effectively. Recently, controversy has arisen over which threat is responsible for monarch declines with two leading hypotheses: the milkweed limitation hypothesis and fall migration hypothesis (see Ries et al. 2015, Inamine et al. 2016, Pleasants 2017, Pleasants et al. 2017). The milkweed limitation hypothesis posits that agricultural intensification and the use of herbicideresistant crops has diminished the amount of milkweed on the landscape and planting more milkweed will be a viable way to address declines (Pleasants et al. 2017). The fall migration hypothesis posits that monarchs do well during the breeding season but experience increased mortality during migrations back to overwintering grounds, and conservation strategies should focus on improving resources for migrating monarchs (Badgett and Davis 2015, Inamine et al. 2016).

Generally, butterflies are surveyed as a part of monitoring efforts and to quantify responses to ecological changes and management (Parmesan et al. 1999, Powell et al. 2007, Moranz et al. 2012, Roy et al. 2015). The type and amount of available data in the US for monarchs is unique in that thousands of volunteers collect egg, larvae, and adult data each year through various citizen science programs (Ries and Oberhauser 2015). This wealth of knowledge has allowed researchers to monitor population trends across their entire range (e.g., Howard and Davis 2015, Pleasants et al. 2017), and has been extremely valuable for conservation. Most monitoring and survey efforts produce abundance estimates, but

researchers and citizen science programs can enhance the inferential power of their surveys by including behavioral aspects in monitoring protocols (Pickens and Root 2009, Knowlton and Graham 2010).

Researchers can use behaviors, similar to using abundance estimates, to determine how butterflies are influenced by local vegetation variables (e.g., Pickens and Root 2009). However, behaviors provide an important detail unavailable with abundance data: how do butterflies use or behave at different sites? When behaviors are not quantified, some uncertainty exists if butterflies are benefiting from being at a particular site (e.g., reproducing, nectaring) or merely unable to leave due to mobility or connectivity issues (Pickens and Root 2009). For species with high dispersal abilities like monarchs (Sekar 2011), connectivity may not be as much of an issue, but integrating behaviors improves our capacity to distinguish between fly-over sites (i.e., where monarchs are observed but do not stay) and utilized sites (i.e., where monarchs are observed and complete part of their life history). For example, butterflies are more likely to be observed nectaring and ovipositing when host plant density and availability increases (Schultz et al. 2012). At larger scales, incorporating behaviors into landscape-level monitoring protocols connects landscape and behavioral ecology to determine how individuals choose resources or move through landscapes (Lima and Zollner 1996, Knowlton and Graham 2010), all of which can guide conservation and management decisions (Pickens and Root 2009).

Most monarch behavioral research has focused on navigation for migration (e.g., Brower 1996, Reppert et al. 2010), oviposition (e.g., Tschenn et al. 2001, Casagrande and Dacey 2007), larval survival (e.g., Nail et al. 2015), and overwintering (e.g., Howard et al. 2010, Brower et al. 2011). Additionally, longterm field behavioral data for adult monarchs has been collected at a migration stop-over site in South Carolina since 1996 (McCord and Davis 2010, McCord and Davis 2012). However, less in known about how summer breeding adults interact with vegetation variables. A study in Washington State was one of the first to observe how field behaviors of adult monarchs during the summer breeding season responded to characteristics at a single site, with the overall goal of better informing conservation efforts (James 2016).

Collecting behavior data in conjunction with abundance data is one way to increase our basic monarch knowledge, understand how management decisions impact monarch site utilization, and improve ecosystem-based management decisions for conservation (Pickens and Root 2009). Our

objectives were to initiate a behavioral study on breeding monarch across a range of sites in the Northern Great Plains to 1) quantify activity budgets from ethograms and determine how monarchs allocate their time 2) evaluate how local and landscape features affect monarch activity budgets across multiple sites, and 3) calculate transitional matrices to identify behavioral flow patterns—the likelihood that a butterfly transitions from one behavior to another. Understanding monarch behaviors and predicting responses to local and landscape variables will be invaluable as monarch conservation efforts continue to increase (Badgett and Davis 2015).

Methods

Behavioral field observation surveys

We opportunistically made behavioral observation surveys on wild monarchs encountered during other field surveys (hereafter butterfly surveys) for grassland butterfly species (see Kral et al. *In Review* for survey details). We had 29 potential survey sites located in North Dakota, South Dakota, and Minnesota, USA. A majority of sites were managed by the US Fish and Wildlife Service, but we also conducted surveys on lands privately owned. Most sites were managed with different combinations of cattle grazing and prescribed fire, however several sites had idle management (Table A4). We conducted scheduled butterfly surveys for approximately two hours on three separate occasions each year during optimal conditions for butterflies (see Royer et al. 1998, Kral et al. *In Review*).

When a monarch was detected, we suspended our butterfly surveys to collect behavioral field observations and created ethograms—a list of pre-determined behaviors—for individual monarchs (McCord and Davis 2010). We conducted 15-minute behavioral observation surveys (Pickens and Root 2009), categorizing behaviors into 20-second intervals using standard *a priori* behaviors identified in other monarch surveys (Pliske 1975, McCord and Davis 2010), including basking, courtship, flying, mating, nectaring, ovipositing, and resting (Table 8). If an individual transitioned to another behavior within a 20-second timeframe, we recorded the dominant behavior. To avoid interfering with butterflies, we remained at least 20 m away from individuals during observation surveys and used binoculars to observe monarchs that were not easily visible. Additionally, we recorded the time of day, weather conditions, and sex of the monarch during each observation. If applicable, we also noted the plant species used for basking, nectaring, ovipositing, or resting.

Table 8. Description for each *a priori* behavior used for wild monarch field observations from 2016-2017 in North Dakota, South Dakota, and Minnesota, USA. Behaviors and descriptions modified from Pliske (1975) and McCord and Davis (2010).

Behavior	Description
Basking	Adult is slowly moving wings back-and-forth while resting on a substrate
Courtship	More than one individual displaying courtship behaviors
Flying	Individual moving across landscape
Mating	Male and female joined at the abdomen
Nectaring	Adult on flowering forb with proboscis extended
Ovipositing	Female resting on vegetation with abdomen flexed laying eggs
Resting	Stationary adult neither nectaring nor basking

Vegetation and landscape variables

We collected local vegetation variables while conducting butterfly surveys to test whether the plant community influenced monarch behavior. We counted the number of flowering ramets along 8- 100 m transects in 5-m belts established for our butterfly surveys to obtain average nectar resource density at each site (Moranz et al. 2012). We also estimated average plant species canopy cover during peak plant production in late July using 30- 1 m² quadrat frames. We visually estimated canopy cover to the nearest percent and placed them in cover classes (0-5, 5-10, 10-20, 20-30, 30-40, 40-50, 50-60, 60-70, 70-80, 80-90, 90-95, and 95-100). We collected canopy cover for all plant species, but we were particularly interested in milkweed cover, as it is the sole host plants for monarchs and expected to increase monarch activity (Pleasants et al. 2017). Although common to collect milkweed stem density (Pleasants and Oberhauser 2013), our surveys were not exclusive to monarchs, and we therefore collected more generalized plant data. In addition to vegetation variables, we also created 1,000 m and 2,500 m buffers around each survey site (Bergman et al. 2004, Pocewicz et al. 2009), and determined land cover based on USGS National Land cover datasets in ArcGIS (v. 10.2, ESRI 2013). We quantified the percentage of major cover types including perennial grassland, wetland, hay ground, open water, cropland, and development (roads, buildings, etc.) within each buffer.

Analysis

We first used individual ethograms to quantify activity budgets for all individuals where behavioral observation surveys were recorded for at least 10 minutes (Richer et al. 1997, Peixoto and Bensen 2009). Then we calculated the mean duration, frequency, and proportion of time monarchs spent in each

behavior (Wang and Messing 2003). We arcsine-transformed our data and tested whether the proportion of time spent in each behavior differed over all monarchs using an analysis of variance (ANOVA; Crawley 2013, Vankosky and VanLaerhoven 2015), with a post-hoc Tukey test to distinguish statistically significant differences between behaviors in the R statistical environment (R Development Core Team 2015). We also tested for differences in activity budgets between males and females, month of observation (June, July, or August), and time of observation (morning, mid-day, afternoon) using multiple analysis of variance (MANOVA) in R (R Development Core Team 2015, Vankosky and VanLaerhoven 2015). We pooled observation times by morning (9:00-11:59), mid-day (12:00-14:59), and afternoon (15:00-17:00) in order to increase the number of samples in each group, compared to separating observations by each hour of the day.

Next, we compared the average proportion of time monarchs from the same site spent in each behavior in relation to local vegetation and landscape variables using multivariate ordination. This allowed us to evaluate how site variables influence monarch behavior at the site level, not the individual level. All multivariate ordination procedures were conducted with the *vegan* package in R (Oksanen 2009). We used metric multidimensional scaling (MDS) with the "capscale" function and Bray-Curtis distance measures to create ordination bi-plots for average site activity budgets (Stafford et al. 2012). We removed mating from potential behaviors because it was rare and only occurred at two sites. Using the function "envfit", we tested how monarch activity budgets at the site level related to vegetation variables that included ramet density, forb species richness and diversity, plant species richness and diversity, Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis*) canopy cover, smooth brome (*Bromus inermis*) canopy cover, invasive forb canopy cover, and milkweed canopy cover, along with landscape variables that included percent cover of perennial grassland, crop land, hay ground, open water, and wetland (Table A4). We tested for correlations among variables to eliminate any redundancies in our analysis ($r \ge 0.60$). For all analyses, we set an $\alpha < 0.05$ to indicate statistically significant differences.

Finally, we used individual ethograms to quantify how field behaviors were organized using firstorder Markovian transition matrices (Goodman 1968, Wang and Messing 2003). Transitional matrices allow us to count the number and type of transitions between behaviors (behavioral flow) and depict typical behavioral observation surveys by calculating the probability of different behaviors. We

constructed matrices with rows and columns representing preceding and following behaviors, respectively. In each cell, we entered the total number of times a transition between behaviors was observed. A butterfly could not transition to the same behavior (i.e., flying to flying). Additionally, if a behavior lasted for the entire observation (e.g., mating), no transitions were counted. We created one matrix using ethograms for all monarchs, but we also constructed matrices using either male or female ethograms to evaluate the potential impact of sex on behavioral transitions. Then we used maximum likelihood estimates to calculate expected values for the matrix using the *markovchain* package in R (R Development Core Team 2015, Spedicato et al. 2015). We used a likelihood ratio test (G-Test) using the *DescTools* package in R to assess the significant of each matrix (Wang and Keller 2002, Signorell et al. 2017).

Results

We recorded behaviors for 51 wild monarchs over two summers for a total of 13 hours of observation. Of the 51 individuals, we observed 35 females, 15 males, and 1 undetermined, which was included in our overall totals but excluded from any analyses differentiating by sex. We made monarch behavioral observation surveys at 16 of the 29 sites we visited, with over 50% of our observation surveys occurring at five sites in northeast South Dakota (Figure 12). We observed our first monarchs on June 19 and June 5 in 2016 and 2017, respectively. Since we collected monarch behavior data opportunistically, we did not continue monarch behavioral observation surveys into the fall, as our other butterfly surveys were completed by mid-August each year. Consequently, our last monarch observation surveys occurred on August 5, 2016 and August 8, 2017. We completed more observation surveys in August (24 of 51 surveys) than any other month, even though we only collected data for approximately one week in August. Additionally, we completed more observation surveys in the morning (27 of 51 surveys) compared to the mid-day or afternoon (Figure A3).

Activity budgets

We quantified activity budgets and found a significant difference in the percentage of time allocated for each behavior when pooling across all monarchs ($F_{5, 300} = 11.8$, p < 0.001). Monarchs spent the most time flying, with individuals spending an average 36% of behavioral observation surveys flying (Figure 13). However, monarchs also spent significantly more time nectaring and resting compared to

basking, mating, and ovipositing, the latter three behaviors only comprising 20% of surveys (Figure 13). We did not observe any courtship behaviors.



Figure 12. Survey locations and number of monarch behavioral observation surveys from 2016-2017 in North Dakota, South Dakota, and Minnesota, USA. We observed 51 monarchs in total, with most observation surveys occurring in northeast South Dakota.

We then delved into behaviors further by examining how activity budgets differed based on sex, observation month, and observation time. Unlike behaviors across all monarchs, we did not find significant differences in activity budgets between sexes ($F_{48,2} = 0.79$, p > 0.05), observation months ($F_{48,2} = 1.37$, p > 0.05), or observation times ($F_{48,2} = 1.73$, p > 0.05). Although not statistically significant, we did not observe any monarchs basking or mating in June, altering the activity budget compared to July and August. All other behaviors, besides courtship, were observed in July and August at relatively similar proportions quantified for all monarchs (i.e., most time was spent flying, nectaring, and resting with a

smaller proportion spent basking, mating, and ovipositing; Figure A3). Interestingly, we only observed mating during the afternoon. Mating accounting for 33% of afternoon activity budgets, even though we only observed two separate mating events (four individuals total). Each mating event lasted for the entirety of the 15-minute observation survey. Consequently, averaged over the 12 monarchs observed in the afternoon, mating became a substantial proportion of activity budgets. We did not have sufficient statistical evidences that males and females behaved differently or that behaviors changed depending on the month or time of day. However, these outcomes were likely a result of our limited sample size (Figure A3).



Figure 13. The average percent of time spent in each behavior during monarch behavioral observation surveys from 2016-2017 in the Northern Great Plains, USA. Statistically significant differences occurred between the amount of time spent in each behavior ($F_{5,300} = 11.8$, $p \le 0.001$). During observation surveys, most monarchs were either flying, nectaring, or resting, with a smaller portion of time spent basking, mating, and ovipositing. Different letters correspond to a difference at the $p \le 0.05$ level calculated from the post-hoc Tukey test.

Local and landscape influences on activity budgets

We used multivariate ordination to determine how activity budgets—the percentage of time spent in each behavior—at the site level responded to local and landscape variables. Sites are plotted as points, and the nearest behavior label represents which behavior made up the largest proportion of time at each site (Figure 14). If sites are located between two behaviors, both behaviors contribute to activity budgets. Monarch activity budgets were significantly ($p \le 0.05$) influenced by three local variables, plotted as environmental vectors, but landscape variables were not included in our final ordination (p > 0.05). The environmental vectors show the strength and direction of each variable. Monarch activity budgets with a higher percentage of resting and basking were correlated with increasing milkweed and smooth brome cover (Figure 14). Sites were monarchs spent more time nectaring were correlated with high plant species diversity. However, monarchs that spent a majority of their time ovipositing and flying were not highly correlated with any one individual vector. Individuals that spent more time ovipositing and flying were located in the middle of the ordination plot where sites had a moderate cover of both milkweed and smooth brome (Figure 14; Figure A4).

Behavioral transitional matrices

Behavioral transitional matrices allowed us to visualize the average behavioral observation survey. We found that monarchs transitioned from one behavior to at least one other behavior during observation surveys, except for the four individuals mating (see above). Consequently, mating was not included in transitional matrices (Figure 15). Behavioral flow patterns constructed from transitional matrices were non-random (i.e., monarchs transitioned to certain behaviors or combination of behaviors consistently over observation surveys), and flow patterns were significant for all monarchs combined (G = 329, df = 16, p < 0.001), females (G = 204, df = 16, p < 0.001, Figure 15A) and males (G = 83.2, df = 9, p < 0.001, Figure 15B). Female behavioral flow patterns were more complex than male behavioral flow patterns because females had an additional behavior with ovipositing (Figure 15A). Females did not transition from basking to nectaring (Figure 15A), and males did not transition between basking and nectaring in either direction (Figure 15B). Collectively, monarchs initially observed in any behavior had the highest probability of transitioning to flying (0.68) or nectaring (0.50) during observation surveys. Conversely, monarchs had a much lower probability of transitioning to basking or ovipositing (Figure 15).

For example, if we detected a male monarch nectaring, we would most likely observe a transition to flying. From there, the monarch would likely transition back to nectaring. A smaller probability exists that a male monarch initially detected nectaring would transition to resting (Figure 15B).



Figure 14. Multidimensional scaling ordination using Bray-Curtis distance for monarch behaviors observed during the breeding season from 2016-2017 in the Northern Great Plains, USA. The first two axes explained 78% of the variation. Site scores are represented with red circles. We used envifit to determine that sites with higher milkweed (*Asclepias* cover) and smooth brome (BROINE cover) cover were associated with monarchs that spent more time basking and resting. As site plant diversity increased, individuals spent more of their time nectaring.

We can increase our ability to visualize behavioral observation surveys by including the average

duration (seconds) and average frequncy of behaviors per observation survey (Figure 15). On average,

monarchs spent 134 seconds in each behavior before transitioning, and resting had the longest average

duration at 215 seconds. Therefore, even though monarchs were less likely to transition to resting, if they

were observed in this behavior, they remained resting longer compared to the other behaviors.

Additionally, most behaviors occurred at least two separate times during observation surveys (Figure 15).

Flying and nectaring had the highest average frequency per observation with over three occurrences, while resting had the lowest frequency at just under 2 (Figure 15). This means that monarchs, besides individuals mating, transitioned to the same behavior multiple times during surveys (i.e., individuals did not restrict themselves to one behavior and transitioned back-and-forth between behaviors during 15-minute observations).



Figure 15. Behavior transitions for females (A, n=33) and male (B, n=13) monarchs from surveys conducted in 2016-2017 in the Northern Great Plains, USA. If monarchs transitioned to another behavior during observation surveys, we included an arrow going from the first to second behavior and the probability of that transition occuring using our data to calculate maximum likelihood estimates. Transitions with a higher probability of occurring have thicker arrows. For each behavior, we included the average duration in seconds (D) and average frequncy per behavioral observation survey (F) for each behavior.

Discussion

Behavioral studies for wild butterflies are infrequently conducted (Peixoto and Benson 2009), even though behavioral data at the site level can improve conservation efforts beyond what is provided by abundance estimates (Knowlton and Graham 2010, James 2016). By connecting behaviors to local and landscape variables, we can determine if and how butterflies utilize sites (e.g., nectaring, reproduction, fly-over). We conducted behavioral field observations for summer breeding monarchs in the Northern Great Plains, USA, an area located on the northwestern edge of the main breeding population of eastern North American monarchs (Flockhart et al. 2013). Monarchs spent most of their time flying, nectaring, or resting compared to basking, ovipositing, and mating. Although we may associate flying with unsuitable sites (i.e., flying to leave areas without resources), we found that flying often occurred before and after other behaviors necessary for monarch success (e.g., nectaring, ovipositing). At the site level, we expected oviposition would increase as milkweed cover increased, but the proportion of time spent ovipositing was highest at moderate amounts of milkweed cover. Additionally, nectaring individuals were associated with increasing plant species diversity and lower milkweed cover. Sites with high milkweed cover also had more invasive grass cover, which reduces nectar resources. Consequently, a trade-off appears to exist between milkweed cover and nectar resource availability on sites we surveyed. Although some conservation efforts are directed towards increasing the number of milkweed stems in agricultural areas (Pleasants et al. 2017), efforts should also consider disturbance practices (fire and grazing) in natural and non-agricultural landscapes to improve availability of nectar and oviposition resources at the same site.

Flying made up the highest percentage of monarch activity budgets. We observed flying more often than other behaviors because it covers different types of flight behaviors such as patrolling and oviposition site searching. Patrolling was the most common behavior observed in behavioral field observations of wild monarchs at one site in Washington State (James 2016). However, we did not include it in our *a priori* behaviors because we were unsure how often we would observe this behavior and if we would be able to distinguish this behavior from other types of flight. Whereas our *a priori* behaviors requires more experience and may not be easily adaptable for novice observers. After flying, nectaring made up the

largest proportion of activity budgets. Individuals flying are expected to nectar frequently to meet energy requirements (Hirota and Obara 2000), so we would expect these two behaviors to dominate activity budgets, especially over behaviors that that may not occur every day like ovipositing and mating.

Activity budgets at the site level had mixed responses to milkweed cover. Monarchs that spent more time ovipositing were unexpectedly associated with moderate milkweed cover, not sites with the highest amount of milkweed. However, females often lay eggs in low density milkweed patches because milkweed quality is improved, they can avoid natural enemies (Zalucki and Lammers 2010, Pitman et al. 2017), and enough milkweed is available to ensure larval survival (Nail et al. 2015). Additionally, monarchs spent more time nectaring as plant diversity increased and milkweed cover decreased. Sites with more milkweed also had increased coverage of smooth brome, an invasive grass that reduces plant species diversity including nectar resources (Hendrickson and Lund 2010). Monarch activity is expected to increase as milkweed increases (Pleasants et al. 2017) but not if nectar resources are unavailable (James 2016). Consequently, monarchs may be optimizing the cover of milkweed with available nectar resources when ovipositing (Figure A4), not just selecting sites with the highest amount of milkweed.

We created transitional matrices and behavioral flow patterns to understand how monarchs typically behave during observational surveys. We expected monarchs would not transition as often and remain longer in behaviors like ovipositing or nectaring compared to flying. Some of these assumptions were supported, as nectaring had the second longest average duration. However, behavioral flow patterns showed the importance of flying. Collectively, monarchs had the highest probability of transitioning to flying from any other behavior. Thus, even though flying may be perceived as a behavior indicating a site is unsuitable (i.e., fly-over site), behavioral flow patterns demonstrate how flying is interconnected with these behaviors (Hirota and Obara 2000). Therefore, if behaviors are utilized in monarch counts, with behavior at the time of detection being noted instead of longer observational surveys (e.g., McCord and Davis 2010), our results indicate that flying should not prematurely categorize a site as lacking necessary resources.

Interestingly, the sex ratio of individuals from behavioral observation surveys was female biased 70:30. Typically, sex ratios are male biased, with males making up nearly 60% of the population (McCord and Davis 2010, Davis and Rendon-Salinas 2010, James 2016). Recently, male biased sex ratios have

created concerns that female monarchs may face more declines compared to male monarchs (McCord and Davis 2012), especially since females are more negatively impacted by an obligate protozoan parasite *Ophryocystis elektroscirrha* (OE; Davis and Rendon-Salinas 2010). Monarchs in northern latitudes are less infected with OE, so we would not expect to detect the same impacts on sex ratios (Altizer et al. 2015, Flockhart et al. 2018). Nonetheless, our observed sex ratio may be the result of our ability to maintain visuals of males versus females since we did not record the sex of failed observation surveys.

Monarch behavior at the site level changed in response to measured vegetation variables. Therefore, disturbance management (fire, grazing, haying) has the ability to alter monarch behaviors and optimize host and nectar resource availability. Our results cannot verify either the fall migration hypothesis or milkweed limitation hypothesis (see Pleasants et al. 2017), but they do add another aspect to consider in monarch conservation management. Natural and non-agricultural areas are important for monarch conservation (Nail et al. 2015, Pitman et al. 2017), but planting more milkweed in these areas may not improve monarch numbers since the focus of milkweed loss is in agricultural areas (Pleasants et al. 2017). Furthermore, more milkweed in these natural and non-agricultural areas could increase OE prevalence and increase predation (Zalucki and Lammers 2010, Altizer et al. 2015), without increasing the amount of ovipositing and nectar resources. Fire and haying disturbance have already been used to increase host plant availability for monarchs (Baum and Sharber 2012, Alcock et al. 2016). Consequently, we argue that disturbance management could also be used, with the correct temporal and spatial scale, to increase nectar resources (Towne et al. 2005), increase native plant diversity (Hendrickson and Lund 2010), and improve milkweed availability to provide ovipositing and nectar resources for adults and enough milkweed resources to sustain larvae all at the same site (Figure 16).

Future surveys on breeding monarchs should incorporate several changes to better inform conservation efforts. Flying should be separated into multiple categories that may allow us to detect behavioral differences between sexes including male patrolling and female oviposition site searching. Additionally, flying could also be separated into distinct behaviors we noted in the field such as intra- and inter-species fleeing and chasing. Since our behavioral observation surveys were opportunistically collected during other butterfly surveys, we did not include several factors that may help discern

behavioral differences such as testing individuals for OE and noting wing condition (Hiorta and Obara 2000, Goehring and Oberhauser 2002, Bradley and Altizer 2005). Additionally, future research should connect activity budgets with fitness (e.g., fecundity, larval survival). We determined how site variables influence activity budgets, but we do not know how activity budgets affect overall success. For example, how do differences in overall activity budgets (more nectaring vs. more resting) relate to adult fitness and subsequent larval success? Observing monarchs repeatedly throughout their life at the same site and assessing monarch survival at each life stage could elucidate the connection between behaviors, success, and ecological variables (Sih et al. 2004, Lind and Cresswell 2005, Berger et al. 2012).

Conclusions

Monarch butterflies are proposed for listing under the Endangered Species Act (USFWS 2017), yet behavioral studies for summer-breeding monarchs that can connect behaviors to landscape level management practices are rare (Knowlton and Graham 2010, James 2016). We completed behavioral field observation surveys to determine how monarch activity budgets responded to local and landscape variables and gained a better understanding of monarch site utilization necessary for conservation efforts (Pickens and Root 2009). We observed 51 monarchs over two years and found that individuals spent most of their time flying, nectaring, and resting. Contrary to expectations, we did not observe more monarchs mating, nectaring, and ovipositing as milkweed cover increased. However, activity budgets did change from nectaring to resting as milkweed cover increased. Increases in milkweed cover corresponded with increases in smooth brome cover, an invasive grass that reduces plant species diversity. Our results suggest monarchs are adjusting activity budgets based on the availability of adult nectar resources and larval host plants. However, more research is necessary to discern how activity budgets relate to lifetime fitness. Instead of planting more milkweed in natural areas, conservation efforts should focus on utilizing disturbance to increase availability of both milkweed plants and nectar resources within the same site. Because larval survival increases in natural areas (Nail et al. 2015), improving resource availability has the potential to reduce monarch declines in these areas.



Figure 16. Removing fire and grazing increases the cover of milkweed (*Asclepias* spp.) plants in rangelands. However, invasive species like smooth brome (*Bromus inermis*) also increase, decreasing plant species diveresity and producing large, indistinct stands of milkweed and smooth brome (A; photo by KCK), which can make it difficult to concurrently find oviposition sites and nectar resources. Restoring ecological processes like fire can reduce invasive plant species and increase both host and nectar resource availability (B; photo by TJH).

References

Alcock, J., Browner, L.P., Williams, E.H., Jr., 2016. Monarch butterflies use regenerating milkweeds for

reproduction in mowed hayfields in northern Virginia. J. Lepid. Soc. 70, 177-181.

https://doi.org/10.18473/107.070.0302

- Altizer, S., Hobson, K.A., Davis, A.K., De Roode, J.C., Wassenaar, L.I., 2015. Do healthy monarchs migrate farther? Tracking natal origins of parasitized vs. uninfected monarch butterflies overwintering in Mexico. PLoS ONE 10, e0141371. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0141371
- Badgett, G., Davis, A.K., 2015. Population trends of monarchs at a northern monitoring site: analyses of 19 years of fall migration counts at Peninsula Point, MI. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 108, 700-706. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/sav060
- Baum, K. A., Sharber, W. V., 2012. Fire creates host plant patches for monarch butterflies. Biol. Lett. 8, 968-971. 10.1098/rsbl.2012.0550
- Berger, D., Olofasson, M., Gotthard, K., Wiklund, C., Friberg, M., 2012. Ecological constraints on female fitness in a phytophagous insect. Am. Nat. 180, 464-480. https://doi.org/10.1086/667594
- Bergman, K., Askling, J., Ekberg, O., Ignell, H., Wahlman, H., Milberg, P., 2004. Landscape effects on butterfly assemblage in an agricultural region. Ecography 27, 619-628. 10.1111/j.0906-7590.2004.03906.x
- Bradley, C.A., Altizer S., 2005. Parasites hinder monarch butterfly flight: implications for disease spread in migratory hosts. Ecol. Lett. 8, 290-300. 10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00722.x
- Brower, L.P., Williams, E.H., Fink, L.S., Slayback, D.A., Isabel Ramirez, M., Van Limon Garcia, M., Zubieta, R.R., Weiss, S.B., Calvert, W.H., Zuchowski, W., 2011. Overwintering clusters of the monarch butterfly coincide with the least hazardous vertical temperatures in the Oyamel Forest. J. Lepid. Soc. 65, 27-46. https://doi.org/10.18473/lepi.v65i1.a3
- Brower, L.P., 1996. Monarch butterfly orientation: missing pieces of a magnificent puzzle. J. Exp. Biol. 199, 93-103.
- Davis, A.K., Dyer, L.A., 2015. Long-term trends in eastern North American monarch butterflies: a collection of studies focusing on spring, summer, and fall dynamics. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 108, 661-663. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/sav070
- Davis, A.K., Rendón-Salinas, E., 2010. Are female monarch butterflies declining in eastern North
 America? Evidence of a 30-year change in sex ratios at Mexican overwintering sites. Biol. Lett. 6, 45-47. 10.1098/rsbl.2009.0632

- Diffendorfer, J.E., Loomis, J.B., Ries, L., Oberhauser, K., Lopez-Hoffman, L., Semmens, D., Semmens, B., Butterfield, B., Bagstad, K., Goldstein, J. and Wiederholt, R., 2014. National valuation of monarch butterflies indicates an untapped potential for incentive-based conservation. Conserv. Lett. 7, 253-262. 10.1111/conl.12065
- Fischer, S.J., Williams, E.H., Brower, L.P., Palmiotto, P.A., 2015. Enhancing monarch butterfly reproduction by mowing fields of common milkweed. Am. Midl. Nat. 173, 229-240. https://doi.org/10.1674/amid-173-02-229-240.1
- Flockhardt, D.T., Dabydeen, A., Satterfield, D.A., Hobson, K.A., Wassenaar, L.I., Norris, D., 2017.
 Patterns of parasitism in monarch butterflies during the breeding season in eastern North
 America. Ecol. Entomol. 43, 28-36. 10.1111/een.12460
- Flockhart, D.T., Wassenaar, L.I., Martin, T.G., Hobson, K.A., Wunder, M.B. Norris, D.R., 2013. Tracking multi-generational colonization of the breeding grounds by monarch butterflies in eastern North America. Proc. R. Soc. Lond., B., Biol. Sci. 280, 1-8. 10.1098/rspb.2013.1087
- Goehring, L., Oberhauser, K.S., 2002. Effects of photoperiod, temperature, and host plant age on induction of reproductive diapause and development time in Danaus plexippus. Ecol.
 Entomol. 27, 674-685. 10.1046/j.1365-2311.2002.00454.x
- Goodman, L.A., 1968. The analysis of cross-classified data: Independence, quasi-independence, and interactions in contingency tables with or without missing entries: RA Fisher memorial lecture. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 63, 1091-1131. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1968.10480916
- Guerra, P.A., Gegear, R.J., Reppert, S.M., 2014. A magnetic compass aids monarch butterfly migration. Nat. Commun. 5, 4164. 10.1038/ncomms5164
- Gustafsson, K.M., Agrawal, A.A., Lewenstein, B.V., Wolf, S.A., 2015. The monarch butterfly through time and space: the social construction of an icon. BioScience 65, 612-622. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biv045
- Harvell, C.D., Mitchell, C.E., Ward, J.R., Altizer, S., Dobson, A.P., Ostfeld, R.S., Samuel, M.D., 2002.
 Climate warming and disease risks for terrestrial and marine biota. Science 296, 2158-2162.
 10.1126/science.1063699

- Hendrickson, J.R., Lund, C., 2010. Plant community and target species affect responses to restoration strategies. Rangeland Ecol. Manag. 63, 435-442. https://doi.org/10.2111/08-239.1
- Hirota, T., Obara, Y., 2000. The influence of air temperature and sunlight intensity on mate-locating behavior of Pieris rapae crucivora. Zool. Sci. 17, 1081-1087. https://doi.org/10.2108/zsj.17.1081
- Howard, E., Davis, A.K., 2015. Investigating long-term changes in the spring migration of monarch butterflies (Lepidoptera: Nymphalidae) using 18 years of data from Journey North, a citizen science program. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 108, 664-669. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/sav061
- Howard, E., Aschen, H., Davis, A.K., 2010. Citizen science observations of monarch butterfly overwintering in the southern United States. Psyche (Cam. Mass.) 2010, 1-6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2010/689301
- Inamine, H., Ellner, S.P., Springer, J.P. and Agrawal, A.A., 2016. Linking the continental migratory cycle of the monarch butterfly to understand its population decline. Oikos 125, 1081-1091. 10.1111/oik.03196
- James, D.G., 2016. Population biology of monarch butterflies, Danaus plexippus (L.)(Lepidoptera: Nymphalidae), at a milkweed-rich summer breeding site in central Washington. The J. Lepid. Soc. 70, 182-193. https://doi.org/10.18473/107.070.0303
- Knowlton, J.L., Graham, C.H. 2010. Using behavioral landscape ecology to predict species' responses to land-use and climate change. Biol. Conserv. 143, 1342-1354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.03.011
- Lima, S.L., Zollner, P.A., 1996.Towards a behavioral ecology of ecological landscapes. Trends Ecol. Evol. 11, 131-135. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(96)81094-9
- Lind, J., Cresswell, W., 2005. Determining the fitness consequences of antipredation behavior. Behav. Ecol. 16, 945-956. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/ari075
- McCord, J.W., Davis, A.K., 2012. Characteristics of monarch butterflies (Danaus plexippus) that stopover at a site in coastal South Carolina during fall migration. J. Res. Lepid. 45, 1-8.
- McCord, J.W., Davis, A.K., 2010. Biological observations of monarch butterfly behavior at a migratory stopover site: results from a long-term tagging study in coastal South Carolina. J. Insect Behav. 23, 405-418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10905-010-9224-x

- Moranz, R.A., Debinski, D.M., McGranahan, D.A., Engle, D.M., Miller, J.R., 2012. Untangling the effects of fire, grazing, and land-use legacies on grassland butterfly communities. Biodivers. Conserv. 21, 2719–2746. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-012-0330-2
- Nail, K.R., Stenoien, C., Oberhauser, K.S., 2015. Immature monarch survival: Effects of site characteristics, density, and time. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 108, 680-690. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/sav047
- Oksanen, J., 2015. Multivariate analysis of ecological communities in R: vegan tutorial. http://cc.oulu.fi/~jarioksa/opetus/metodi/vegantutor.pdf (accessed 23 Feb 2016).
- Parmesan, C., Ryrholm, N., Stefanescu, C., Hill, J.K., Thomas, C.D., Descimon, H., Huntley, B., Kaila,
 L., Kullberg, J., Tammaru, T., Tennent, W.J., Thomas, J.A., Warren, M., 1999. Poleward shifts in geographical ranges of butterfly species associated with regional warming. Nature 399, 579-583.
 10.1038/21181
- Peixoto, P.E.C., Benson, W.W., 2009. Daily activity patterns of two co-occurring tropical satyrine butterflies. J. Insect Sci. 9, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1673/031.009.5401
- Pickens, B.A., and K.V. Root., 2009. Behavior as a tool for assessing a managed landscape: a case study of the Karner blue butterfly. Landsc. Ecol. 24: 243-251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-008-9302-z
- Pitman, G.M., Flockhart, D.T.T., Norris, D.R., 2018. Patterns and causes of oviposition in monarch butterflies: implications for milkweed restoration. Biol. Conserv. 217, 54-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.10.019
- Pleasants, J., 2017. Milkweed restoration in the Midwest for monarch butterfly recovery: estimates of milkweeds lost, milkweeds remaining and milkweeds that must be added to increase the monarch population. Insect Conserv. Divers. 10, 42-53. 10.1111/j.1752-4598.2012.00196.x
- Pleasants, J.M., Oberhauser, K.S., 2013. Milkweed loss in agricultural fields because of herbicide use: effect on the monarch butterfly population. Insect Conserv. Divers. 6, 135–144.
- Pleasants, J.M., Zalucki, M.P., Oberhauser, K.S., Brower, L.P., Taylor, O.R., Thogmartin, W.E., 2017. Interpreting surveys to estimate the size of the monarch butterfly population: pitfalls and prospects. PloS one 12, e0181245. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181245

- Pliske, T.E., 1975. Courtship behavior of the monarch butterfly, Danaus plexippus L. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 68, 143-151. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/68.1.143
- Pocewicz, A., Morgan, P., Eigenbrode, S.D., 2009. Local and landscape effects on butterfly density in northern Idaho grasslands and forests. J. Insect Conserv. 13, 593-601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-008-9209-7
- Powell, A.F.L.A., Busby, W.H., Kindscher, K., 2007. Status of the regal fritillary (Speyeria idalia) and effects of fire management on its abundance in northeastern Kansas, USA. J. Insect Conserv. 11: 299-308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-006-9045-6
- Prysby, M.D., Oberhauser, K.S., 2004. Temporal and geographic variation in monarch densities: citizen scientists document monarch population patterns, in: Oberhauser, K.S., Solensky, M.J. (Eds.), The monarch butterfly: biology and conservation. Cornell University Press, Ithaca, pp.9-20.
- R Development Core Team, 2015. R: a language and environment for statistical computing [online]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.R-project.org.
- Reppert, S.M., Gegear, R.J., Merlin, C., 2010. Navigational mechanisms of migrating monarch butterflies. Trends Neurosci. 33, 399-406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2010.04.004
- Richer, R.A., Coulson, I.M., Heath, M.E., 1997. Foraging behaviour and ecology of the Cape pangolin (Manis temminckii) in north-western Zimbabwe. Afr. J. Ecol. 35, 361-369. 10.1111/j.1365-2028.1997.101-89101.x
- Ries, L., Oberhauser, K., 2015. A citizen army for science: quantifying the contributions of citizen scientists to our understanding of monarch butterfly biology. BioScience 65, 419-430. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biv011
- Ries, L., Taron, D.J., Rendón-Salinas, E., 2015. The disconnect between summer and winter monarch trends for the eastern migratory population: possible links to differing drivers. Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 108, 691-699. https://doi.org/10.1093/aesa/sav055
- Roy, D.B., Ploquin, E.F., Randle, Z., Risely, K., Botham, M.S., Middlebrook, I., Noble, D., Cruickshanks,
 K., Freeman, S.N., Brereton, T.M., 2015. Comparison of trends in butterfly populations between
 monitoring schemes. J. Insect Conserv. 19, 313-324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-014-9739-0
- Royer, R.A., Austin, J.E., Newton, W.E., 1998. Checklist and "Pollard walk" butterfly survey methods on public lands. Am. Midl. Nat. 140, 358-371. https://doi.org/10.1674/0003-0031(1998)140[0358:CAPWBS]2.0.CO;2
- Schultz, C.B., Franco, A.M.A., Crone, E.E., 2012. Response of butterflies to structural and resource boundaries. J. Anim. Ecol. 81, 724-734. 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01947.x
- Sekar, S., 2011. A meta-analysis of the traits affecting dispersal ability in butterflies: can wingspan be used as a proxy? J. Anim. Ecol. 81, 174-184. 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01909.x
- Signorell, A., Aho, K, Alfons, A., Anderegg, N., Aragon, T., Arppe, A., Baddeley, A., Barton, K., Bolker, B., Caeiro, F....Zeileis, A., 2017. DescTools: tools for descriptive statistics. R package version 0.99.23. https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/DescTools/DescTools.pdf
- Sih, A., Bell, A.M., Johnson, J.C., Ziemba, R.E., 2004. Behavioral syndromes: an integrative overview. Q. Rev. Biol. 79, 241-277. https://doi.org/10.1086/422893
- Spedicato, G.A., Kang, T.S., Yalamanchi, S.B., 2015. The markovchain package: a package for easily handling discrete Markov chains in R. Available at: https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/markovchain/vignettes/an_introduction_to_markovchain_package.pdf (accessed 16 Mar 2016).
- Swengel, A.B., 1995. Population fluctuations of the monarch (Danaus plexippus) in the 4th of July butterfly count 1977-1994. Am. Midl. Nat. 134, 205-214. 10.2307/2426291
- Towne, E.G., Kemp, K.E., 2008. Long-term response patterns of tallgrass prairie to frequent summer burning. Rangeland Ecol. Manag. 61, 509-520. https://doi.org/10.2111/08-043.1
- Tschenn, J., Losey, J.E., Jesse, L.H., Obrycki, J.J., Hufbauer, R., 2001. Effects of corn plants and corn pollen on monarch butterfly (Lepidoptera: Danaidae) oviposition behavior. Environ. Entomol. 30, 495-500. https://doi.org/10.1603/0046-225X-30.3.495
- USFWS United States Fish and Wildlife Service, 2017. Assessing the status of the monarch butterfly. https://www.fws.gov/savethemonarch/SSA.html (Accessed 25 Jan 2018).
- Vankosky, M.A., VanLaerhoven, S.L., 2015. Plant and prey quality interact to influence the foraging behaviour of an omnivorous insect, Dicyphus hesperus. Anim. Behav. 108, 109-116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2015.07.019

- Wang, X.G., Messing, R.H., 2003. Foraging behavior and patch time allocation by Fopius arisanus (Hymenoptera: Braconidae), an egg-larval parasitoid of tephritid fruit flies. J. Insect Behav. 16, 593-612. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOIR.0000007698.01714.56
- Wang, X-G., Keller, M.A., 2002. A comparison of the host-searching efficiency of two larval parasitoids of Plutella exlostella. Ecol. Entomol. 27, 105-114.

Zalucki, M.P., Lammers, J.H., 2010. Dispersal and egg shortfall in Monarch butterflies: what happens when the matrix is cleaned up? Ecol. Entomol. 35, 84-91. 10.1111/j.1365-2311.2009.01160.x

APPENDIX

Table A1. Averaged counts (±SE) for each butterfly species detected in North Dakota and South Dakota. Columns give a per site average for species surveyed using either line-transect distance sampling (LTDS) or visual encounter surveys (VES) completed in either 2015 and 2016. In 2015 20 sites were sampled using both methods, and in 2016 there were 25 sites. In both years each site was surveyed using VES for three times the effort that it was surveyed using LTDS.

	2015				2016				
	LTC	DS	S VES			LTDS VE			S
Species	mean	SE	mean	SE		mean	SE	mean	SE
Boloria bellona	0.3	0.04	1.25	0.16		1.64	0.13	6.96	0.48
Boloria selene	-	-	0.05	0.01		-	-	0.04	0.01
Celastrina neglecta	-	-	-	-		0.04	0.01	0.04	0.01
Cercyonis pegala	3.6	0.16	20.25	0.61		7.56	0.42	36.60	2.25
Chlosyne gorgone	-	-	-	-		0.20	0.03	0.56	0.06
Coenonympha tullia	0.8	0.04	7.55	0.56		2.08	0.11	8.92	0.41
Colias eurytheme	0.3	0.03	2.70	0.21		12.80	0.39	44.68	1.27
Colias philodice	3.45	0.17	18.00	0.58		4.56	0.14	18.16	0.42
Danaus plexippus	1.1	0.10	5.10	0.29		0.68	0.05	3.48	0.18
Epaygyreus clarus	-	-	-	-		-	-	0.04	0.01
Euptoieta claudia	-	-	-	-		0.32	0.04	1.48	0.15
Glaucopsyche									
lygdamus	0.05	0.01	1.50	0.17		0.52	0.05	1.76	0.14
Hesperia dacotae	-	-	-	-		-	-	0.04	0.01
Junonia coenia	-	-	-	-		-	-	0.08	0.01
Limenitis arthemis	-	-	-	-		-	-	0.04	0.01
Lycaena hyllus	-	-	-	-		0.16	0.01	0.08	0.01
Oeneis uhleri	-	-	-	-		-	-	0.08	0.02
Papilio glaucus	-	-	-	-		-	-	0.08	0.02
Papilio polyxenes	-	-	-	-		0.16	0.02	0.72	0.04
Phyciodes batesii	-	-	-	-		0.12	0.02	0.40	0.03
Phyciodes cocyta	0.05	0.01	0.60	0.11		1.00	0.09	2.04	0.17
Phyciodes tharos	1.85	0.12	7.45	0.47		1.08	0.07	7.24	0.72
Pieris rapae	1.85	0.12	7.65	0.59		2.36	0.18	6.60	0.48
Plebejus melissa	0.65	0.07	3.50	0.38		1.28	0.11	4.16	0.23
Polites mystic	0.5	0.05	3.05	0.20		1.00	0.07	3.80	0.23
Polites peckius	-	-	0.30	0.05		-	-	0.08	0.01
Polites themistocles	0.2	0.04	0.30	0.07		0.20	0.04	0.68	0.07
Pontia protodice	-	-	-	-		-	-	0.04	0.01
Pyrgus communis	-	-	-	-		0.04	0.01	-	-
Sayrodes eurydice	0.1	0.02	0.40	0.05		0.04	0.01	0.56	0.08
Satyrium titus	0.05	0.01	0.15	0.02		0.16	0.02	0.92	0.10
Speyeria aphrodite	0.45	0.06	1.75	0.15		2.68	0.18	9.64	0.65
Speveria cybele	0.05	0.01	0.70	0.07		0.64	0.05	1.40	0.08
Speyeria idalia	0.05	0.01	0.45	0.05		1.32	0.12	4.72	0.32
Vanessa atalanta	0.15	0.02	0.95	0.05		0.36	0.04	1.80	0.09
Vanessa cardui	0.05	0.01	-	-		0.04	0.01	0.04	0.01
<u>Vanessa virginien</u> sis	-	-	-	-			-	0.08	0.01

Species	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	AICc		weight	k
Facultative species					
Colias eurytheme					
2,500 Landscape					
	null	290	39	0	1
1,000 Landscape					
	WET	251	0	0.64	2
	WET+HAY	252	1	0.36	3
	null	290	39	0	1
Local					
	RD+FR	186	0	1	3
	null	290	104	0	1
Final model:	WET+RD+FR				
Colias philodice					
2,500 Landscape					
	DEV	296	0	0.99	2
	null	305	9	0.01	1
1,000 Landscape		000	0	4	4
		220 305	0 85	1	4
Local	nun	000	00	0	
Eodal	FORBRICH+DIS	222	0	1	4
	null	305	83	0	1
Final model:	DEV+LDI+WET+WAT+FR+DIS			·	
Danaus plexippus					
2.500 Landscape					
· · ·	LDI	140	0	0.89	2
	null	145	5	0.13	1
1.000 Landscape					
·,	HAY+WAT	111	0	0.98	3
	null	145	34	0	1
Local					
	null	145	0	1	1
Final model:	LDI+HAY+WAT				
Pieris rapae					
2,500 Landscape					
	LDI+HAY	254	0	1	3
	null	311	57	0	1
1,000 Landscape					
, 1-	null	311	0	0	1
Local					
	PR	233	0	0.95	2

Table A2. Model outputs for 15 butterfly species found in the Northern Great Plains between 2015-2017 that met minimum detection thresholds for density estimation. AIC_c scores, Δ AIC_c, model weight, and the number of parameters (k) are included for the top model and the null model at each level. Best-ranked models and competitive model ($\leq 2 \Delta$ AIC_c) are included for each level. If additional variables at each level did not improve AIC_c scores, they were not included in the table, and only the null model appears.

Table A2. Model outputs for 15 butterfly species found in the Northern Great Plains between 2015-2017 that met minimum detection thresholds for density estimation (continued). AIC_c scores, Δ AIC_c, model weight, and the number of parameters (k) are included for the top model and the null model at each level. Best-ranked models and competitive model ($\leq 2 \Delta$ AIC_c) are included for each level. If additional variables at each level did not improve AIC_c scores, they were not included in the table, and only the null model appears.

Species		AICc		weight	k
	null	311	78	0	1
Final model:	LDI+HAY+PR				
Phyciodes cocyta					
2,500 Landscape					
	HAY	182	0	0.97	2
	null	189	7	0.03	1
1,000 Landscape					
	LDI	165	0	0.99	2
	null	189	24	0	1
Local					
	IGC	97	0	1	2
	null	189	92	0	1
Final model:	HAY+LDI+IGC				
Phyciodes tharos					
2,500 Landscape					
	LDI	377	0	0.90	2
	null	477	100	0	1
1,000 Landscape					
	null	477	0	1	1
Local					
	FB+IGC+IFC	211	0	1	4
	null	477	266	0	1
Final model:	LDI+FR+IGC+IFC				
Plebejus melissa					
2,500 Landscape					
	DEV+HAY	306	0	1	3
	null	343	37	0	1
1,000 Landscape					
	LDI+WET	182	0	1	3
	null	343	153	0	1
Local					
	DIS+LIT	145	0	0.92	4
	null	343	198	0	1
Final model:	DEV+HAY+LDI+WET+DIS+LIT				
Speyeria aphrodite					
2,500 Landscape					
	WAT+WET	735	0	1	3
	null	856	121	0	1
1,000 Landscape					
· •	null	854	0	1	1

Table A2. Model outputs for 15 butterfly species found in the Northern Great Plains between 2015-2017 that met minimum detection thresholds for density estimation (continued). AIC_c scores, Δ AIC_c, model weight, and the number of parameters (k) are included for the top model and the null model at each level. Best-ranked models and competitive model ($\leq 2 \Delta$ AIC_c) are included for each level. If additional variables at each level did not improve AIC_c scores, they were not included in the table, and only the null model appears.

Species		AICc		weight	k
Local					
	RD+PR+ LIT+IFC+DIS	201	0	1	7
	null	856	656	0	1
Final model:	WAT+WET+RD+PR+LIT+IFC+DIS				
Speyeria cybele					
2,500 Landscape					
	null	38	0	1	1
1,000 Landscape					
	WAT	30	0	0.79	2
	LDI+WAT+DEV	32	2	0.21	4
	null	38	8	0	1
Local					
	FR	29	0	0.75	2
	FR+PR	31	2	0.25	3
	null	38	9	0	1
Final model:	WAT+FR				
Vanessa cardui					
2,500 Landscape					
	LDI+HAY	148	0	1	3
	null	191	43	0	1
1,000 Landscape					
	null	191	0	1	1
Local					
	IGC	109	0	1	3
	null	191	82	0	1
Final model:	LDI+HAY+IGC				
Obligate Species					
Boloria bellona					
2,500 Landscape					
	WAT	158	2	0.43	2
	null	156	0	0.57	1
1,000 Landscape					
	LDI+WET	121	0	0.81	3
	null	156	35	0	1
Local					
	RD+ VP	84.5	0	1	4
	null	156	71.5	0	1
Final model:	LDI+WET+RD+VP				
Cercyonis pegala					
2,500 Landscape	LDI+HAY+WAT+DEV	848	0	1	5

Table A2. Model outputs for 15 butterfly species found in the Northern Great Plains between 2015-2017 that met minimum detection thresholds for density estimation (continued). AIC_c scores, Δ AIC_c, model weight, and the number of parameters (k) are included for the top model and the null model at each level. Best-ranked models and competitive model ($\leq 2 \Delta$ AIC_c) are included for each level. If additional variables at each level did not improve AIC_c scores, they were not included in the table, and only the null model appears.

null 999 151 0 1 1,000 Landscape WET 599 0 1 2 null 999 400 0 1 Local FR+IGC 148 0 1 3 null 999 851 0 1 3 null 999 851 0 1 3 Coenonympha tullia 289 0 1 1 2,500 Landscape null 289 116 0 1 1,000 Landscape Inull 289 116 0 1 1 Local LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 1 1,000 Landscape IDIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape IDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC IDI 1 2 1 2 I,000 Landscape Inull 256 34	Species		AICc		weight	k
1,000 Landscape WET 599 0 1 2 null 999 400 0 1 Local FR+IGC 148 0 1 3 null 999 851 0 1 3 null 999 851 0 1 3 Coenonympha tullia 2,500 Landscape 1 1 1,000 Landscape null 289 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape DI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 null 289 116 0 1 4 null 289 139 0 1 1 Local null 289 139 0 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC null 256 34 0 1 1,000 Landscape null 256 34 0 1 2 null 256 108 0 1		null	999	151	0	1
WET 599 0 1 2 null 999 400 0 1 Local FR+IGC 148 0 1 3 null 999 851 0 1 3 null 999 851 0 1 3 Coenonympha tullia 2LDI+HAY+WAT+DEV+WET+FR+IGC 1 1 1 Coenonympha tullia 289 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape null 289 0 1 1 Local LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 null 289 116 0 1 1 Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 1 J000 Landscape null 256 34 0 1 VRET 222 0 1 2 1 2 null 256	1,000 Landscape					
null 999 400 0 1 Local FR+IGC 148 0 1 3 null 999 851 0 1 Final model: LDI+HAY+WAT+DEV+WET+FR+IGC 0 1 1 Coenonympha tullia 2,500 Landscape null 289 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape null 289 116 0 1 4 LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 1 4 LOcal DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 4 null 289 139 0 1 1 Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 1 2 null 256 13 0.01 1 4 1 4 1,000 Landscape WET+VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0		WET	599	0	1	2
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		null	999	400	0	1
FR+IGC 148 0 1 3 null 999 851 0 1 Final model: LDI+HAY+WAT+DEV+WET+FR+IGC 0 1 Coenonympha tullia 2,500 Landscape null 289 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape null 289 0 1 1 1 1,000 Landscape LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 LOcal LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC 0 1 1 Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 1 2 NOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 1 4 1 4 NOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 0.75 1 1 4	Local					
null 999 851 0 1 Final model: LDI+HAY+WAT+DEV+WET+FR+IGC Coenonympha tullia 2,500 Landscape null 289 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape null 289 0 1 1 1 1,000 Landscape LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 1 1,000 Landscape LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 1 Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 1 Local null 289 139 0 1 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC 1 1 Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape 1 2 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 2 1 2 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 1 4		FR+IGC	148	0	1	3
Final model: LDI+HAY+WAT+DEV+WET+FR+IGC Coenonympha tullia		null	999	851	0	1
Coenonympha tullia 2,500 Landscape null 289 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 null 289 116 0 1 Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC 0 0.94 4 Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 2 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 <	Final model:	LDI+HAY+WAT+DEV+WET+FR+IGC				
2,500 Landscape null 289 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 null 289 116 0 1 Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC 7 Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 0.75 1 NUET 125 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape NUET 125 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape NUET 125 0 0.75 1	Coenonympha tullia					
null 289 0 1 1 1,000 Landscape LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 null 289 116 0 1 4 null 289 116 0 1 4 Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 4 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC 0 0.94 4 Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 NUll 256 34 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4	2,500 Landscape					
1,000 Landscape LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 null 289 116 0 1 Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 Polites mystic 289 139 0 1 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 2 Local WET 256 108 0 1 Local WET+VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 null 148 0 0.75 1 2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape NET+VOR+LI		null	289	0	1	1
LDI+WET+DEV 173 0 1 4 null 289 116 0 1 Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC 7 Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC 7 Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 NUET 125 0 0.75 1 MET 125 0 0.72 2 WET 125 0 0.72 2	1,000 Landscape					
null 289 116 0 1 Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC 139 0 1 Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape NUET 222 0 1 2 Null 256 34 0 1 2 Null 256 108 0 1 4 Null 148 0 0.75 1 Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape 1 1 1 NULL 148 0<	, I	LDI+WET+DEV	173	0	1	4
Local DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 VET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 Speyeria idalia 2 108 0 1 4 1,000 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape NUET+I DI 125 0 0.72 2		null	289	116	0	1
DIS+IFC 150 0 0.94 4 null 289 139 0 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC 2 2 139 0 1 Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 WET 256 34 0 1 2 NUII 256 108 0 1 4 NUII 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape NUII 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape NET 125 0 0.72 2 <td>Local</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Local					
null 289 139 0 1 Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC		DIS+IFC	150	0	0.94	4
Final model: LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC Polites mystic		null	289	139	0	1
Polites mystic 2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 2 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 NULL 148 0 0.75 1 1 1,000 Landscape NET 125 0 0.72 2 WET 125 0 0.72 2 2	Final model:	LDI+WET+DEV+DIS+IFC				
2,500 Landscape null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET 125 0 0.72 2	Polites mystic					
null 256 13 0.01 1 1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 2 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 Null 256 108 0 1 4 Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape NET+VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape NULL 148 0 0.75 1 WET 125 0 0.72 2 2 WET + I DI 127 2 0.26 3	2.500 Landscape					
1,000 Landscape WET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 0.75 1 Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET 125 0 0.72 2 0 3	,	null	256	13	0.01	1
WET 222 0 1 2 null 256 34 0 1 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 Null 256 108 0 1 4 Speyeria idalia VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape NET 125 0 0.75 1 WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET+I DI 127 2 0.26 3	1.000 Landscape					
null 256 34 0 1 Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 4 Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC 0 0 1 Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET 125 0 0.72 2 3	,	WET	222	0	1	2
Local VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET+LDI 127 2 0.26 3		null	256	34	0	1
VOR+LIT+IGC 148 0 1 4 null 256 108 0 1 Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC 108 0 1 Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET 125 0 26 3	Local					
null 256 108 0 1 Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC 256 108 0 1 Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET 127 2 0.26 3	2004	VOR+LIT+IGC	148	0	1	4
Final model: WET+VOR+LIT+IGC Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET +I DI 127 2 0.26 3		null	256	108	0	1
Speyeria idalia 2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET 127 2 0.26 3	Final model:	WET+VOR+LIT+IGC			-	
2,500 Landscape null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET+L DL 127 2 0.26 3	Speveria idalia					
null 148 0 0.75 1 1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET+L DL 127 2 0.26 3	2.500 Landscape					
1,000 Landscape WET 125 0 0.72 2 WET 127 2 0.26 3	_,	null	148	0	0.75	1
WET 125 0 0.72 2	1 000 Landscape			Ū.	0.1.0	·
WET I DI 127 2 0.26 3		WFT	125	0	0 72	2
		WET+I DI	127	2	0.26	3
null 148 23 0 1		null	148	23	0.20	1
			110	20	Ŭ	•
VOR 90 0 1 2	Local	VOR	90	0	1	2
null 148 58 0 1		null	148	58	0	1
Final model: WET+VOR	Final model.	WET+VOR	1 10	00	0	

Table A3. Summary statistics and descriptions for butterfly and vegetation variables utilized in multivariate and generalized linear modeling analyses for surveys conducted in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2015-2017.

Variable	Mean (SE)	Range	Description
Vegetation variables			
Kentucky bluegrass cover	20.0 (0.96)	2.92-36.2	Average percent Kentucky bluegrass (<i>Poa pratensis</i>) canopy cover using 30- 1 m ² quadrats at each site
Smooth brome cover	18.7 (1.29)	0.34-43.1	Average percent smooth brome (<i>Bromus</i> <i>inermis</i>) canopy cover using 30- 1 m ² quadrats at each site
Forb richness	29.0 (0.95)	13.0-45.0	Average number of individual flowering forb species recorded in 500 m ² belt transects. Richness was a simple count of the number of species.
Forb diversity	0.78 (0.01)	0.35-0.94	Average forb diversity measured with Simpson's diversity index ($D = 1 - \sum_{i}^{s} p_{i}^{2}$) in 500 m ² belt transects
Plant richness	22.5 (0.97)	6.00-39.0	Average number of individual plant species recorded in 30- 1 m ² quadrats at each site. Richness was a simple count of the number of species.
Plant diversity	0.82 (0.01)	0.56-0.94	Average plant diversity measured with Simpson's diversity index $(D = 1 - \sum_{i}^{s} p_{i}^{2})$ in 30- 1 m ² quadrats
Ramet density	171.9 (15)	18.4-563	Average number of flowering ramets in 8- 500 m ² belt transects at each site
Landscape variables			
Perennial grassland cover	0.72 (0.02)	0.37-0.93	Percent perennial grassland cover in 1,000 m buffers
Wetland cover	0.12 (0.03)	0.00-0.85	Percent wetland cover in 1,000 m buffers
Water cover	0.12 (0.01)	0.00-0.31	Percent open water cover in 1,000 m buffers
Hay ground cover	0.02 (0.01)	0.00-0.08	Percent hay ground cover in 1,000 m buffers
Crop land cover	0.11 (0.02)	0.00-0.36	Percent cropland cover in 1,000 m buffers
Development cover	0.03 (0.01)	0.00-0.11	Percent development cover in 1,000 m buffers
Butterfly variables			
Butterfly richness	11.0 (0.38)	4.00-19.0	Mean number of individual butterfly species detected per site. Richness was a simple count of the number of species.
Butterfly diversity	0.78 (0.01)	0.39-0.92	Simpson's diversity index ($D = 1 - \sum_{i}^{s} p_{i}^{2}$) at each site
Total abundance	156 (9.11)	28.0-386	Cumulative number of individual butterflies detected at each site
Obligate abundance	58.0 (6.00)	2.00-355	Cumulative number of obligate grassland butterflies detected at each site
Facultative abundance	97.0 (6.02)	10.0-236	Cumulative number of facultative grassland butterflies detected at each site
Obligate proportion	0.36 (0.06)	0.06-0.91	Proportion of obligate butterfly abundance over the total abundance



Figure A1. Butterfly abundance responses to Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis) cover from butterfly surveys completed in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2015-2017. Kentucky bluegrass cover did not significantly reduced total butterfly abundance (A) or facultative species abundance (B). Generalized linear model results are included, along with 95% confidence bands (blue lines). Kentucky bluegrass cover was not correlated with total butterfly abundance or facultative grassland species abundance.



Management strategy

Figure A2. Boxplot and results from an analysis of variance to determine how management strategy impacts the canopy cover of Kentucky bluegrass (Poa pratensis) from vegetation surveys completed in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2015-2017. No significant differences (F4, 30 = 2.08, p = 0.11) were detected, but sample sizes for some of the management strategies are very small, influencing our results. The total number of sites with each strategies on the 35 sites where we collected data. On average, sites that were burned or burned and grazed had lower Kentucky bluegrass cover.

Site	Milkweed density	Milkweed cover	Smooth brome cover	Plant diversity	Completed observations	Management
Arrowwood 14	1.20	0.32	8.55	0.88	3	Grazed
Arrowwood 28	0.09	0.08	25.9	0.79	1	Burned
Berwald	6.63	1.09	22.0	0.87	7	Grazed
Bien	0.13	0.00	25.9	0.84	5	Grazed
Biggs	0.36	0.17	16.0	0.91	3	Grazed
Blue	0.54	0.42	1.18	0.84	3	Burned
Buffalo	0.10	0.72	8.13	0.85	4	Burned+Grazed
Chase	0.13	0.00	17.5	0.74	0	Grazed
CL	0.29	0.14	18.6	0.85	0	Grazed
Davis 1	1.63	0.37	2.33	0.89	0	Burned+Grazed
Davis 8	0.33	0.00	2.85	0.86	2	Burned+Grazed
GLT	1.82	0.08	6.32	0.73	0	Grazed
Hartleben	0.97	0.25	12.2	0.88	3	Idled
HB	0.08	0.14	1.67	0.89	0	Burned
llo 1	0.00	0.00	15.2	0.63	0	Idled
llo 2	0.00	0.00	11.5	0.83	0	Grazed
Larson 12	8.16	0.70	26.4	0.72	0	Grazed
Larson 4	0.44	0.00	37.7	0.70	0	Idled
Lazy m	0.08	0.14	32.5	0.77	1	Grazed
Lazy m2	0.00	0.00	34.4	0.77	0	Grazed
Manning	0.00	0.00	0.33	0.91	0	Grazed
Melass	1.88	0.02	16.7	0.85	3	Idled
Rath	15.57	1.77	43.3	0.75	1	Idled
Red iron	3.60	0.91	11.9	0.89	3	Idled
Stem	0.42	0.13	1.04	0.90	3	Burned
Sully	5.19	0.44	0.72	0.92	0	Burned
Waubay	0.42	1.18	28.3	0.86	7	Idled
Weber	11.75	1.79	17.9	0.79	0	Grazed
Winberg	7.04	0.74	24.1	0.84	2	Burned

Table A4. Site values for mean flowering milkweed (*Asclepias* spp.) density (per 500 m²), mean milkweed canopy cover (%), mean smooth brome (*Bromus inermis*) canopy cover (%), plant species diversity using Simpson's diversity index ($D = 1 - \sum_{i}^{s} p_{i}^{2}$), number of completed behavioral observation surveys, and management strategy broadly categorized as burned, burned+grazed, idled, and grazed.



Figure A3. The average percent of time in each month (A) and time of day (B) for behaviors observed during monarch behavioral observation surveys from 2016-2017 in Northern Great Plains, USA. The number of observation surveys are listed in parentheses above each category. No significant differences were observed based on the month or time of day. However, more monarchs were observed during August in the morning, and mating was only observed during the afternoon, providing guidance for future surveys.



Milkweed cover

Figure A4. Proportion of time spent ovipositing for monarchs observed in the Northern Great Plains, USA, from 2016-2017. Black circles represent sites. Activity budgets included more ovipositing at moderate amounts of milkweed and higher plant species diversity. Adults need nectar resources, but areas with a higher cover of milkweed, which may be more desirable for ovipositing, do not have available nectar resources. Monarchs appear to be optimizing available oviposition sites and available nectar resources.